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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Zhaoke Ophthalmology I would like to thank you for your
support during our first year since our Listing on the Stock Exchange. I
would like to take this opportunity to review our evolution during the past
year. I believe our progress reflects significant growth in the execution
of our dual strategy, namely commercialization and advancement of
key clinical programs. Before providing more details on our progress, I
wanted to say that I am extremely proud of our dedicated team who have
exhibited relentless focus and flexibility despite unprecedented challenges
and delivered on another extraordinary year.

2021 has tested all of us, from the continued impact of COVID-19 to
ongoing market volatility. Some of our clinical trials were temporarily
delayed as a result of COVID-19, as access to patients was limited, while
at an operational level, we had to rapidly implement multiple alternative
work arrangements in our various locations in response to local lockdown
restrictions. Despite these challenges, we remain as focused as ever on
R&D, the backbone of our business. At the same time, our focus is to
rapidly build our commercialization capabilities, which we strongly believe
will deliver on the attractive global potential of our brand and portfolio.

Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
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Chairman of the Board and CEO
EF2 T ERITHAES

BRI

AANERRKBRBEH S AR IR ETEE
FERBNZSE - BHEUBEEERMEFHOER - AA
BIE - BRPIZFAKREATE - RERATT EZERARE B
B INEER TRBENGEER - BE—F
RERFIERNFR A AAZRTE—F  RFAW
BISALE I ZATORE - TEOBGE  BERY - &
AEEBAIFELESE  RAHAR—RES -

20214 + 2019 RRSHROFERILE - MBET—EH
BT BABRMARANGRE - £2019T8 KBS HF
BT BABrBRAABRESEHTRAMZ ) EERE
E - MAEERET - B 2 AR E EH 5 R SR
TRtEETZEER TERH - GEEE LS PkE -
BOMDA—BE IR RE T B HER - % - EiitH
B RPIEENRERE AR - RIEETRELE
SIRFEERMRERENBEENES

Annual Report 2021

5



Chairman’s Statement - - R
E}%$&% o o o . ° . . . °

In China, we benefit from the positive momentum supported by public
policies. The National Eye Health Plan was included as part of the
“Fourteenth Five-Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development
of the PRC and the Outline of Vision Goals for 2035 (F# AR LFIEER
MEMASREFE TOERFHAEFM2035F RS BIZME)". It facilitates the
establishment of healthcare systems to strengthen the construction of
ocular medical service systems and encourages talent development, all
of which contribute to improving primary care services and physicians’
capacities to diagnose eye diseases.

As part of this, the Chinese government has designated three geographic
areas, including the Greater Bay Area ("GBA"), as future centers of
excellence for healthcare. With a state-of-the-art manufacturing facility
located in Nansha, Guangzhou, Zhaoke Ophthalmology is one of the only
publicly listed healthcare companies headquartered in the GBA. We are
incredibly excited about our role in the GBA and committed to being a
leader in the region.

China has the largest number of eye disease patients in the world. There
exists significant unmet demand from a rapidly increasing patient base,
leading to an unprecedented ophthalmic market. With the anticipated
increase in the diagnosis of ocular conditions, our opportunity will be
unlocked with a larger treatable patient pool. China’s ophthalmology drug
market size is expected to reach US$11.1 billion in 2027, driven by huge
market demand and conducive public policies in the healthcare sector.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has a comprehensive drug portfolio of 25
innovative and generic treatments covering the five major eye diseases
across both the front and back of the eye. We are strategically focused on
five major ophthalmic indications in China in terms of market potential,
including DED, myopia, wAMD, DME and glaucoma.

Our comprehensive portfolio is well balanced, including 13 innovative
drugs and 12 generic drugs in the pipeline. This equilibrium between
innovative and generic drugs is strategically designed to develop
world-leading superior treatments, while also recognizing the need to
commercialize selected drugs sooner in order to bring them to market
quickly. By doing so, we will be able to contribute significantly to the
health of millions of patients and offer treatment where there is a need.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology achieved a number of significant milestones in the
development of our core products in the past year. Now I would like to
discuss in details some of our major achievements over the past year.

. . . . . . . .
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DED is one of the most common ophthalmic diseases in China, where
the most prevalent treatment remains artificial tears, which has limited
efficacy for moderate to severe dry eye patients. Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s
innovative drug, CsA Ophthalmic Gel, is a single daily dose hydrogel,
eliminating daytime administration and the associated discomfort and
inconvenience. We conducted China’s largest Phase III clinical trial for DED
with 644 patients across 41 centers, finished patient recruitment ahead
of schedule, and announced strong results in October 2021, meeting the
primary end point at p<0.0001. We plan to submit the NDA to the NMPA
shortly. In addition, we believe CsA Ophthalmic Gel with its once daily
regimen, would also benefit dry eye patients outside of China. As such, we
are working towards a pre-IND filing for CsA Ophthalmic Gel with the FDA
to explore the clinical pathway for the treatment in the U.S.

As one of the most common eye disorders worldwide, myopia is the
leading cause of preventable blindness in children and adolescents.
Our innovative drug, NVKO002 is potentially the world’s first approved
ophthalmic solution to control or slow myopia progression in children and
adolescents. In September 2021, Zhaoke Ophthalmology received approval
for two concurrent Phase III clinical trials from the CDE. These will include
a two-year Phase III clinical trial and a one-year Phase III bridging trial in
China, which will be combined with global data from our partner Vyluma
Inc.’s Phase III clinical trial in the U.S. and Europe, making the Phase III
clinical trial for NVK0OO2 one of the most comprehensive and robust Phase
III clinical trials for low dose atropine use in the world. Our strategy is
to leverage the global clinical trials and bridge them with a condensed
local study, meaning that we can deliver a potential first-in-class myopia
treatment to meet this huge unmet need and make a difference to the
lives of so many young people.

Another core product for Zhaoke Ophthalmology is ZKY001, a self-
developed innovative treatment for a number of indications. In January
2022, the last patient enrolled for the Phase II clinical trial completed
the treatment for the first indication we are exploring, CED. ZKY001 has
broad applications in corneal wound healing and can potentially be used
in multiple related indications. We are currently exploring three additional
indications, as we strongly believe in researching alternate applications for
treatments to maximize value and provide the best possible solutions for
both patients and physicians.

In the back of the eye, we are positioning TABO14 as a foundational
therapy for wAMD and potentially other indications. Despite multiple
anti-VEGF therapies being available in China, diagnosis rate and patient
compliance remain very low by global standards. Hence, we believe
significant growth lies ahead for anti-VEGF therapies for the back of the
eye. In March 2022, we announced some modifications to our existing
licensing agreement with TOT BIOPHARM in an effort to streamline the
clinical operations. We expect to start patient recruitment for the Phase III
clinical trial for TABO14 in relatively short order.

* Chairman’s'Statement
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In terms of generic drugs, our priority is commercialization. We are
focused on delivering our first product in 2022, which is expected to be
Bimatoprost Timolol for the treatment of glaucoma. In 2021, we passed
the on-site GMP inspection for Bimatoprost Timolol and the ANDA approval
is expected to be within this year.

Looking forward, commercialization is our key focus for 2022. We
recognize the rapidly shifting dynamics of the industry and understand
that the traditional way of selling drugs can be complemented by new
mechanisms as China becomes increasingly dependent on digital,
social and e-commerce channels. We are confident in the strength of
our innovative go-to-market model which relies not only on traditional
channels, through our experienced sales teams and partnerships with
hospitals, but also on online channels, through our WeChat account
Zhaoke Boshi, partnerships with online medical platforms, and some
unique approaches which we are actively exploring.

As Zhaoke Ophthalmology strives to become a leader in ophthalmology
globally, we are increasingly taking a collaborative approach by working
with partners all around the world. This allows us to share best practice
and leverage scientific rigor to achieve commercial success.

In 2021, we initiated engagement with U.S. advisors to evaluate our
pipeline products for potential development in North America, and in
February 2022 we announced a collaboration with the world-leading
private research institute, Johns Hopkins University’s Wilmer Eye
Institute ("Wilmer”). In addition, on March 8, 2022, we signed strategic
partnership agreements with three leading Chinese pharmaceutical
companies, including Sinopharm Group Distribution Co., Ltd. ( B %£ # %
20 AR A F), Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (2R AR Q)
and China Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Limited (ZEf %8 4%
mEmEEBE AR AQF). These partnerships will focus on distribution as well as
collaboration opportunities in areas such as R&D and clinical research.

This year we will continue to explore new partnerships to develop centers
of excellence, further support and accelerate the R&D of ophthalmic drugs
and develop unique go-to-market commercialization strategies.

As we end this financial year and look forward to the coming year, we
remain committed to our portfolio strategy which is ideally aligned with the
growth and patient and physician needs in the ophthalmologic community.
Our development strategy, which focuses on innovation both in terms
of assets and commercialization approach, has shown positive results,
and we continue to increase the global footprint of our brand. Zhaoke
Ophthalmology currently has a strong cash position, which will allow us to
focus on our operations and R&D in the coming years.
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Thank you once again to our Shareholders for their support on our journey
to become an ophthalmology leader. We look forward to sharing updates
with you as we continue to transform visual health in China and globally.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Chairman of the Board and CEO

* Chairman’s'Statement
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I.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS OF THE
YEAR
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CsA Ophthalmic Gel: We have completed China’s largest DED
trial for our proprietary CsA Ophthalmic Gel, which resulted in
a positive outcome demonstrating significant improvements
for patients.

ZKY001: We have enrolled the first patient of the investigator
initiated trial ("IIT”) for NK disease in October 2021 and
completed the treatment for the last patient in our Phase II
clinical trial for the initial indication of CED in early 2022.

NVKO002: We established a clear path for the Phase III clinical
trials for the treatment of myopia with the CDE, which will be
one of the most comprehensive and robust Phase III clinical
trials for low dose atropine use in the world.

Commercialization: We are aggressively laying the
foundation for a go-to-market model inclusive of digital, social,
and e-commerce channels in conjunction with the traditional
commercialization model and key partnerships.

Partnerships: We signed multiple partnerships with leading
institutions in China and abroad, paving the way for attractive
opportunities in areas such as R&D, clinical research,
commercialization and evaluation of our pipeline products for
potential development in North America.

Team Strengthening: We made a number of strategic hires,
including the appointment of Dr. Albert Tsai as CMO, Ms. Yang
Lei as general counsel and Dr. Xie Zhijun as head of pre-
clinical R&D.
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II. FINANCIAL SUMMARY II. B E
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the AEENBE=ZEMBFEENEEAREERE
Group for the last three financial years®) is set out below: EREOERT|AT :
Consolidated results HEXE
Year ended December 31,
HZE12A31A8LFE
2021 2020 2019
20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBFT AREFT
Other income and gain, net E AN R M as 558 34,542 62,975 4,023
R&D expenses e (220,058) (81,779) (93,407)
General and administrative expenses —M&ITHE R (162,080) (35,002) (6,311)
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDHEAX (16,736) (1,542) -
Interest expenses FERAX (1,949) (1,655) (1,583)
Changes in the carrying amount of  EEREENEESEEH
preferred shares liability (1,763,499) (669,978) (24,799)
Loss for the year FREBE (2,129,780) (726,981) (122,077)
Less: Bt
Income from licensing agreement HEIN RSN (64,246) -
Add: b/
Changes in the carrying amount of  EXKREEERESHENEH
preferred shares liability 1,763,499 669,978 24,799
Listing expenses +WER 28,112 10,558 -
Equity-settled share-based payment DAz & E LA BEEH
expenses MR 109,858 14,998 -
Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the F&BIKRELRESHR
year® FREE (228,311) (95,693) (97,278)
Loss per share BREE

- Basic & Diluted (RMB) —EAREE(ARE) (4.81) N/ATEA®
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Consolidated assets and liabilities HEEEREE
As at December 31,
MR12A31H

2021 2020 2019
2021% 20204 20194
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT ARETT
Non-current assets FRBEE 396,513 312,963 174,607
Current assets MEVEE 2,208,894 913,623 379,607
Total assets BEEE 2,605,407 1,226,586 554,214
Current liabilities mEEE (89,008) (53,666) (183,834)
Non-current liabilities EREBaE (20,912) (1,918,888) (395,912)
Total liabilities BfEeE (109,920) (1,972,554) (579,746)
Total equity/(deficit) W (AL $a 58 2,495,487 (745,968) (25,532)

Notes: B &

(1) The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock (1)  ARFRMDHR2021F4A298 RIZE ERAIE+NAE
Exchange under Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules on April 29, 2021. FREESR FTEMR £ ©

(2) Non-HKFRS adjusted net loss for the year is defined as loss and total (2) FEBVBRELENCARFABRFIENTRALEH

comprehensive income for the year adjusted by adding back non-cash BFABBREZEWRGMATE S MEERSAERU
adjustments and one-time events of (i) changes in the carrying amount of T—RMIEE ¢ ()EAREERRBRIIMELREER
preferred shares liability in relation to the redemption amount and conversion SHERERFEERNESREERBDSENES ; (i)
features for our Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares; (ii) WX (i) ABERA - R(iv) A4 B AR D
Listing expenses; (iii) income from licensing agreement; and (iv) equity-settled REBONHRES - ERABIEBBUBRELEAL AR
share-based payment expenses. The above table reconciles our Non-HKFRS FREIEFREEIBN LR o

adjusted net loss for the year with our loss.

(3)  No loss per Share information is presented as its inclusion is not considered (3) HBARAEENEIRBEHETEL  IEHEEAEED
meaningful due to reorganization before the Global Offering and the BAEMBER  MEASREBBENTESE - Bmi
preparation of the historical financial information of the Group. EI5|EEER -
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BUSINESS REVIEW 3 A E) L]
Pipeline Strategy EAR T

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is strategically focused on treatments that cover  JKHIAR R} &S 1 BEBURE AL OB EIRBREL -
the vast majority of ophthalmic diseases, with 25 drug candidates, JET#E25BFEEY)  BIR13BAIF SN 127E(H R
including 13 innovative and 12 generic drugs, that cover the five major % $THFEZBAIEILBERONARBRRIERE - AK
eye diseases across both the front and back of the eye. The five major BRESERE(AFBETEBNMS ) BELRIE « 5
ophthalmic indications in terms of market potential in China are DED, WAMD - DMER B HAR ©

myopia, wWAMD, DME, and glaucoma.

We have strategically selected multiple drug candidates to address these  FFIfR{E » ST X SR BA 2 (A M A8 S FRRIRK REHE T
diseases, as we believe it the best way to treat multiple and complicated — ZRHEMNEE - Fith - HAID R IEmPE S EE B
underlying causes of these diseases. This approach is an efficient way to  RZERIEMFRIREEY) o 15 & 2 3 FI15 LAINIRER R A
build value as it allows us to accelerate clinical studies and facilitate the oM ZEILIZF - RITEBENERSE -

drug approval process.
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Our Portfolio

BEAWAES
Our product pipeline is set out below as of the date of this annual report: IATESIBPIARAFERBPNERELR

EAlpl:oplE iy

Our Innovative Drugs

Drug Candidate Source Commercial Rights Preclinical Phase I Phase II Phase III
] KR [SE: 2 i AR AT B £14 £I158 £I115)
Cyclosporine A (CsA)
Ophthalmic Gel @znncn(l Global China | =@
RI0E A BRE =
NTCO010 (levofloxacin
dexamethasone )
combination) 2% nte China
NTCOIQ “ h Certain Countries of the EU: Commercialized (NTC and Santen) #TF : FE{E(NTC & Santen)
(ERmpER
HLZERIAHETT)

Greater China, South

NVKO002 (Atropine) Korea and ASEAN* China &
NVKO002 (P HE&) uma Ah#E - mELATRE | Us: Phase III trial ongoing (Vyluma, previously known as Nevakar) 2 : £ III #5823 57 (Vyluma - #if8 Nevakar)

ZKY001 (Functional

B

Greater China excluding

fragment of Thymosin B4) 2 ZHROKE Macau . -
ZKY001 (Baf8BiB4 H [CEtr B Cre
MEERER) i
TABO14 (Bevacizumab) China =
TABO14 (8 fEH) Voriiii LU
NTCO014 (levofloxacin .
and ketorolac P Korea and ASEar: | CTTEN T
trometamol combination) (4 ntc KEEE - HRRETES EU: Preclinical (NTC)
NTCO14(ZEAFD R B PERETEE e mm vio)
EEERE ] =RE) o
Resolv ER (Liposome - Greater China and
loaded urea) ASEAN!
Resolv ER Armaceuticat . o . . : S
<He;§%v§ﬁ§) Ph ticals Kb EERETREER US: Phase Ib trial ongoing (Kato) = Ib Bi515E1TH (Kato)
IC-270 (Syk inhibitor and inatand i e e e e e e e e S e e S e N
antihistamine) @ IAC g;a;:: China and m |4| aacay B e e
1C-270(Syk Bt SUs & FHRRnA . - : Preclinea
05 2B A AR R ) AP#EERETRERR! £H : BIRAT (IACTA)
RGN-259 hi
(Thymosin B4) REGENERX Greate: Sl
RGN-259(Ji7B4) S
IC-265 (Syk inhibitor) Greater China and [ China =5
IC-265 . @ L'eACR B ASEAN?* US: Phase I trial completed in allergic conjunctivitis (IACTA)
(Syk EREBLAES D HIT) = AERERETEEEK! EE BEIEAEAE I SRR R (IACTA)
PAN-90806 (VEGFR2 Greater China, South
inhibitor) Korea and ASEAN? | china &8 2
?AN_QOBOJEH%JE'J) PAN@PTICA RPEE  BERETRE | US: Phase I/II trial compl Hi5E 525k (PanOptica)
VEGFR2 i GED
CsA/Rebamipide
Ophthalmic Gel AZHAOKE  Clobal
BIE A/ HETRH O&Sss an ST
R R
(@2HAOKE  Clobal i
2K002 @z | OO

I Our Progress [
FPEHEE

"/ Expected Next Step
AT R ER

Progress of Our Licensing Partner
HIMFFR BT E
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* May not require a Phase I clinical trial prior to initiating a Phase II clinical trial. & BBV EBIIERRRARZ AR REN T B TR IR AR -

** May not require a Phase I and/or Phase II clinical trials prior to initiating a k3 BN F IR R BB 2 AT AT B T 7R BT TR R E

Phase III clinical trial. IR AR 5 o
***%  May not require clinical trials prior to NDA submission. rok SRR SRR B AT A AR B TTRRIRA SR -

(1)  Including Brunei, Myanmar (Burma), Cambodia, Timor-Leste, Indonesia, Laos, (1) EEXH- A6 RFEE RHEX - DEEAS - &
Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam B ERATD - JEEE - I - RE R

(2)  Including Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar (Burma), the (2) BFEXEH - RHE - NEEAT - EB - SREE M
Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam /- FEEE - K - RERSE

(3)  Including Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar (Burma), the (3) BIEXH - RHE- HNEEAT - £ SREE M

Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam and Sri Lanka /- JEEE - N FE - MR REITERR
Our Generic Drugs oA 5] R VoY
Drug Candidate Indication Reference Drug /[N
3% 221 B IEE 1 FIR I
Bimatoprost Glaucoma . PGA monotherapy
L o N
EETIES R e PGAT — %
Bimatoprost Timolol Glaucoma Ganfort PGA and B blocking agent combotherapy
AERBIHER BHE PGAK BZ BN EIH & BUA
Latanoprost Glaucoma Xalatan PGA monotherapy
PR RFIE ERR PGAE—f%
Latanoprost Timolol Glaucoma ] PGA and B blocking agent combotherapy
AN HAHRER PGAK B BN B A BUA
Travoprost Glaucoma PGA monotherapy
T S p—
B R ATFIZ ERE ravatan PGAT ik
Travoprost Timolol Glaucoma DuoTrav PGA and B blocking agent combotherapy
Hh AR FRIR PGAK B i8It A& BUE
Levobetaxolol HCI Glaucoma Betoeon Monotherapy B blocker
EEPATE (SRR FHRER B—RURNBR ENE
Epinastine HCI Allergic conjunctivitis Dual-acting antihistamine and mast cell stabilizers
8 . Elestat e g 5
BERAARUTATT B RREA AR IR B R AR MR AR A
Natamycin Fungal eye infections Natacyn Antifungal
b= ERAPE B R NAEE
Proparacaine HCI Surface anesthesia Alcaine Block nerve conduction in the corneal tissue
L BESN R FEBE AR AR g g
Povidone Iodine Periocular and ocular surface disinfection Betadine Microbicidal/Antimicrobial action by iodine
Pt RERERHEE WERE NEER
Fluorescein Sodium Diagnostic for certain eye injuries Fluorescent dye

Minims fluorescein sodium

bS] RKIEEHD BIRE
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Innovative drugs

Our Company has several key potential blockbuster innovative drugs in
the pipeline for the next few years.

CsA Ophthalmic Gel for DED (self-developed)
Overview

CsA Ophthalmic Gel is an innovative drug being developed by Zhaoke
Ophthalmology for the treatment of DED. It is a single daily dose hydrogel
which eliminates daytime administration and the associated discomfort
and inconvenience, and aims to dramatically improve patients’ treatment
compliance and quality of life. It is a proprietary hydrogel with patent(s)
registered in China and internationally. This novel formulation enhances
the pharmacokinetic profiles of CsA on the ocular surface allowing similar
efficacy to that of the Cyclosporine A products currently available for
DED. However, unlike the current treatment, CsA Ophthalmic Gel’s
unique formulation stays on the eye for longer, requiring only once-a-day
dosing compared with traditional twice-a-day dosing, hence reducing the
treatment duration.

Updates during the Reporting Period

On July 12, 2021, the last patient completed treatment for the Phase III
clinical trial of CsA Ophthalmic Gel. The Phase III clinical trial was the
largest DED trial conducted in China with 644 patients across 41 centres.
The patient recruitment was finished ahead of schedule. The full results
were announced in October at the 7th National Dry Eye Conference in
Shanghai, where it was revealed that the Phase III clinical trial of CsA
Ophthalmic Gel had met its primary endpoint in inferior fluorescein corneal
staining score ("ICSS”").

Analysis of the results showed that the patient group who received CsA
Ophthalmic Gel demonstrated statistically significant improvements, when
compared to the patient group receiving the placebo treatment. At the end
of the treatment, 73.7% of CsA Ophthalmic Gel-treated patients showed
a one point or greater improvement in ICSS versus 53.2% of patients on
vehicle (p<0.0001). The mean change from baseline in Eye Dryness Score
("EDS") on day 84 was 29.2 mm (p<0.001) or 44.3% improvement in
EDS over baseline.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology plans to submit the NDA to the NMPA in short
order in 2022. Due to the treatment’s potential to benefit millions of
people globally, the Company is also exploring opportunities outside of
China, planning to submit a pre-IND filing to the FDA to explore the clinical
pathway for CsA Ophthalmic Gel in the U.S.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology continues to target commercialization of CsA
Ophthalmic Gel as early as 2023.

RIFTHE

AATMERTHESRECERAIME
ZELm -

AERARK

RICFARSE - FROEREARIE(§LH#)
HE

RIBRARER RIS R B AU R RIER B3
o LB E RS —IR 0 ADER AR R EEN
TENNME  FERERERENERBEMNEEYL
B WKEBTEREEN  EEFRCNTHENEE
BREEE M o AT ETRARBIANBRNZEYR
N BEE - R BB ARERENIRERAER
LB - A BRHINRENEE - RIARARE
BHBRSLESEERRRERER - RESX KK
- fBE—RFESRAENR - B ek -

HEBANRIEAR

M2021F7 128 @ RWEAR B S IITHER K S8
Mk 1&g — % BETHROAE o SIITHIER R 5 AN B
TR RELR BRIE SRR - W RALETF L644BBE - B
ERBTERETK - TEERNI0AELBETH
FLtEZEZREBMEF LER - ARARG LERER
BRAREBNENIMERABRDEARTRAETD
(TICSS ) = EZ#& % -

EREOMBRESREZARBRBAENSEMA7H
LLERLTRANBEARNERBERE EEFRBESRT
B2 NARERE  BR73.7%FEHARABERAR
BBAEMNBEEICSSH1IZ A LikE - HHFER
% BB ) & % A 5 53.2% (p<0.0001) - £ 84K &)
ZRFTD([EDS)) ESREFHEELEAR29.28XK
(p<0.001) + TEREAR(EML - EDSHME % 544.3% ©

JERHERFIET B4 2022 58 BN MBI 3R S48 R PR X ¥ 44 FR
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ERERBHE R & PR 2023 F BIRAZAR BB HEH
BiR -




- - - - - - Management Discussion and Analysis

. . . . . . . . . . . .

NVKO002 (Atropine) for Myopia (partnered with Nevakar)

Overview

Low concentration atropine is the only medication to date that is
consistently effective in myopia progression control amongst children and
adolescents. Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s innovative treatment, NVK002,
is potentially the world’s first approved ophthalmic solution to control
or slow myopia progression in children and adolescents. This treatment
has a proprietary formulation that successfully addresses the instability
of low-concentration atropine and is preservative-free with an expected
shelf life of over 24 months. The clinical development of NVK002 involves
two different concentrations of preservative-free atropine (0.01% and
0.02%) to determine the efficacy, safety and tolerability in children and
adolescents with myopia, offering a choice for doctors and patients.

Zhaoke Ophthalmogy’s licensing partner for NVK002 is Vyluma Inc., a
wholly owned subsidiary of U.S.-based Nevakar. Vyluma Inc. is currently
conducting the Phase III clinical trial for NVK002 in the United States and
Europe. The three-year trial results are expected to be available by the
end of 2022, followed by an NDA submission to the FDA in 2023.

Updates during the Reporting Period

In September 2021, Zhaoke Ophthalmology received approval from the
CDE to initiate two concurrent Phase III clinical trials, including a two-
year Phase III clinical trial ("China CHAMP”) and a one-year Phase III
bridging trial ("Mini-CHAMP”) in China. The latter will be combined with
global data from Vyluma Inc.’s Phase III clinical trial in the U.S. and
Europe, making the Phase III clinical trial for NVKO0O2 one of the most
comprehensive and robust Phase III clinical trials for low dose atropine use
in the world.

The main objective of the China CHAMP and Mini-CHAMP is to evaluate the
efficacy and safety of NVK0O02 in myopia progression control of children
and adolescents from 3 to 17 years old. The China CHAMP trial will involve
19 centers and enroll 770 patients, led by Professor Wang Ning Li from
Beijing Tongren Hospital as the Principal Investigator. The Mini-CHAMP
trial will involve 18 centers and enroll 526 patients, led by Professor Qu
Xiao Mei from Eye and ENT Hospital of Fudan University as the Principal
Investigator. The first patient of China CHAMP was enrolled on March 16,
2022.

The treatment could be available in the mainland Chinese market as
early as 2024, making Zhaoke Ophthalmology potentially one of the
first companies to commercialize a myopia drug in the mainland Chinese
market.

. BEETWRAN

NVKOO2 ([ #Edn) - FREBATE (£
Nevakar& k)

EREMERER A AR ERREHRERS D
FHE IR B - KRR BIFTEIANVK002E
AR BB E AN RS ORISR E R DFERM
REJRBATREOK o WWEUAYER —REFE T - KINERR
EREMIEROTEEL  T2HRE - EHRTHE
82418 F o NVKOO2 &Y & R 8 727 K w8~ [ = 2 (B
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ZKY001
Overview

ZKY001 is a seven-amino acid peptide derived from the functional
fragment of Thymosin B4 that binds actin, a type of protein that plays
a central role in cell structure and movement. Zhaoke Ophthalmology is
currently focusing on developing a novel eye drop formulation targeting
CED.

ZKY001 has broad applications in corneal wound healing and can
potentially be used in multiple corneal repair indications. In addition
to CED, Zhaoke Ophthalmology is currently exploring three additional
indications for ZKY001, including transepithelial photorefractive
keratectomy (“TPRK") (surgical treatment for myopia), pterygium (a
growth in the cornea or in the conjunctiva) and neurotrophic keratitis
("NK") (a rare degenerative corneal disease).

Updates during the Reporting Period

On October 16, 2021, the first patient was enrolled for the IIT of ZKY001
for NK disease. The IIT trial plans to enroll a total of 40 patients by the
second quarter of 2022.

The last patient completed his/her treatment in the Phase II clinical trial
of ZKY001 for CED in February 2022. The main objective of the CED trial
is to evaluate the efficacy and safety of ZKYOO1 in the treatment of CED
and to assess the optimal dosage of ZKY001. The Phase II clinical trial
for CED has enrolled 105 patients and is a multi-center, randomized,
doublemasked, placebo-controlled study.

On March 16, 2022, the first patient was enrolled for the Phase II clinical
trial for pterygium disease.

The Company is also expecting the first patient enrollment for Phase II
clinical trial for TPRK shortly.

ZKY001
HE

ZKYOO1R—EE s AR AR - IRE KR B 46
DMEeR R TENBEALS  MIBEAR—EER
fREERESPRERVEANEDE - KRIRBBATE
AP — B CEDMETEURRERC T -

ZKYOO1 ¥ MR E ARG A BANERBERZ - 5L
ARZEAREEERIE - BRCEDSM - JERIERT B ATIE
EHMZKY001 BHM=TEHEEIE - BIEE EREHENL
AEEEM (TTPRK ] - —ABARMFEE) - ¥
REA(ARKAEREE) KPR ERME BRI (TNK]
—RBFRARERLKR)

HEHANRIER

MR2021F108168 * LAZKY0014BENKE EAEAIIT
BAEEREE - ZIUTAHARTEN2022FF =FFsk
ZHIAMHEEHK40BEE -

ZKYOO1E FCEDM BB ARA BN RE — BB &
ER2022F2A%EKAE - CEDRBHWE S LR T
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SRS ©
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TAB014 (Bevacizumab) for wAMD (partnered with TOT
BIOPHARM)

Overview

TABO14 is the first clinical-stage bevacizumab-based antibody indicated
for wAMD in China. Bevacizumab is a clinically validated anti-VEGF drug.
Globally, bevacizumab is approved for oncology treatment through
intravenous infusion. However, there has been increasing offlabel use of
bevacizumab via intravitreal injection for treatment of wAMD. Zhaoke
Ophthalmology has obtained an exclusive license from TOT BIOPHARM
to commercialize TABO14 for neovascularization-related eye diseases in
China.

The Company is expecting the first patient enrollment for Phase III clinical
trial of TABO14 in short order in 2022.

On March 1, 2022, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
with TOT BIOPHARM, pursuant to which Zhaoke Guangzhou will have full
control and responsibility in the execution of clinical trials and the ultimate
decision-making power in the development and commercialization of
TABO14 in mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. Zhaoke Guangzhou
is also entitled to develop TAB014 for other ophthalmic indications in
addition to wAMD or novel formulations for ophthalmic indications. TOT
BIOPHARM will continue to be responsible for manufacturing of TABO14 for
clinical trial and commercial purposes.

PAN-90806 (VEGFRZ2 inhibitor) for wWAMD and DME (partnered
with PanOptica)

Overview

PAN-90806 is an innovative drug indicated in the treatment of wAMD, as
well as DME, the leading cause of blindness in diabetic patients worldwide.

PAN-90806 is a novel eye drop formulation, decreasing the number
of injections required. If approved, PAN-90806 will bring significant
convenience and a less invasive treatment alternative for patients as
a maintenance therapy. This will reduce the frequency of intravitreal
injections and other associated treatment issues with mainstream anti-
VEGF therapies while at the same time maintain visual stability. PAN-
90806 is expected to significantly reduce treatment discontinuation, and
therefore slow underlying disease progression through improved patient
comfort, acceptance, convenience and compliance.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is currently focused on optimizing the formulation
of PAN-90806. Subject to regulatory approvals and completion of animal
study, the Company plans to commence human trial in the near future.

. BEETWRAN
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NTCO10
Overview

NTCO010 is a fixed dose combination of antibiotics and steroids to prevent
infection and inflammation for patients undergoing cataract surgery. The
drug belongs to a new generation of antibiotics, which increases efficiency
and covers a wider range of bacteria. The drug also shortens the duration
of the treatment by half, from 14 to seven days, making it beneficial to
patients’ overall health and helping to prevent antibiotic overuse. The drug
has already been approved in seven countries in Europe.

Updates during the Reporting Period

NTC010 was approved by the Hainan Provincial Medical Products
Administration on July 27, 2021, as an urgently needed drug for use by
patients in Hainan Province under The System Integration Innovation
Reform Plan of Boao Lecheng International Medical Tourism Pilot Zone

of Hainan Free Trade Port. The Company plans to submit an NDA to the
NMPA in 2022.

Generic drugs

Our Company has several key generic drugs in the pipeline.

Bimatoprost Timolol

Overview

According to CIC, Bimatoprost Timolol is a potential first-to-market generic
bimatoprost timolol in China targeting glaucoma. This drug is used for
more advanced stages of the disease, with increased pressure in the eye.
Zhaoke Ophthalmology submitted an ANDA to the NMPA in October 2020.

Updates during the Reporting Period

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is currently focusing on delivering its first product
in 2022, which is expected to be Bimatoprost Timolol.

The Company passed the on-site GMP inspection of Bimatoprost Timolol
at its state-of-the-art manufacturing facility in Nansha, Guangzhou in
May 2021. This certification ensures that the product will be consistently
produced and controlled according to stringent quality standards. This
also marks an important step in the overall ANDA review process, which is
expected to be completed within 2022.

NTCO10
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Bimatoprost
Overview

Bimatoprost is a generic drug used in the treatment of glaucoma.
Zhaoke Ophthalmology submitted an ANDA to the NMPA in August 2019.
According to CIC, this will potentially be the first preservative-free generic
drug commercialized in China, which will help improve patients’ comfort
during treatment and lower the risk of patient allergies.

After the completion of on-site GMP inspection carried out in 2021, we
expected the ANDA review process will be completed in the near future.

Levobetaxolol HC/
Overview

Levobetaxolol HCI is a generic eye drop used in the treatment of glaucoma
to lower pressure in the eye.

Updates during the Reporting Period

On September 2, 2021, Levobetaxolol HCI eye drops for the treatment of
intraocular pressure ("IOP”) in patients with primary open-angle glaucoma
or ocular hypertension has met its primary endpoint in decreasing IOP in
eight weeks compared to the baseline.

Analysis of the results show that the patient group who received
Levobetaxolol HCI eye drops demonstrated statistically significant (P<0.01)
superior efficacy after eight weeks of treatment, when compared to
the patient group receiving the comparator treatment, Betaxolol HCI
(BETOPTIC®S).
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Epinastine HCI
Overview

Epinastine HCl is a generic drug targeting allergic conjunctivitis with
antihistamine and mast cell stabilization properties. It is the first-line
therapy for allergic conjunctivitis in China, especially for acute patients
and is therefore expected to be commercialized at a lower price than
the currently available treatment, giving it a potential significant market
advantage. Zhaoke Ophthalmology submitted an ANDA to the NMPA in
June 2020.

Updates during the Reporting Period

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has passed the on-site GMP inspection for the
manufacturing facility for Epinastine HCI in May 2021, which ensures
that this product will be consistently produced and controlled according
to stringent quality standards. This also marks an important step in the
overall ANDA review process.

WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE
LISTING RULES: WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO
ULTIMATELY DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR
DRUG CANDIDATES SUCCESSFULLY

Manufacturing and Commercialization

Zhaoke Ophthalmology manufacturing facility is located in Nansha New
District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, China. The facility offers full
manufacturing capability, from production, dosing, filing, packaging and
quality assurance. The facility occupies approximately 7,600 sq.m. and has
state-of-the-art equipment and machinery from leading global suppliers.
It is designed in accordance with the highest international standards and
requirements of major global regulators including the FDA, the NMPA and
the EMA.

The cutting-edge manufacturing facility is ready for production, as we
anticipate the launch of our first generic product in 2022. We currently
have three manufacturing lines, with the ability to expand capacity. In
anticipation of the commercialization of our drug candidates, we have
increased investment in our manufacturing facility to augment its capacity
and reach commercial scale. The production capacity for single dose drugs
has already increased ten times.
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During the Reporting Period, Zhaoke Ophthalmology has focused on
developing its innovative commercialization strategy, in anticipation of
the launch of its first drug candidate(s) in 2022. We recognize the rapidly
shifting dynamics of the industry and understand that the traditional
way of selling drugs can be complemented by new channels as China
becomes increasingly dependent on digital, social and e-commerce.
We are confident in the strength of our innovative go-to-market model
which relies not only on traditional channels, through our experienced
sales teams and partnerships with hospitals, but also on online channels,
through our WeChat account, partnerships with online medical platforms,
and some unique approaches which we are actively exploring.

A new platform that we have created is Zhaoke Boshi. We recognized the
need in China for a content driven platform that showcases the cutting-
edge research in ophthalmology globally and allows the leading KOLs to
share their insights and best practices and facilitates discussions in the
ophthalmology community. Zhaoke Boshi was soft launched in September
2021, and its follower base has grown to over 3,000 as of the date of this
report. This was achieved because of consistently high quality of content.

We have expanded our team of sales and marketing professionals with
decades of experience to lead our commercialization strategy. Our goal is
to continue to increase our commercialization team to 200-300 members
in the next five years.
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Research and Development

We believe that R&D is key to driving our competitive strategy. In 2022
we will be concentrating on the advancement of key clinical programs to
enhance and expand our drug pipeline.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has a R&D team with a time-tested, proven track
record and a full suite of capabilities covering discovery, pre-clinical
research and execution of clinical trials. Our R&D activities are led by an
international management team with decades of industry experience at
global biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies.

During the Reporting Period we made a number of strategic hires. Dr.
Albert Tsai Jr. joined the company as CMO and is primarily responsible for
leading the group to advance its assets through the clinical development
process as well as supporting the post approval medical affairs for the
Group’s commercial products. Dr. Tsai will also provide strategic direction
for therapeutic indication development and contribute to the overall
corporate strategy and culture of innovation and excellence.

In addition, Dr. Xie Zhijun joined Zhaoke Ophthalmology on September
22, 2021 as the head of pre-clinical R&D, responsible for the evaluation
and screening of R&D projects, the development, verification and transfer
of formulation technology and analytical methods, the customization of
Application Programming Interfaces and supplier selection, as well as
project management and technical solution optimization, focusing on
project optimization and breakthrough. With over 25 years of relevant
industry experience, Dr. Xie has a keen sense of biomedical development
and elevates the Company’s technical level with his professional knowledge
and innovation.

During the year of 2021 we significantly increased the size of our R&D
team, which now stands at approximately 80 professionals.

We upgraded both our chemistry, manufacturing and control ("CMC"”) and
pharmacology laboratories, with a total area of 1,800 sq.m. in our Nansha
facility.
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The CMC laboratory aims to develop formulation for innovative and generic
drugs and transfer technology from overseas licensors to China. The
pharmacology laboratory will be utilized to test the efficacy, safety and
mechanisms of action of innovative products, and to identify novel drug
targets for the treatment of ophthalmic diseases. On March 3, 2022, our
pharmacology laboratory received the laboratory animal license from the
Department of Science and Technology of Guangdong Province.

These new facilities possess environmental quality self-inspection
equipment and capabilities and undertake regular inspections. We follow
strict medical waste disposal guidelines in operating and maintaining these
facilities. All medical waste will be treated by a third-party environmental
protection service provider.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our R&D expenses reached
approximately RMB220.1 million, representing an increase of
approximately 169.1% from approximately RMB81.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
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During the Reporting Period, COVID-19 had some impact on our
operations. Some of our clinical trials were temporarily delayed, as access
to patients was limited, while at an operational level, we had to implement
alternative work arrangements in our various locations from time to
time in response to local lockdown restrictions. We maintained close
communication with our suppliers and global business partners to ensure
our close collaboration continued and to continue to advance as much as
possible our R&D progress. COVID-19 did not have any material adverse
impact on our liquidity and working capital sufficiency of the Group during
the Reporting Period.

Partnerships

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has established multiple licensing partnerships
with leading companies in China, the United States and Europe, and will
continue to build its global footprint.

In the first quarter of 2021, we established a partnership with NTC, and
obtained an exclusive license and distribution right to sell NTC010, an
innovative eye drop for preventing and treating cataract surgery-related
inflammation and infection already approved in certain European Union
countries, in China. NTC is a pharmaceutical company headquartered in
Milan, Italy, which engages in the research, development, registration
and commercialization of drugs, medical devices and food supplements in
ophthalmology and other therapeutic areas.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology also developed a partnership with the Singapore
Eye Research Institute ("SERI"”) to leverage SERI’s research and
development capabilities in preclinical models and clinical trials, as well as
regular scientific and industry exchanges.

In December 2021, Zhaoke Ophthalmology announced a partnership
with Tianjing HappyLife Technology Limited, an affiliate of Yidu Tech Inc.
that provides life sciences solutions. The objective of the partnership is
to accelerate the development of innovative clinical research programs
for the Chinese ophthalmic market and deliver better medical care and
support to eye disease patients in China.

Another strategic collaboration was announced in February 2022 with the
world-leading private research institute, Wilmer. Zhaoke Ophthalmology
signed a corporate gift agreement with Wilmer to support translational
research and academic exchanges. We expect to develop a long term
partnership with Wilmer for the early stage cutting edge ophthalmic R&D.
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Finally, Zhaoke Ophthalmology has signed strategic partnership
agreements with three pharmaceutical companies, including Sinopharm
Group Distribution Co., Ltd. ( Bl % % I8 % 85 # . & R 2 7] ), Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. ( £ # #F & & R /2 & ), and China Resources
Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Limited (BB ZmEEE AR A R) on
March 8, 2022. The partnerships will focus on distribution, as well as
collaboration opportunities in areas such as clinical R&D.

The Company will continue to explore new partnership and collaboration
opportunities with world-leading domestic and overseas pharmaceutical
firms and research institutions to develop centers of excellence, which
will further support and accelerate the R&D of ophthalmic drugs and will
enhance our unique go-to-market commercialization strategies.

Environment, Social and Governance ("ESG”)

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is committed to the development of a sustainable
healthcare industry in mainland China. We rigorously monitor the
environmental and social impact of our operations and are implementing
measures to improve the sustainability of our business.

During the Reporting Period, we clearly defined the ESG responsibilities
of the Board and the senior management and have established a
sustainability steering committee to assist the Board in its management
and supervision of the progress and results of relevant initiatives. The
Company has also established policies on the environment, employment
system, occupational health and safety, training and development, supply
chain management, product responsibility, anti-corruption and community
investment.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is committed to transparency and compliance,
and disclosing our ESG performance every year in our ESG report. In July
2021, we published our first ESG report to enhance our stakeholders’
understanding of our current strategy regarding our socially responsible
practices.

Future and Outlook

Looking forward, we see strong momentum in the ophthalmologic industry,
driven by a growing market demand and public policies in China as indicated
by the National Eye Health Plan included as part of the “Fourteenth Five-
Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development of the PRC and
the Outline of Vision Goals for 2035 (FEARLMEBEREEMLSERES
+H{ERFHE 20354 & 5 B IZ41Z)”. Regulators have highlighted the

importance of facilitating the establishment of health service systems and
strengthening the construction of ocular medical service systems as well as
encouraging talent development, all of which will contribute to improving
primary care services and physicians’ capacities to diagnose eye diseases.
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As part of this, the Chinese government has designated three geographic
areas, including, among others, the GBA, as future centers of excellence
for healthcare. With a state-of-the-art manufacturing facility located in
Nansha New District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, China, Zhaoke
Ophthalmology is one of the publicly listed healthcare companies
headquartered in the GBA, making it well positioned to spearhead the
development of ophthalmic solution ecosystem in the region and capture
this market opportunity.

Commercialization is our key focus for 2022, as we expect the
commercialization of our first generic product for glaucoma, Bimatoprost
Timolol. Our commercialization strategy is based on a hybrid model
integrating both our offline and online channels, and will be extended
beyond glaucoma and anticipate future product launch in other eye
disease area.

Significant R&D milestones are expected for 2022, including for some of
our core drug candidates. In terms of clinical trials advancements in the
next 12 months, we expect the completion of the Phase II clinical trial
for ZKY001 for additional indications, as well as completion of patient
enrollment for the Phase III clinical trial for NVK00O2. We also expect the
NDA submission for our CsA Ophthalmic Gel in short order in 2022.

We will continue to explore more strategic partnerships globally with
leading institutions, to help realize the potential of the globalization
of our assets, including CsA Ophthalmic Gel for potential R&D and
commercialization in North America, and NVK002 for out-license to
Southeast Asia and South Korea.

Overall, we strongly believe that we are well-positioned to capture the
rapidly growing Chinese ophthalmology market and will continue to strive
to become the leader in ophthalmology globally. Our mission remains
to transform visual health, by developing best-in-class and first-in-class
treatments for the five major eye diseases across the front and back of
the eye. With a strong focus on R&D, our aim is to provide new treatment
solutions and transform visual health in China.
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Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31AILLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Other income HAA 21,133 68,462
Other net gain/(loss) Hlzs/ (&518)F5E 13,409 (5,487)
R&D expenses EFAZ (220,058) (81,779)
General and administrative expenses —RRITERE R (162,080) (35,002)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HAX (16,736) (1,542)
Interest expenses FERAXZ (1,949) (1,655)
Changes in the carrying amount of preferred BEREENRERCEZD
shares liability (1,763,499) (669,978)
Loss for the year EREE (2,129,780) (726,981)
Other comprehensive income for the year SRHM2mEKE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to  EEA4EEHDBEEIBHMIER ¢
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial BENEEEITIEAREH I EHRED
statements of entities with functional [ 5,25
currencies
other than RMB (51,191) 56,120
Total comprehensive income for the year FREERGERE (2,180,971) (670,861)
Non-HKFRS Measures FEBYBERELEATEARN
Adjusted loss for the year CRBRFAEE (228,311) (95,693)

Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded total loss of
approximately RMB2,129.8 million, as compared with approximately
RMB727.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, mainly due
to the changes in the carrying amount of preferred shares liability in
relation to the redemption amount and conversion features for the Series
A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares, before they were
converted into ordinary Shares on the Listing Date. Our R&D expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2021 were approximately RMB220.1 million,
representing an increase of approximately 169.1% from approximately
RMB81.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to
the increased expenses incurred for clinical trials and R&D activities for our
key products, including Phase III clinical trial for CsA Ophthalmic Gel and
Levobetaxolol HCI, during the Reporting Period.

HE
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Other Income

The Group’s other income primarily consists of bank interest income
and government grants received from government authorities. For the
year ended December 31, 2021, the Group’s other income decreased to
approximately RMB21.1 million, compared to approximately RMB68.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was
primarily attributable to the one-time income from licensing agreement of
approximately RMB64.2 million received in 2020, which was net off with
the effect of the increase of one-off government subsidies received from
government authorities for our on-going R&D activities in 2021.

At A

AEENEMBAEBRIFBRITHE WA KRB BTHE
ESHOBTEE - #E2021F12A31B1IHEE » &K
EEMEMKABREE2020F12A31BEEEHA
R¥E68.5SEBTHMIEZNARK2IIEBET  £BR
R2020FWERFF Al s — R MM A ARE64.28E
7T 0 RN 2021 FE i ET S B R EEEHN
— IR ERL IS B R 8 o

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31H0LFE

2021 2020

20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT

16,090
5,036

Government grants B HRE
Bank interest income RITF SUWA
Income from licensing agreement AR
Others EHAth

Total “eEt
Other Net Gain/(Loss)

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded approximately
RMB13.4 million of other net gain, compared to approximately RMB5.5
million of other net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020. Such
net gain/(loss) primarily consists of net foreign exchange gain or loss
in connection with fund transfers among bank accounts in difference
currencies and bank balances that are denominated in U.S. dollars.

R&D Expenses

The Group’s R&D expenses primarily consisted of: (i) clinical trial
professional service fees, primarily including payments to contract
research organizations, hospitals and other medical institutions and testing
fees incurred for preclinical studies and clinical trials; (ii) depreciation
and amortization in relation to our R&D equipment and facilities; (iii) staff
costs, including salaries, bonus and welfare payments for R&D personnel;
(iv) costs of raw materials and consumables used for R&D of our drug
candidates; (v) equity-settled share-based payment for R&D personnel;
and (vi) utilities.

Hfthfas ~ (B518) F5E
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, our R&D expenses increased by  #HZ2021F12A31HIEFE - RONAEFEZAEE
approximately RMB138.3 million, or 169.1%, to approximately RMB220.1 2020412 A318 It FEHARKE81.8FH & T ML
million from approximately RMB81.8 million for the year ended December AR 138.3E &5 169.1%EHARM220.158
31, 2020. The increase was mainly due to (i) the continuous advancement 7T X 2HR ()R MR AR EEDSER METT
of our clinical trials and increased investments in the ongoing R&D  M#EIE B IR A L MN(BNRE IR AR RR L E
projects (i.e. completion of Phase III clinical trial for CsA Ophthalmic Gel  E&Z &t & BM SRS TTHK) + R(ii)FAEAB
and Levobetaxolol HCI during the Reporting Period); and (ii) increase in B9 AR K bARE 25 45 & UARR 1D A ELR A S RUE hPTEL -
headcount and equity-settled share based-payment of R&D personnel.

The following table sets forth the components of the Group’s R&D  TEREIIANEBERFITRF NI ER S AKID ¢
expenses for the years indicated:

Year ended December 31,

HBZ12A31HILEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Clinical trial professional service fee RRABREEREER 113,207 27,711
Staff costs BIRA 29,992 15,141
Depreciation and amortization e sy 23,928 19,352
Equity-settled share-based payment DARE RS 45 E UARR (D R ETER) IR 21,972 2,902
Cost of raw materials and consumables used FiT A R ML R B FE SR BB AN 10,362 6,808
Utilities KEE 4,018 2,804
Other® Hiebo 16,579 7,061

Total st 220,058 81,779

Note: BiEE -

(1) Represent travel and accommodation expenses, repair and maintenance (1) EBERREEER -  GEREEBRAIULABERMHE
expenses and other miscellaneous expenses in relation to our R&D activities. TEBRE M IER S o

General and Administrative Expenses — MR RITEE FF

Our general and administrative expenses consist of staff costs, Listing HRMN—METHREAREEIAA - EWmHAX &
expenses, professional service fees for legal, consulting and auditing & HHALBARBSEERGER  —BEEHRAZ -
services, general operating expenses, depreciation in relation to our office MR ZEREITE MR A B REECEBEAIAE
equipment and equity-settled share-based payment for those other than  SfUAREZS&EE AR BEERIN K o

R&D personnel and commercialization team.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, our general and administrative
expenses were approximately RMB162.1 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB127.1 million from approximately RMB35.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2020, which is primarily attributable to
(i) the increase in equity-settled share-based payment and staff costs as
well as the increase in the number of administrative personnel and senior
management to support our business growth; (ii) the Listing expenses
incurred in connection with the IPO; and (iii) the increase of professional
service fee related to Listing matters and additional regulatory compliance
obligations.

The following table sets forth the components of our general and
administrative expenses for the years indicated:

HE2021F12A318EFE  HMIN—BRITHER
HAARE162.1HET  BEZE2020F12A318 1
FEHARKIS.0EETEMOARK127.1858TT
FEHR()AERSEE ARG AERON R E TR
B ARATBEBERENTRABRSHEREA
BAE: (NVHEXRAREEEELMHAY  R(ii))BH
ITHEEREINEEESRETNEEREERBIEMATE -

TREFIBPIRPIRFEN—RRITREBAKS

Year ended December 31,

HBZE12A31ALLEE
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Equity-settled share-based payment AR B DARR (D A ETE AT 5K 81,532 11,390
Listing expenses il h-a 28,112 10,558
Staff costs (include directors’ fee) BIRA(BEESHES) 27,583 7,844
Professional service fees BERBEA 14,961 3,303
General operating expenses —REERE 3,385 916
Donation B 2,486 -
Depreciation e 1,769 474
Other® Hapo 2,252 517
Total st 162,080 35,002

Note: B3

(1)

Represent certain tax expenses, donations and other miscellaneous expenses.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses mainly consist of salary and benefits
expenses for our commercialization team. Our selling and distribution
expenses increased from RMB1.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2020 to approximately RMB16.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2021, primarily attributable to an increase in headcount of our
commercialization team and equity-settled share-based payment.

(1) EETHEMAX - BREEMMRIER -

HER D HF <

BAHEERDHERX T EEERMABELCEZRNFTE
RAEMA - 81202112831 IFFE - FMIAH
ERDHAZREZE2020F12A31H IFFEN AR
15HEBTENENARKLI6.7AET  TEAREM
78 S B R A R DARE 25 48 S DA R R B B 15 308
ANFTEL -
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The following table sets forth the components of our selling and
distribution expenses for the years indicated:

- BEEWwEDN

TREFIHPIRPIRFERHE R0 R ARES

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT

7,632 553
6,354 706
1,604 235
288 =
858 48

Staff costs BIMA

Equity-settled share-based payment LAt A E ARG AETERI R
Marketing & Conference expenses EHRGRMX

Depreciation e

Other Hith

Total Mt

16,736 1,542

Finance Cost

Our finance costs primarily consist of (i) interest on lease liabilities related
to our leases of office premises and manufacturing and R&D facilities; and
(ii) changes in the carrying amount of preferred shares liability, which
represent changes in the carrying amount of financial liabilities recognized
in relation to the redemption amount and conversion features for our
Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares.

The following table sets forth the components of our finance costs for the
years indicated:

RIBERHE

RPN BRAEEREN)ERMEERLEYEIAR
SERPEREEENEEEENS  R>IDNEBLEREE
RRESEEE - BIRARIBERRBRTEEKIED
SENBREEMERN SR ENRE S BN -

TREFIHPIRPIRFENT ERAAKRES

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31ALFE

2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

Changes in the carrying amount of preferred BEREENRESEZ
shares liability

1,763,499 669,978
1,352 1,458
597 197

Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNL
Interest on bank loan RITERFIS
Total “BEt

1,765,448 671,633

Income Tax

We did not incur any income tax during the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2021.

P

HZE2020F %2021 F12A31BLFE » HMTLEE
TSR
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BVI and Cayman Islands

We were incorporated in the BVI in January 2017 and redomiciled to the
Cayman Islands in April 2020. Pursuant to the laws and regulations of
the BVI, we were not subject to any income tax there before we were
redomiciled to the Cayman Islands. We are an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act of Cayman Islands and
accordingly are exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong

We did not make any provision for Hong Kong profit tax, because our
Hong Kong subsidiary, Zhaoke HK, did not have assessable profits in Hong
Kong during the Reporting Period.

The PRC

We did not make any provision for the PRC income tax, which is at the
rate of 25% pursuant to relevant PRC laws and regulations, because our
PRC subsidiary, Zhaoke Guangzhou, did not have assessable profits in the
PRC during the Reporting Period.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the above factors, for the year ended December 31, 2021,
we recorded a loss of approximately RMB2,129.8 million, as compared to a
loss of approximately RMB727.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2020.

Non-HKFRS Measure

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with the HKFRS, the Company also uses adjusted
total loss for the year and other adjusted figures as additional financial
measures, which are not required by, or presented in accordance with, the
HKFRS. The Company believes that these adjusted measures provide useful
information to its shareholders and potential investors in understanding
and evaluating the Group’s annual consolidated results of operations in the
same manner as they help the Company’s management.

KEBEZHERHASRS

BMR2017F1AEEBRELESEMMKSL - AR
20204 ABMEHERS - REMHAZESA @ RIE
REBE AR A FOER - BB AN E SR R MR
BH - REFEHEARE  RAIAERLERRAT]
EmER RN SRS M -

BE

BRREMOEEHBATKMEERNREMNAREBYL
BERERDAE - MRMILEHRBENGHEE -

P E

A A P AR BB X AR R SR B AR A B
RV - BURBARPEIAR AR - BALE
1225% M R FHEH BT HBHE -

FREE

ER AR - 82202112 A31 8 L5 E - &M
BEBEHARK2,129.85 8T - MEE2020F 127
B1AEFERSGEENARK727.088T -

HEBYBHEERELH

AEAAEEREEEVBRELAZ2FINGA MR
R ARBIMEREHEFAERAENEBEHER
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EREERBERER  BYRSE 7RI EAEEN
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Adjusted total loss for the year represents the total loss for the year
excluding the effect of equity-settled share-based payment expenses,
Listing expense and certain non-cash items and one-time events, namely
changes in the carrying amount of preferred shares liability. The term
adjusted total loss for the year is not defined under the HKFRS. However,
the Company believes that this and other non-HKFRS measures are
reflections of the Group’s normal operating results by eliminating the
potential impact of items that the management do not consider to be
indicative of the Group’s operating performance. The adjusted total loss
for the year, as the management of the Group believes, is adopted in
the industry where the Group is operating. However, the presentation of
the adjusted total loss for the year is not intended to be (and should not
be) considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information
prepared and presented in accordance with the HKFRS. Shareholders
and potential investors of the Company should not view the non-HKFRS
measures (i.e. the adjusted total comprehensive loss for the year) on a
stand-alone basis or as a substitute for results under the HKFRS, or as
being comparable to results reported or forecasted by other companies.

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the total comprehensive loss
for the year to adjusted total comprehensive loss for the year during the
years indicated:

Management Discussion and Analysis

- BB W LT

RABFABBEREFAEREEMR A ESEE N
B BERONKAX - LR RETIHRSEER
—REEH(AEERAERESHEES)NTE - BB
FHREENT BEREREFANBRLE —FNEE
& o AW - ARBMEE - W REMIFEBUBMEE
A2 A RMALRENEREERE  HRELRE
RRYFARELERRERORE TREKNTZE -
AEEERERE  CHEFABRRRENKRLE
BT - AT KABRFABIBEE TR T ER
BIEBSAREREFBYBIREENRRNEDA0E
BEM - ARABRRREERBEETERBILERFETE
FBRERAAEN A (BERABFALAEBERER)
FREREBBMBREENFERNEE - IHURS
FELE b ) 2 TR M A LLER ©

TREIRATEENFAZTHBBRARELHEFA
EEEBAENAE

Year ended December 31,

Loss for the year FNEE

Less: Bt

Income from licensing agreement ST AR

Add: /I

Changes in the carrying amount of preferred BEREEROSENZD)
shares liability

Listing expenses Esilch3

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

PARE s AR E DA ) R ERE R N RFI X

Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year®

FEBUBHRELAEHBEFABHED

Note:

(1) NON-HKFRS MEASURES

Non-HKFRS adjusted net loss for the year is defined as loss and total
comprehensive income for the year adjusted by adding back non-cash
adjustments and one-time events of (i) changes in the carrying amount of
preferred shares liability in relation to the redemption amount and conversion
features for our Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares, (ii)
Listing expenses, (iii) income from licensing agreement and (iv) equity-settled
share-based payment expenses. The above table reconciles our Non-HKFRS
adjusted net loss for the year with our loss.

HZE12A3101LEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARKET T
(2,129,780) (726,981)
(64,246)
1,763,499 669,978
28,112 10,558
109,858 14,998
(228,311) (95,693)
B3
(1) FEBPBREEUHESR

BB BHEENEAEFNBERFEOERRER
BENBREREEKREE  EPMEFRSRHERN
T—RUIEE : ()RARIELBREBRIELKAED
SHELEBREEEHNEEREERASENED (i)
EWRA  (i)FFATBEB LA+ R (iv) AR R A H AR
RERNNRFES - ERABFBBUBREEIEHE
FRBRFREEROLRE -
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Selected Data from Statement of Financial

Position

RIBRRZ A EEHE

As at December 31,
A12A31H

2021 2020

20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT

Total current assets MEEELE 2,208,894 913,623
Total non-current assets IFRBEELE 396,513 312,963
Total assets BERE 2,605,407 1,226,586
Total current liabilities mENBEERE 89,008 53,666
Total non-current liabilities EREABEE 20,912 1,918,888
Total liabilities BEQEE 109,920 1,972,554
Current assets REBEE

Other receivables and prepayments

Amount due from a related company

Pledged bank balances

Time deposits with original maturity over three
months

HA FEURIE S FA BUR
& — FEI B A R 3RIR
DIRIRIRTTAE AR

[REIEA A 3B =1 A &9 BifF K

46,800 18,146
= 13,051
25,508 11,083
8,157 806,247

2,128,429 65,096

2,208,894 913,623

Cash and cash equivalents Re kB EEY
Total current assets REEERE
Current liabilities REAE

Other payables and accruals
Amounts due to related companies

HABREN B R R &
FE{S BABSE X R FOR

59,153
13,684
10,289

5,882

89,008

Bank loans RITER
Lease liabilities HEARE
Total current liabilities REBEERAHE
Net current assets RBEEFE

2,119,886

859,957

Liquidity and Source of Funding and

Borrowing

Our primary uses of cash are to fund our clinical trials, manufacturing,
purchase of equipment and raw materials and other expenses. During the
Reporting Period, we primarily funded our working capital requirements
through net proceeds from the Global Offering and pre-IPO investments.
We closely monitor uses of cash and cash balances and strive to maintain
a healthy liquidity for our operations.

REBEZREZKFEUREH

HMNRSTEANRBRMNERSR  £E  RER
R EHRBIA R BRI ES - RIEHA - B
TEFBEHBEENMERRFRLERAMBEEHIKR
ARNBRMANEEESTE - RMBUERRE LIRS
RBENERER  BORBRENESERBDESKT -
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As at December 31, 2021, the current assets of the Group were
approximately RMB2,208.9 million, including cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB2,128.4 million, time deposits with an original
maturity over three months of approximately RMB8.2 million, pledged
bank balance of approximately RMB25.5 million and other current assets
of approximately RMB46.8 million. As at December 31, 2021, the current
liabilities of the Group were approximately RMB89.0 million, including
other payables and accruals of approximately RMB59.2 million, amounts
due to related companies of approximately RMB13.7 million, bank
borrowings of approximately RMB10.3 million and other current liabilities
of approximately RMB5.9 million.

Amounts due to related companies composed of rental payable and
payable for CRO services and are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
with a maximum credit terms of 30 days or on demand.

As of December 31, 2021, the Group had an unsecured bank loan of
RMB10.3 million which was repayable within one year or on demand.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. To achieve better risk control and minimize the cost of
funds, the Group’s treasury is centralized. Cash is generally placed in
deposits mostly denominated in U.S. Dollars, Hong Kong dollars and RMB.
The Group’s liquidity and financing requirements are reviewed regularly.

Pledge of Assets

Our pledged bank balance was approximately RMB25.5 million as of
December 31, 2021 (2020: RMB11.1 million), representing bank balances
we pledged with a bank required for the issue of a letter of credit for
importing certain machines and equipment.

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets forth the components of our key financial ratio for
the dates indicated:

. BEETWRAN

M2021F 12 A31H  AEBENRBEENAAR
#2,2080E B L  BRERERECEEVHARE
2,1284FE T  RIHEBB=EANTHETROA
R¥E82HE CHEARTESRNHARKE2.588T
REMRBEENARE46.8EE T ° H2021F12 A
31 - AEEMRBEBENAARKS.0BEET 2
EHMENRERESEROARESI.2EET « B
B ARBHNARK13. 788  RITERHARE
10358 Tk EMRBAENARES. 98T °

[N BERE N RISA BB RN S RENCRORB A
REER %8 EEMSRIORIAEEREE -

M2021F12A3118 - AEEHNEBERRTERAAR
¥10.3HE T - BR—FAKEERKEE -

FEERDBEVRBRETRERMBEEE - BEH
bR REEREESKAR - ARENMRERS
BhRER - BE—RFEFR - RBHUET BT
RAREE - AREERRTERDESRBETE -

BELRH

M2021F12A31 0  HANBIKFRITEBROBAR
#25.5B8(2020F : AR11.1BET) © BRI
AFEEAZEFARED S THES LREmMALIF TR
RISRTTHEER ©

FEYHLE

NREIIR PR B EAFAPIRY = B R AOERCEE S -

As at December 31,
A12A31H
2021
20214

FBEEO
BEAMBLER

Current ratio®
Gearing ratio®

24.8
N/ATER®

17.0
N/ATER®
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Notes:

(1)  Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities as of the
same date.

(2) Gearing ratio represents interest-bearing borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents and time deposits with original maturity over three months, divided
by total equity and multiplied by 100% as of the same date.

(3) As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, we were in a net cash position and thus
gearing ratio is not applicable.

Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2021, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitment

The capital commitment of the Group as at December 31, 2021
was approximately RMB194.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB40.3 million as compared with that of approximately
RMB154.4 million as at December 31, 2020, primarily attributable to
progress made in the construction of manufacturing facilities and R&D
activities.

Significant Investments

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not have any significant
investment.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any plans for material
investments and capital assets.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

We did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures for the year ended December 31, 2021.

FifeE -

(1)  RELEDERFRANORBEERARBBEH -

(2) EERBEHLTERANGESERRREERASSENR
[REH R BB =EATERER  FRAESAE A%
LA100%

(3) H2020%FK&2021F12A31H @ BMENFRESMR -
HutEEAEL R TEAA -

HAEE

R2021F12A31H » AEBIEEALAREE -

BXRE
M2021F12A31H  AEBMEREENAARYK
19478870 8202012 831BHARKE154.487
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N RSISER
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Employees and Remuneration

As at December 31, 2021, the Group had a total of 238 employees. The
following table sets forth the total number of employees by function as of
December 31, 2021:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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1B S R B

M2021F12/318  AEBMEE AL H238%EE - T
KETIR2021F12 A31 RIRBEEEI DR B A%

Number of % of

employees the total

EEHHE HEEEHES

Management =L 6 2.5
R&D e 77 32.4
Manufacturing KE 62 26.1
Quality control st 42 17.6
Sales and marketing SHE R A 27 11.3
Environmental, health and safety R - BRETE 1 0.4
Administrative 1T 23 9.7
Total st 238 100.0

The remuneration of the employees of the Group comprises salaries,
bonuses, employees provident fund and social security contributions, other
welfare payments and equity-settled share-based payment.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2021 was approximately RMB150.2 million, as compared
to approximately RMB35.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The increase was primarily attributable to (i) equity-settled share-based
payment was increased of approximately RMB83.5 million for pre-IPO
share option granted; (ii) Directors’ fee and emoluments was increased
of approximately RMB10.3 million; and (iii) an increase of approximately
RMB20.4 million in employee salaries and benefits in line with the
expansion in headcount.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group mainly operated in
China and a majority of its transactions were settled in RMB, the functional
currency of the Company’s primary subsidiaries. As at December 31,
2021, a significant amount of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Except for certain cash and cash
equivalents, prepayments on purchases of property, plant and equipment
and other payables denominated in foreign currencies, the Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations as at
December 31, 2021. Our Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of our net foreign exchange exposures and
seeks to minimize these exposures whenever possible.

FEEEEFHMOETE A4 EEAESRUEER
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi, aged 59, was appointed as the chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the CEO on January 20, 2017. He is mainly
responsible for the formulation of the corporate development strategies
and direction for our Group as well as overall day-to-day management of
our business and operations. Dr. Li Xiaoyi also holds directorship at each
subsidiary of our Group since its establishment.

Dr. Li has over 25 years of experience in pharmaceutical R&D as well as
management and strategic planning for pharmaceutical companies. Dr. Li
founded Lee’s Pharm in 1994 and has been the chief technical officer since
then. Dr. Li was appointed as an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Lee’s Pharm in September 2003, where he is responsible for
the overall operations and management and R&D of Lee’s Pharm and Dr.
Li resigned as the chief executive officer and the chief technical officer
and has been re-designed from an executive director to a non-executive
director of Lee’s Pharm since April 29, 2021.

In addition to his roles in Lee’s Pharm, Dr. Li also has multiple experience
in the management and strategic planning for many other pharmaceutical
institutions. Since 2014, he has been serving as the vice president of Hong
Kong Biotechnology Organization, mainly responsible for developing the
biotech industry in Hong Kong. Since March 2016, he has been serving
as the president of Guangzhou Pharmaceutical Association* (E/N#2g),
an academic and non-profit social organization formed by pharmaceutical
researchers in Guangzhou, where he is mainly responsible for providing
industrial insights for developing the pharmaceutical industry in
Guangzhou. Dr. Li is also a member of the review committee of Innovation
and Technology Fund of Hong Kong Government, a fund supported by the
government of Hong Kong to promote and facilitate technology companies.
Dr. Li obtained his Ph.D. in pharmacology from the medicine college of the
University of Illinois in the United States in May 1992.

Dr. Li has earned multiple awards and esteemed recognitions. He has
been an adjunct professor at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology since November 2013 and an honorary fellow since June
2016. In August 2018, he was awarded the leading innovation talent*
(E M A %71 %8 E A 74 ) by the Guangzhou government. In January 2018,
Dr. Li was appointed as a member of the People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Anhui Province in the PRC, and was honored with the 16th
World Outstanding Chinese Award (it #4412 A 4%) by the World Chinese
Business Investment Foundation (R EEIREERESE) in August 2018.
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Mr. Dai Xiangrong, aged 42, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on October 23, 2020. He is mainly
responsible for overseeing R&D and daily operation of our Group.

As a licensed pharmacist, Mr. Dai has over 14 years of extensive
experience in preclinical studies, clinical research and registration of new
drugs. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Dai had worked in Lee’s Pharm since
July 2007, where he was responsible for various new drug development
programs and succeeded in bringing the programs to the clinical trial
stage, and was further promoted to senior director of the R&D centre in
February 2016. Prior to the Listing Date, Mr. Dai resigned as the senior
director of the R&D center and ceased to hold any management position in
the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.

Mr. Dai obtained both his bachelor’s degree in horticulture and his
master’s degree in biochemistry from Anhui Agricultural University (Z# 2
K2 in Anhui Province, China, in July 2003 and June 2007, respectively.

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, aged 68, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on February 20, 2017 and is primarily responsible for
providing guidance and advice on the corporate and business strategies of
our Group.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun is an entrepreneur and had established and run
several companies since the 1990s. Prior to joining our Group, she joined
Lee’s Pharm in April 1997. She has been appointed as an executive
director and managing director of Lee’s Pharm since December 2001,
and further as the chief marketing and sales officer of Lee’s Pharm since
September 2003, where she was responsible for the sales and marketing
activities of Lee’s Pharm.

Ms. Tiantian Zhang, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on February 5, 2021 and is primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group.
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Ms. Zhang has over 10 years of management and investment experience
in healthcare industry. From January 2009 to April 2012, Ms. Zhang
worked as a manager of business development at Hutchison MediPharma
Limited, which is a subsidiary of Hutchison China MediTech Limited, a
company whose share are traded on the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: HCM),
where she was responsible for drug out-licensing and project management.
From July 2014 to December 2015, Ms. Zhang worked as an associate
manager at Zimmer Biomet Holdings, Inc., a company whose shares are
traded on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: ZBH), where she
was responsible for management of strategic initiatives. In January 2016,
Ms. Zhang joined Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers China (JUsZEREFEEE)
as a vice president, focusing on the firm’s life science investment practice
and portfolio management. Ms. Zhang joined Panacea Venture since
January 2018 and is now a partner; Panacea Venture is a venture capital
firm focusing on investments in innovative and transformative early and
growth stage healthcare and life sciences companies worldwide, where she
involves in the firm'’s life science practice, portfolio management and fund-
raising.

Ms. Zhang graduated from the University of Texas at Austin, the United
States with a bachelor of science degree in biochemistry in December
2006. She obtained a master degree in biotechnology from the Graduate
School of Arts and Sciences of Columbia University, the United States in
October 2008, and a master of business administration degree from the
Fuqua School of Business of Duke University, the United States, in May
2014.

Ms. Cai Li, aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive Director on
October 23, 2020 and is mainly responsible for providing guidance and
advice on the corporate and business strategies.

From 2007 through 2008, Ms. Cai worked as a research analyst at Credit
Suisse AG (New York), where she was responsible for equity research for
large cap of medical supplies and devices companies. From March 2009
to July 2011, Ms. Cai worked as an investment associate at HAO Capital
(Haotian Jinsheng Investment Management (Beijing) Limited), focusing on
growth stage healthcare investments. Ms. Cai joined TPG Capital in August
2011 and is latest serving as a managing director of TPG Capital, a leading
global alternative asset firm, responsible for TPG Capital’s healthcare
investments in Greater China.
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Ms. Cai also concurrently holds the following positions outside our Group:

. a supervisor at Shanghai Deyu Deqi Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. (E/8EEBBAXEERAANAE MR QA A) since
November 2016;

. a non-executive director of Novotech Health Holdings Pte. Ltd
("NHH") invested by TPG Capital since May 12, 2021. Ms. Cai joined
NHH in August 2017 as a director of PPC Holding Company (Cayman)
and its subsidiaries;

. a non-executive director at Kangji Medical Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9997), since March 2020;

. a non-executive director at Shanghai Bio-heart Biological Technology
Co., Ltd. (BEEBLZEMEMTIRHDBRAR]) since September 2020; and

. a non-executive director at Dingdang Health Technology Group Ltd.
since May 2021.

Ms. Cai obtained her bachelor’s degree in biomedical engineering and
economics from Yale University in Connecticut, the United States in May
2007.

Mr. Chen Yu, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive Director on
October 23, 2020 and is mainly responsible for providing guidance and
advice on the corporate and business strategies.

Mr. Chen has over 14 years of experience in investment. From June 2007
to September 2007 and from January 2008 to September 2010, he was an
analyst in the investment banking department of Bank of America Merrill
Lynch. From September 2010 to June 2011, he served as an associate
of the China investment banking department at Citigroup Global Markets
Asia Limited. From January 2012 to July 2015, he was a senior investment
manager of Shanghai Panxin Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. (&
HEEREREEIEARAR]). Since August 2015, he has been an executive
director, and currently managing director, of Hillhouse.

Mr. Chen has been serving as a director of JHBP (CY) Holdings Limited, a
pharmaceutical company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 6998), since December 2018.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering (information
and communication engineering) from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 2003, a master’s degree in electrical
engineering from Yale University in Connecticut, the United States in May
2005 and a master’s degree in management science and engineering from
Stanford University in California, the United States in January 2008.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing, aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021.

Mr. Wong holds a master’s degree in executive business administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the
Chartered Governance Institute. He is also a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a chartered member of the
Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment. Mr. Wong was awarded
the Medal of Honor by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of CRCC
High-Tech Equipment Corporation Limited (a public company with H shares
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1786)), Guangzhou Baiyunshan
Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited (a public company with A
shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600332) and
H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 874)), Inner Mongolia
Yitai Coal Co., Ltd. (a public company with B shares listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 900948) and H shares listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 3948)), Wine's Link International Holdings Limited
(a public company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8509)), and
Jiangxi Bank Co., Ltd. (a public company with H shares listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1916)).

Mr. Wong is a member of the Anhui Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a panel member of Securities
and Futures Appeals Tribunal and Public Interest Entities Auditors Review
Tribunal, a member of the Construction Industry Council, the Betting and
Lotteries Commission and the Medical Council of Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong is the managing partner and responsible officer of Hermitage
Capital HK Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO. Prior to this,
he had worked with an international audit firm for four years and then a
listed company as chief financial officer for seven years, after which he
co-founded Silk Road International Capital Limited (a licensed corporation
formerly known as Legend Capital Partners Inc.) and led the company
as the executive director and responsible officer for twenty-three years.
Overall, he has over three decades of solid experience in corporate
management and governance, investment management and advisory,
accounting and finance.
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Prof. Lo Yuk Lam, aged 73, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prof. Lo has extensive experience in biotechnology industry, corporate
management, academic research and community service. Since July
2019, he has been serving as the chairman of GT Healthcare Capital
Partners, a private investment partnership specializing in healthcare
investments. From July 2007 to June 2009, he was a member of the
Hong Kong Government Research Grants Council. He was the chairman
of the Advisory Council on Food and Environmental Hygiene of the Hong
Kong Government from April 2015 to March 2021 and he has been the
president for HK Bio-Med Innotech Association. He also serves as the
honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Biotechnology Organisation. Since
February 2019, he has been serving as the partner of Hongsen Investment
Management Ltd, an investment company focusing on growing biotech
companies.

Prof. Lo also holds the following positions outside our Group:

. an independent director of Sinovac Biotech Ltd., a company whose
shares are listed on NASDAQ Global Select Market (ticker symbol:
SVA), since March 2006; and

. an independent non-executive director of Luye Pharma Group Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2186), since June 2014.

In recognition of his leadership in the community and dedication to his
field, Prof. Lo has received many awards. In 2000, he was the first to be
bestowed with the title of honorary fellow by the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology for his role in establishing Hong Kong’s
biotechnology industry. He was awarded China’s “Top Ten Financial and
Intelligent Persons” in 2007 in recognition of his outstanding contribution
to economic development and business innovation in China. He was
honored with the World Outstanding Chinese Award (it 524 Hi 3 A #%) by
the World Chinese Business Investment Foundation (ttt R ZE & & & &
& ) in June 2008, the Pericles International Prize 2019 by the Alcmaeon
International Academy in June 2019, and the HKSAR Bronze Bauhinia Star
by the government of Hong Kong in October 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Lau Lit Fui, aged 59, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as president and chief operating officer of our Group on April
1, 2019 and reassigned as CSO on January 18, 2022. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall scientific functions of our Group,
including basic and applied research projects, as well as the development
of new processes, technologies or projects. He is also responsible for
promoting the efficiency, profitability and competitive position of our
Group.
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Dr. Lau has 24 years of extensive experience in operation management
and R&D of new drugs. From August 1998 to January 2008, he worked
in the global R&D department of Pfizer Inc., a worldwide leading
pharmaceutical company, where his last position was senior principal
scientist heading a biology laboratory and supervising technicians in testing
drug candidates. From January 2008 to August 2012, Dr. Lau worked
as the associate director of the new product and alliance development
department of GlaxoSmithKline (China) R&D Co., Ltd., a science-led
global healthcare company, where he was responsible for department
management and R&D of new drugs treating neurodegenerative diseases.
Dr. Lau joined Lee’s Pharm in October 2012 and had been managing the
operation and R&D of Lee’s Pharm until April 2016.

Dr. Lau obtained both his bachelor’s degree in science and master degree
of philosophy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December
1985 and December 1987, respectively, where he was awarded the
Wong Siew Chan Scholarship. In December 1993, he obtained his Ph.D.
in biochemical science from the University of Connecticut in the United
States. He completed his research fellowship in neuroscience at the School
of Medicine of John Hopkins University in the United States in August
1998.

Dr. Lau’s outstanding performances have been recognized by several
leading corporations. In February 1991, he was granted SmithKline
Beecham Student Pharmacology Award by SmithKline Beecham
Pharmaceuticals, a company focused on pharmaceuticals, biologics,
vaccines, and consumer healthcare. During his employment with Pfizer,
Inc., he was granted several awards by the global research & development
department of the company, for his leadership, team work spirit and
contribution in R&D. In 2014, he was awarded the Medicines for Life
Award by UTASIA Inc., a subsidiary of United Therapeutics Corporation,
a company mainly focusing on pharmaceutical preparations business.
In 2018, Dr. Lau received an award from CVie Therapeutics Co. Ltd., a
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm, for his sustained contribution and commitment.

Ms. Feng Xinyan, aged 44, was appointed as the CFO of our Group on
December 7, 2020 and appointed for another dual role as the CBO on
January 18, 2022. She is primarily responsible for financial planning and
initiatives and investor relations management, and also oversees the
overall operation of our Group.
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From 2000 to 2002, she worked as an analyst at McKinsey & Company.
From August 2004 to July 2012, she worked at Goldman Sachs (Asia)
L.L.C. and successively held various positions, including the executive
director. From July 2012 to September 2014, she served as managing
director and head of China equity capital markets at Standard Chartered
Bank. From September 2014 to August 2018, she served as executive
director of strategic business development and investor relations at Global
Brands Group Holding Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0787). She served
as chief financial officer at ACEA Therapeutics, Inc, a company engaged
in developing and delivering innovative treatments to life-threatening
diseases from April 2019 to November 2019.

Ms. Feng obtained her bachelor’s degree in computer appliance from
Fudan University (B X%) in Shanghai, China in July 1998. She obtained
a master’s degree in computer science from University of Virginia in the
United States in August 2000, and a master of business administration
degree from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business in the
United States in March 2004.

Dr. Albert Tsai Jr., aged 48, was appointed as the CMO of our Group on
June 1, 2021. He is primarily responsible for leading the Group to advance
its assets through the clinical development process as well as supporting
the post-approval medical affairs for the Group’s commercial products (e.g.
safety, risk management, thought leader relationships).

Dr. Tsai has 20 years of healthcare experience across the spectrum of
pharmaceuticals, biotech, medical devices and healthcare consulting,
as well as in various country markets including China, U.S., Japan and
Southeast Asia. From 2019 to 2021, he served as the vice president,
regional medical officer of the Asia-Pacific region at PPD Inc., a
leading global contract research organization, responsible for business
development and providing medical/scientific product development
advisory to biotech companies in Asia. Prior to that, he served as vice
president, Asia Pacific at The Medicines Company Hong Kong, a company
listed on the NASDAQ (stock code: MDCO) from 2014 to 2019, where he
developed and implemented the Asia expansion strategy for The Medicines
Company Hong Kong with a primary focus on establishing their presence
in China and Japan. From 1997 to 2014, he worked in various leading
global pharmaceutical companies including Bayer Schering Pharma AG,
Merck Sharp & Dohme (Asia) Ltd., Amgen Inc. and GE Healthcare Inc. in
senior medical positions.

Dr. Tsai obtained his doctor of medicine from Northwestern University and
master of business administration in strategy and finance from University
of Southern California.
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Dr. Li Lok Yee Mandy, aged 43, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as the senior vice president, R&D of our Group on September 1,
2020. She is mainly responsible for facilitating the business development
and execution of scientific strategies of research and project management
(including both in-licensed and in-house developed pipeline products) of
our Group.

From 2004 to 2006, Dr. Li worked as a research associate at the
department of chemical pathology of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. From 2006 to 2007, she worked as a post-doctoral fellow at the
department of surgery of the University of Hong Kong. From October
2007 to April 2010, Dr. Li served as a research scientist of Bio-Cancer
Treatment International Limited, a Hong Kong company focused on the
R&D of innovative anticancer drugs, where she led a research team to
conduct research on innovative anti-cancer, playing an active role in
responding to FDA queries.

Dr. Li joined Lee’s Pharm in February 2014, where she was first
responsible for the R&D of new drugs, project management, business
development and drug licensing, and further promoted to a senior vice
president of Lee’s Pharm, leading and managing Lee’s Pharm’s R&D
center.

Dr. Li obtained her bachelor of science degree in biochemistry and her
Ph.D. in biochemistry from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, in
December 2000 and December 2004, respectively.

Mr. Zhang Guohui, aged 47, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as deputy general manager of our Group on July 1, 2016. He is
mainly responsible for overseeing manufacturing and logistics function of
our Group.

Mr. Zhang has over 23 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 1997 and until June 2016, Mr. Zhang had been
working in Lee’s Pharm for more than 18 years. He was first responsible
for the R&D of new drugs, quality control and good manufacturing practice
management and further promoted as the head of R&D of the company,
where he accumulated extensive experience in the R&D and registration of
new drugs, as well as project management.

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in biochemical engineering from
the Beijing Institute of Light Industry (Jt# T 2247), currently known as
Beijing Technology and Business University (1t R TG A2) in Beijing, China
in July 1997. He obtained his master’s degree in business administration
from Asia International Open University (Macau) in January 2009.
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Mr. Jiang Su, aged 41, joined our Group in January 2018 and was
appointed as the clinical operations director of our Group on June 1, 2019.
He is mainly responsible for conducting and organizing clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang has over 18 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 2003 and until January 2018, Mr. Jiang had
been working in Lee’s Pharm for almost 15 years. He was first responsible
for carrying out clinical trials and further promoted to the head of clinical
quality in charge of quality control of clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang obtained his bachelor’s degree in maternal and child health from
the Anhui Medical University (% # % &} X2 ) in Anhui Province, China in
June 2003.

Mr. Ma Jian, aged 35, joined our Group in January 2017. He was
appointed as assistant manager of quality assurance and quality control
on September 1, 2018, and was further promoted as the vice president of
quality control of our Group in 2021. He is mainly responsible for devising
procedures to inspect and report quality assurance issues, identifying
critical control points and preventive measures.

From 2007 to 2012, Mr. Ma had been working in the R&D department of
various pharmaceutical companies. From March 2012 to January 2017,
Mr. Ma had been working at Lee’s Pharm where he was first the leader of
document quality assurance group and further promoted as the leader of
onsite quality assurance.

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’s degree in medicine from Anhui Medical
University (Z#%&#®}X2) in Anhui Province, China in June 2007.

Mr. Mauro Bove, aged 66, was appointed as the business development
director of our Group on January 1, 2019. He is mainly responsible for
overseeing business development activities and identifying new business
opportunities and finalizing the relevant negotiations on a global basis.

Mr. Bove has almost 40 years of business and management experience
within the pharmaceutical industry working in Europe, North America and
Asia. Mr. Bove led for many years until March 2014 the corporate and
business development of Sigma-Tau Finanziaria S.p.A.. From May 2005
to December 2014, he served as a non-executive director of Lee’s Pharm.
From December 2014 to December 2018, he served as the senior vice
president of corporate and business development department of Lee’s
Pharm, overseeing the business development activities and identifying
new business opportunities for the group.
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In addition to the above, Mr. Bove has also served as a director of
many other private or listed pharmaceutical companies. He serves as
a director at RegeneRx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical
company listed on the OTCQB market under the ticker symbol "RGRX"
in the United States; Kato Pharmaceuticals Incorporation, a privately
held U.S. bio-pharmaceutical company dedicated to the development of
novel therapies for pathologies of the eye with an emphasis on unmet
medical needs; Adastra Pharmaceuticals Inc., a private U.S. clinical-
stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing novel solutions to
advance patient care in oncology; and Eyesense AG, a European company
focusing on the scientific R&D in the area of medical devices applied to the
diabetes segment.

Mr. Bove obtained his law degree from the University of Parma in Italy
in July 1980. In 1985, he attended the Academy of American and
International Law at International and Comparative Law Center in Texas,
the United States.

Mr. Feng Jiang, aged 46, was appointed as sales and marketing
director of our Group on October 1, 2020. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the branding, sales and marketing activities of our Group.

From 2000 to 2006, Mr. Feng served at various China offices of
multinational pharmaceutical companies as sales or medical representative.
From January 2007 to April 2010, he worked for Eli Lilly Asia, Inc., where
he was responsible for the promotion and sales of products in Guangdong
Province and his last position was regional manager. From April 2010
to September 2020, he served successively as the regional manager
and deputy director of the ophthalmic business department of Allergan
Information Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, where he was responsible
for the sales and marketing of the company’s ophthalmic pharmaceutical
products and was granted several awards by the company in recognition
of his great performance.

Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor’s degree in biotechnology from South China
Agricultural University (2% A2) in Guangdong Province, China in July
1999.

Ms. Yau Suk Yan, aged 39, was appointed as the financial controller and
the company secretary of our Company on September 9, 2019. She is
responsible for management and supervision of auditing, report analysis
and budget control of our Group.
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From September 2004 to January 2010, Ms. Yau served as a manager at
KPMG. From February 2010 to July 2015, she was the financial controller
and company secretary of Active Group Holdings Limited, currently known
as Sino Energy International Limited (aEEFRIENREE AR A E]), a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1096), where she was in charge of finance management and audit
of the group. From July 2015 to September 2019, Ms. Yau served as
the financial controller and company secretary of Uni-Bio Science Group
Limited (Bt AR E£E AR A7), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 690), where she was
responsible for finance management and audit of the group.

Ms. Yau obtained her bachelor’s degree of arts (with honors) in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November
2004 and completed the CPA qualification programme and passed the
professional examination for membership admission and was issued with a
practicing certificate by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in August 2006. She has been a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2008 and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since March 2016.

Dr. Jin Yixuan, aged 40, joined our Group as the associate medical
director on October 8, 2019, mainly responsible for overseeing clinical
trial development in terms of protocol development and providing medical
insight for clinical trial strategy and model design.

Dr. Jin started her career as an attending physician of ophthalmology in
Nanhai People’s Hospital of Foshan City* (ffLU T &EAREER) from 2011
to 2014. She worked at Beijing Novartis Pharma Co., Ltd. (dt R EAE
[R’2d]), a global healthcare company from June 2018 to September 2019,
where her last position was medical science liaison manager.

Dr. Jin obtained her master’s degree in clinical medicine from Harbin
Medical University (FEEERIAZ) in Heilongjiang Province, China, in July
2008. She then obtained her doctor’s degree in ophthalmology from Sun
Yat-sen University (F1LAZ) in Guangdong Province, China in June 2011.

Dr. Xie Zhijun, age 50, joined our Group as the head of pre-clinical
R&D on September 22, 2021, mainly responsible for project screening
and evaluating; formulation procedure and analytical methods exploring,
verifying and transferring; API custom-manufacturing and collaborator
selecting; and project management and process optimization.

Dr. Xie focused on scientific research and production for more than 25
years, and had a sensitive touch to the development trend of international
bio- and chemo-drugs.
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From 2002 to 2021, Dr. Xie had been working as senior management in
several R&D laboratory and pharmaceutical companies such as Zhongshan
Follow Biotech Co., Ltd ( # L & i& 4£ % & ¥ & R 2 & ), Yangtze River
Pharmaceutical Group Limited (35 F /L % £ @ AR A 7)) and Hunan Haili
Chemical Co., Ltd. C#E/EFE TRMHBRAF]).

Dr. Xie obtained his master degree in Organic Chemistry from Hunan
Normal University (4 /@ i # X2 ) in Hunan Province, China in July 2003
and his PhD degree in Organic Chemistry from Nanjing University (R AZ)
in Jiangsu Province, China in July 2008.

Ms. Carol Liu, aged 38, joined our Group as head of regulatory affairs
on January 4, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing industry specific
practices and ensuring all government and regulations are being met
throughout drug registration of the Group.

Ms. Liu has worked for GlaxoSmithKline plc (GSK) and Lee’s Pharm from
2007 to 2021. In the past 14 years of professional career, she focused
on the area of regulatory affairs, especially for innovative drugs including
biological products and chemical drugs. She obtained her master of
science degree in the School of Pharmacy of Peking University (1t 2 K2).

Ms. Yang Lei, aged 41, joined our Group as general counsel on October
11, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing legal and compliance functions
of our Group.

Ms. Yang started her career at Shanghai Xuhui District Government’s
Supervision Commission (_E/&MHRERARBMAHAZE) in 2003. Since 2006
she worked for General Electronics after her graduation from the master
program in Germany. She joined Roche China as legal manager since 2011
and since then she focused in healthcare industry and had accumulated
rich experience in legal and compliance practice. Starting from 2015, she
joined USP China (EEIZHMZ 5 g+ EER 4 H0) as director of legal, compliance
and ethics.

Ms. Yang is pursuing PhD. in philosophy at Chinese Academy of Social
Science (FFEI#&%}E0t). She obtained a master’s degree in European and
international law from Bremen University, Germany. She also obtained a
bachelor’s degree in civil and commercial law from East China University
of Law and Politics (ZERBUEAE).
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EXTERNAL CONSULTANT

Dr. Samir Chandrakant Patel, aged 61, was engaged by our Company
as strategy consultant of our Group on April 9, 2020, to provide our Group
with consulting services in relation to, among others, planning business
strategies, sourcing business development opportunities, and providing
protocol inputs and clinical development integration inputs.

Dr. Patel has over thirty years of extensive experience in ophthalmology,
including 10 years in academic medicine and 20 years in the ophthalmic
pharmaceutical industry. He obtained his degree of doctor of medicine
from the medical school of University of Massachusetts in the United States
in 1985 and completed his residency in ophthalmology at the University of
Chicago in 1990. Further, Dr. Patel completed his clinical retinal fellowship
at the Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary at the Harvard Medical School,
being the primary teaching hospital of Harvard Ophthalmology. Dr. Patel
was duly elected as a fellow by the American Academy of Ophthalmology
in 1992. Dr. Patel commenced his practice in academic ophthalmology
at the University of Chicago in 1992 where he eventually served as an
associate professor of ophthalmology and the director of retina service,
until July 2000.

Dr. Patel further gained valuable insights and experience in the
management and operation of pharmaceutical companies since 2000 when
he first started his own business by co-founding Eyetech Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., a biopharmaceutical company specializing in novel therapeutics to
treat eye diseases, where he served as a director and chief of clinical
and commercial strategy. In 2007, Dr. Patel co-founded Ophthotech
Corporation, a biopharmaceutical company listed on the NASDAQ under
the ticker symbol "OPHT” and specializing in the development of novel
therapeutics to treat ophthalmic diseases (currently known as IVERIC
bio, Inc. and listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the ticker
symbol “ISEE”), and served as the company’s founding CEO, president
and vice chairman of its board of directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yau Suk Yan, our company secretary, was appointed on September 9,
2019. Ms. Yau is also our financial controller. For details of her biography,
please see “-Senior Management.”

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no information is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rule.
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Corporate Governance Report’

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report of the
Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since April 29, 2021.
The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
CG Code. As the Company became listed on April 29, 2021, one Audit
Committee meeting, one Remuneration Committee meeting and one
Nomination Committee meeting were held during the period from the
Listing Date and up to December 31, 2021. Pursuant to code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and not be performed by the same individual. Dr.
Li Xiaoyi currently serves as both the Chairman of the Board and the
CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been operating and managing our Group since its
establishment, and our Directors consider that the present arrangement
is beneficial to and in the interest of our Company and our Shareholders
as a whole and the deviation from code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG
Code is appropriate in such circumstance. For details on the deviation from
Code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG code, please see “- THE BOARD
- (8) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”. Save as disclosed above,
during the period from the Listing Date and up to December 31, 2021, our
Directors consider that the Company has complied with applicable code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
(1) Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
overseeing the Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established five
Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Investment Committee
and the Executive Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board
committees’ responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole at all times.
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(2) Directors’ and Senior Management’'s

Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

(3) Board Composition

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Board comprised
two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors who held office
from the Listing Date till December 31, 2021 were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
Ms. Tiantian Zhang

Ms. Cai Li

Mr. Chen Yu

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria (resigned on April 11, 2022)

Save for the resignation of Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria as an independent
non-executive Director which took effect from April 11, 2022, all the
abovenamed Directors remained as Directors of the Company up to
the date of this annual report.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s sister. Save for this,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the Board members.
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On April 11, 2022, Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria has resigned as an
independent non-executive Director. Following the resignation of Dr.
Tam Lai Fan Gloria with effect from April 11, 2022, the Company has
two independent non-executive Directors. Following her resignation,
the total number of independent non-executive Directors accounts
for less than one-third of Board members, and hence the Company
fails to meet the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules and
the number of independent non-executive Directors and the number
of members of the Audit Committee fall below the minimum number
required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. As such,
the Board will make its best endeavors to identify suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy as soon as practicable and within three months
from April 11, 2022 in order to ensure compliance by the Company
with the requirements under the Listing Rules.

Under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, at least one independent
non-executive Director should possess appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

(4) Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the nomination
committee (or the board) shall have a policy concerning diversity
of board members, and shall disclose the policy on diversity or a
summary of the policy in the corporate governance report.

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to
achieve and maintain diversity of the Board in order to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board. Pursuant to the Board Diversity
Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural,
education background, ethnicity and length of service. The Directors
have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including knowledge
and experience in the areas of management, business development,
R&D, quality control and corporate finance. They obtained degrees
in various majors including medicine, biochemistry and business
administration. Furthermore, the Board has a wide range of age,
ranging from 38 years old to 73 years old.
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The Board Diversity Policy specifies that the appointment of
Directors will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
evaluated against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural,
education background, ethnicity and length of service.

The composition of the Board will be disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report every year and the Nomination Committee will
supervise the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will review the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy, as appropriate, discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

As of December 31, 2021, the diversity of the Board is illustrated
as below. Further details on the biographies and experience of the
Directors are set out on page 40 to page 53 of this annual report.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board, and is of the opinion that
the structure of the Board is reasonable, and the experiences and
skills of the Directors in various aspects and fields can enable the
Company to maintain high standard of operation.

Age Group
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(5) Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diverse
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth.
The Company is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and
selection practices at all levels (from the Board downwards) are
appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered. The Nomination Committee will discuss periodically and
when necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity, including gender diversity, on the Board and recommend
them to the Board for adoption. In particular, the Nomination
Committee will identify and make recommendations to the Board to
implement programs that will assist in the development of a broader
and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced employees that, in
time, will prepare them for Board positions.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company also taken, and will
continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of
the Company, including but without limitation at the Board and the
management levels. In particular, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun and Ms. Cai
Li, each a non-executive Directors, is a female. The CBO and CFO,
Ms. Feng Xinyan, the senior vice president, R&D of the Group, Dr. Li
Lok Yee Mandy, the financial controller and company secretary, Ms.
Yau Suk Yan, the head of regulatory affairs, Ms. Carol Liu, and the
general counsel, Ms. Yang Lei are also female.

As at the date of this annual report, the diversity of employees of
the Company is illustrated as below.
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(7)

Confirmation of Independence by the
Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors and Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria (who resigned as
independent non-executive Director on April 11, 2022) an annual
confirmation in writing of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi,
Mr. Dai Xiangrong, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Tiantian
Zhang, Ms. Cai Li, Mr. Chen Yu, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Prof. Lo
Yuk Lam and Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria®® were regularly briefed on
the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be provided
to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.

Prior to the Listing, each of the aforesaid Directors has attended
the training courses conducted by the Hong Kong legal adviser of
the Company. The content of such training related to the duties of
directors and on-going obligations of listed companies.

Note:

(1) On April 11, 2022, Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria has resigned as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company.
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(8) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (8) TERTHAEH

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and not be
performed by the same individual. Dr. Li Xiaoyi currently serves as
both the Chairman of the Board and the CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been
operating and managing our Group since its establishment. Our
Board believes that vesting the roles of both CEO and Chairman of
the Board in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership and efficient discharge of executive functions within our
Group. We consider that the balance of power and authority of the
present arrangement will not be impaired as the Board comprises
eight other experienced and high-calibre individuals who would be
able to offer advice from various perspectives. In addition, for major
decisions of our Group, our Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.

Therefore, our Directors consider that the present arrangement
is beneficial to and in the interest of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from Code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of our Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman of the Board and CEO is
necessary.

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance (which is of critical importance to our development) to
protect the interest of the Shareholders. Save as disclosed above,
our Directors consider that the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
report.

(9) Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company on April 1, 2021. The initial term of their
respective service contracts shall commence from the Listing
Date and continue for a period of three years until terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the service contract
or by our executive Directors giving to us not less than thirty days’
prior notice in writing.
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Each of our non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company
on April 1, 2021. The initial term for their appointment letters shall
commence from the Listing Date and continue for a period of three
years until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not
less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office and be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting,
provided that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall retain office
until the close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible
for re-election thereat.

(10) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and

General Meeting

The Company became listed on April 29, 2021. The Company adopts
the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at least four times
a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Remuneration
Committee shall meet at least once every year and the Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Due notice should
be given for all Board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular
meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary
or the duly appointed secretary of the relevant Board committees
with copies circulated to relevant Board or Board Committee for
comments and records.

The Board has established the Investment Committee and Executive
Committee on November 26, 2021 to handle affairs relating to
the investment aspects of the Company, further regulate the
governance structure of the Board and safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on April 29, 2021, two
Board meetings, one Audit Committee meeting, one Remuneration
Committee meeting and one Nomination Committee meeting were
held during the period from the Listing Date and up to December 31,
2021.
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A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board TR#F B LETHHEEEZ2021F12A31H1E
meetings, committee meetings and general meeting during the B EEREFEYE ZESERAKRREKX
period from the Listing Date and up to December 31, 2021 is set out @ B E

in the following table below:

Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Executive General

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Director 42 Exg BRZEE yHzee REZEE REZEE Hi71ZER REAE
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Dr. Li Xiaoyi TR 2 - - 1 - - -
Mr. Dai Xiangrong BMREE 2 - - - - - -
Non-executive Directors: FHUTES
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee — Zffit 2 - - - - - -
Ms. Tiantian Zhang Rt 2 - 1 - - - -
Ms. Cai Li 2zt 2 1 - - - - -
Mr. Chen Yu REkk 2 - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive Bi¥HTEE:

Directors:
Mr. Wong Hin Wing BERRA 2 1 1 1 - - -
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam ESHAR 2 - 1 1 - - -
Dr. Tam Lai Fan Glorial® EEAREV 2 1 - - - - -
Note: FfsE -
(1) On April 11, 2022, Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria has resigned as an (1) HA2022547118 @ EBSBLRHIARAE
independent non-executive Director of the Company. SNIEHITESE -
(11)Model Code for Securities Transactions (11) E1TEFXZHEZEFR

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to KRR BEMA LT RBM SR+ Fr8 e iZ 2E<F Al -
the Listing Rules as its securities code to regulate the dealing by the EREBSEEREESTETARABERIHN
Directors in securities of the Company. BHPH| -
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have KARRNAMZEESEHABESAE  BEHEE
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the RN LT ABAERRE B BB E~FIREsT
period from the Listing Date to the date of this report. No incident of Bl o RARWTHMBAEEBARBANEEEN
non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees who are likely EEWEEFIRETREM -

to be in possession of inside information of the Company was noted
by the Company.
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(12) Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and
are encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management on the Company’s behalf.

(13) Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and has delegated the corporate
governance duties to the Audit Committee which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

(e) review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES BEEZEE

(1) Nomination Committee (1) ZEZ5E

We established a Nomination Committee on April 1, 2021 with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As at
the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee currently
comprises one executive Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and
Mr. Wong Hin Wing. Dr. Li Xiaoyi is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, diversity, size and composition of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to
make recommendations to our Board regarding the appointment of
Directors and Board succession. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the respective website
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on April 29, 2021,
one Nomination Committee meeting was held during the Reporting
Period and the attendance record of the committee members is set
out in the section headed “Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and
General Meeting” of this report. The following is a summary of key
work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Reporting
Period:

. assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision.
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Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code.
The Director Nomination Policy sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall identify, consider and recommend
to the Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors and
to make recommendations to the Shareholders. The ultimate
responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors rests with
the entire Board.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
nomination, appointment of new Directors in accordance with the
following procedures and process: (a) the Nomination Committee
shall first review and assess factors relating to the diversity of
the Board, including but not limited to professional experience,
skill, knowledge and length of service, gender, age, cultural and
education background, and give consideration to the candidate’s
willingness to devote adequate time to the Board and independence
of each independent non-executive Directors based on the
requirements of the Listing Rules as amended from time to time;
and (b) the Nomination Committee shall then nominate suitable
candidates to the Board based on the then-current and anticipated
future leadership needs of the Company, with a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company.

For the re-election of Directors at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution and
service to the Company of the retiring Directors, including its
attendance at Board meetings, Board committee meetings and
general meetings (if applicable), and his/her level of participation
and performance on the Board. The Nominating Committee shall
require the nominee to submit updated biographical information
and the consent to be re-elected as a Director; and should review
and determine whether retiring Directors still meet the criteria for
Directors’ election. The Nominating Committee shall then make
recommendations to the Board on the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee shall also monitor and review the
implementation of the nomination policy, as appropriate from time
to time, and will report to the Board annually.
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(3) FiHZESE

(3) Remuneration Committee

We established a Remuneration Committee on April 1, 2021 with
its written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules.
As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
currently comprises two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Wong Hin Wing, and one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Tiantian Zhang. Prof. Lo Yuk Lam is
the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) assessing performance of
executive Directors; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
our policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing the policy on such remuneration; (iii)
determining the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management; and (iv) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on April 29, 2021, one
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the Reporting
Period and the attendance record of the committee members is set
out in the section headed “Board Meetings, Committee Meetings
and General Meeting” of this report. The following is a summary of
key work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
Reporting Period:

. made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of the individual executive Directors and senior
management;

. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the

Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management; and

. reviewed the performance of duties of Directors and senior
management of the Company and conducted annual
performance appraisals on them.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the second model
described in code provision E.1.2(c) in Part 2 of the CG Code (i.e.
make recommendation to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of the Group).
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Remuneration by band of the senior management (including two
Directors) of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2021 are
set out below:

- . XRERWE

BZE2021F12 8318 IFFERFHEESZ 5
FEBSREBAE(BEMABESR)HOHIM
T

Number of senior

Remuneration band (HK$) management
S E (B T) EBREEABAY
0-10,000,000 13
10,000,001-20,000,000 2
20,000,001-30,000,000 -
30,000,001-40,000,000 -
40,000,001-50,000,000 1

(4) Audit Committee

We established an Audit Committee on April 1, 2021 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprised of one non-executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors from the Listing Date to April
11, 2022. On April 11, 2022, Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria has resigned as
an independent non-executive Director and ceased to be a member
of the Audit Committee. Following the resignation of Dr. Tam, the
Audit Committee comprises of only two members, namely, Mr. Wong
Hin Wing, an independent non-executive Director and Ms. Cai Li, a
non-executive Director, which results in that the number of members
of the Audit Committee falls below the minimum number required
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. As such, the Board will make
its best endeavors to identify suitable candidate to fill the vacancy as
soon as practicable and within three months from April 11, 2022 in
order to ensure compliance by the Company with the requirements
under the Listing Rules. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, being the chairman of
the committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and the risk management and internal controls system
of our Group, review the financial information of our Company,
review the effectiveness of internal audit function, consider issues
relating to the external auditors and their appointment, review and
approve connected transactions and to advise the Board. The Audit
Committee is also responsible for integrity audit and inspection in
accordance with the whistleblowing policy, which provides proper
arrangements for employees, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control and
other matters. The whistleblowing policy aims to provide reporting
channels and guidance on reporting possible improprieties in matters
of financial reporting or other matters, and reassurance to persons
reporting his or her concerns under this policy of the protection that
the Company will extend to them against unfair disciplinary action or
victimization for any genuine reports made.
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Due to the fact that the Company was listed on April 29, 2021, one
Audit Committee meeting was held during the Reporting Period
and the attendance record of the committee members is set out
in the section headed “Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and
General Meeting” of this report. The following is a summary of work
performed by the Audit Committee during the Reporting Period:

. reviewed together with the management the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Company and the
financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2021;
and

. reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
and the effectiveness of internal audit function and discussed
with the management and internal audit on their findings. For
details, please refer to the section headed “Risk Management
and Internal Control” of this report.

(5) Investment Committee

We established the Investment Committee on November 26, 2021.
As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee
currently comprises two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Hin Wing and Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and one executive
Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi. Mr. Wong Hin Wing is the chairman
of the committee. The primary duties of the Investment Committee
are to review proposed investments, make recommendations to the
Board, make subsequent assessments of investments, and review
and consider the overall investment strategy, direction and business
development of the Company.

Due to the fact that the Investment Committee was only established
in November 2021, no Investment Committee meeting was held
during the period from the Listing Date and up to December 31,
2021.

(6) Executive Committee

We established the Executive Committee on November 26, 2021. As
at the date of this annual report, the Executive Committee currently
comprises two executive Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Mr. Dai
Xiangrong, Company’s CSO, Dr. Lau Lit Fui, Company’s CBO and
CFO, Ms. Feng Xinyan and Company’s CMO, Dr. Albert Tsai Jr. The
chairman of the committee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi. The primary duties of
the Executive Committee are to manage the day-to-day activities of
the Company’s business through (i) development and implementing
strategy, operational plans, policies, procedures and budgets; (ii)
deriving and monitoring operating and financial performance; (iii)
assessing and controlling risk; and (iv) prioritizing and allocating
resource.
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Due to the fact that the Executive Committee was only established in
November 2021, no Executive Committee meeting was held during
the period from the Listing Date and up to December 31, 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2021 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management of the Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of
the Board with monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and
prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges it is responsible for the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control measures are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.
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The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation by
key business processes and office functions. All departments conducted
internal control assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially
impact the business of the Group and various aspects including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assessed the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the
risk management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

We provide various training programs to keep our employees updated of
relevant laws, regulations and policies. Our new employees are required
to attend compliance training programs soon after on-boarding, and must
pass tests which examine their understanding of the compliance issues
addressed by the training programs. Our employees are also required to
regularly attend further onsite and online training sessions to keep them
informed of the recent updates in the relevant laws and regulations.

The Group has formulated an information disclosure management system
to clarify the relevant obligations of insiders, reporting procedures and
information disclosure responsibilities of relevant personnel, and arrange
self-inspection in a timely manner. The Group monitors possible inside
information and organizes intermediary agencies to determine whether the
information is inside information or whether need to be disclosed.

Our Company review risk management and internal control systems once
a year. Our Group’s internal control and risk management reports for the
year ended December 31, 2021 were submitted to the Audit Committee
and the Board of Directors for review in March 2022. The Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the management, reviewed
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended December 31, 2021, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
internal audit function, qualifications, experiences, training programmes
and relevant resources.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Audit fees of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2021 payable to
the external auditors were approximately RMB1.8 million and the Group
incurred approximately RMB0.8 million in 2021 for non-audit services
related to review of interim financial information and other advisory
services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Yau Suk Yan
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update her skills and knowledge during the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETING

The Company became listed on April 29, 2021. No general meeting was
held after the Listing.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Shareholders and potential investors on the Group’s
business, performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed investment
decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly
with the Directors. The chairman of the Board will attend the AGM to
answer Shareholders’ questions.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a Shareholders’
communication policy which aims at establishing a two-way relationship and
communication between the Company and its Shareholders and maintains
a website at zkoph.com, where up-to-date information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public access.
The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy conducted from the Listing Date to the
end of the Reporting Period regularly and considered the policy effective
and adequate. The Board will continue to review the Shareholders’
communication policy regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each substantially
separate issue at Shareholder meetings, including nomination and election
of individual directors.
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All resolutions put forward at Shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after
each Shareholder meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two Months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

(2) Procedures for putting forward proposals
at general meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association for
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of
Article 64 are set out above.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

(3) Enquires to the Board

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests
to the Company as follows:

Address: Unit 716, 7/F, Building 12W, Phase 3,
Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong

Email: info@zkoph.com
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. We have
never declared or paid any dividends on our ordinary Shares or preferred
shares. We may need dividends and other distributions on equity from
our PRC subsidiaries to satisfy our liquidity requirements. Current PRC
regulations permit our PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to us only out
of their accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with PRC
accounting standards and regulations. In addition, our PRC subsidiaries
are required to set aside at least 10% of their respective accumulated
profits each year, if any, to fund certain reserve funds until the total
amount set aside reaches 50% of their respective registered capital. Our
PRC subsidiaries may also allocate a portion of its after-tax profits based
on PRC accounting standards to employee welfare and bonus funds at
their discretion. These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends.
Furthermore, if our PRC subsidiaries incur debt on their own behalf in
the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict their ability
to pay dividends or make other payments to us. In addition, the PRC
tax authorities may require us to adjust our taxable income under the
contractual arrangements we currently have in place in a manner that
would materially and adversely affect our PRC subsidiaries’ ability to pay
dividends and other distributions to us.

The Company currently intends to retain all available funds and any
future earnings, if any, to fund the R&D of our drug candidates and we do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the Cayman Companies Law. The
declaration and payment of any dividends in the future will be determined
by our Board of Directors, in its discretion, and will depend on a number
of factors, including our earnings, capital requirements, overall financial
conditions and contractual restrictions. Our Shareholders in a general
meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed
the amount recommended by our Board. As advised by our Cayman Islands
counsel, under the Cayman Islands law a company may declare and pay a
dividend out of either profits or share premium account, provided that in
no circumstances may a dividend be declared or paid if this would result in
the company being unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. Investors should not purchase our Shares with the
expectation of receiving cash dividends.
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If we pay dividends in the future, in order for us to distribute dividends
to our Shareholders, we will rely to some extent on any dividends
distributed by our PRC subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from
our PRC subsidiaries to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In
addition, regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends
of a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax profits
as determined in accordance with its articles of association and the
accounting standards and regulations in China. For details, please refer to
the paragraphs headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Doing Business in
China - We may rely on dividends and other distributions on equity paid
by our PRC subsidiary to fund any cash and financing requirements we
may have, and any limitation on the ability of our PRC subsidiary to make
payments to us could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to
conduct our business” of the Prospectus.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association has been amended and restated with effect
from the Listing Date, and are available on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

On March 23, 2022, the Board has resolved to propose the adoption
of the amended and restated Articles of Association to conform to the
amended Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules under the new listing regime for
overseas issuers which took effect on 1 January 2022, which streamlines
and standardizes a uniform set of 14 core standards for shareholder
protections for all issuers regardless of their place of incorporation. The
proposed adoption of the amended and restated Articles of Association is
subject to the approval by the Shareholders by way of a special resolution
to be considered and, if thought fit, passed at the AGM. The amended
and restated Articles of Association, if approved by the Shareholders,
will become effective at the AGM. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated March 23, 2022 published on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in constitutional
documents of the Company from the Listing Date up to the date of this
annual report.
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The Board of the Company is pleased to present this report of Directors
together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Board comprised two
executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The director who held office from the Listing Date
till December 31, 2021 were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi (Chairman of the Board and CEO)
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Ms. Tiantian Zhang
Ms. Cai Li

Mr. Chen Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria (resigned on April 11, 2022)™

Note:

(1) On April 11, 2022, Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria has resigned as an independent non-
executive Director. Following the resignation of Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria with
effect from April 11, 2022, the Company has two independent non-executive
Directors. Following her resignation, the total number of independent non-
executive Directors accounts for less than one-third of Board members, and
hence the Company fails to meet the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules and the number of independent non-executive Directors and the number
of members of the Audit Committee fall below the minimum number required
under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. As such, the Board will make
its best endeavors to identify suitable candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as
practicable and within three months from April 11, 2022 in order to ensure
compliance by the Company with the requirements under the Listing Rules.

Save for the resignation of Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria as an independent
non-executive Director which took effect from April 11, 2022, all the
abovenamed Directors remained as Directors of the Company up to the
date of this annual report.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on January 20,
2017 with limited liability and continued in the Cayman Islands on April
29, 2021 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s
Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on April 29,
2021.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are an ophthalmic pharmaceutical company dedicated to the research,
development and commercialization of therapies that address significant
unmet medical needs in China. Leveraging our deep domain expertise,
we have built a comprehensive ophthalmic drug pipeline of 25 candidates
that covers most major ocular indications affecting the front and the back
of the eye, through either in-house development or in-licensing. We have
also established an advanced ophthalmic manufacturing facility and are
assembling an experienced marketing team in anticipation of near-term
product launch.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including a discussion and analysis on the Group’s future business
development and the financial and operational key performance indicators
employed by the Directors in measuring the performance of the Group’s
business is set out in the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 13 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, some of which are beyond its control:

. Our business and financial prospects depend substantially on the
success of our drug candidates, all of which are in preclinical or
clinical development. If we are unable to successfully develop and
commercialize our drug candidates, or experience significant delays
in doing any of the foregoing, our business may be materially
harmed.

. We may not be able to identify, discover or in-license new drug
candidates, and may allocate our limited resources to pursue a
particular drug candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on drug
candidates or indications that may later prove to be more profitable,
or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

. The R&D of our drug candidates involves a lengthy and expensive
process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies
and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.

. If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our
clinical trials and the commercialization of our drug candidates could
be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

. We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing,
or may ultimately be unable to complete, the development and
commercialization of our drug candidates.
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. We may be unable to obtain, or experience delays in obtaining,
required regulatory approvals for our drug candidates in our target
markets.

. Our drug candidates, if and when approved, will be subject to

ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review,
which may result in significant additional expense and we may
be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements.

. Our future approved drugs may fail to achieve the degree of market
acceptance by ophthalmologists, patients, third-party payers and
others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

. We have limited experience in launching and marketing drug
candidates, and we may not be able to successfully create or
increase market awareness of our products or sell our products,
which will materially affect our ability to generate product sales
revenue.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.

The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be
prepared separately from this annual report and will be published websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company before May 31, 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
year ended December 31, 2021, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

A review of the employees and remuneration policies of the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 39 of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the defined
benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
in the PRC participate in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) organized by the local government authorities whereby
the Company and its subsidiaries in the PRC are required to make
contributions to the Schemes based on certain percentages of the eligible
employee’s salaries. The local government authorities are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

Details of the pension contributions of the Company are set out in Note 7
to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group’s suppliers primarily
consisted of (i) CROs, who provided contracting services for R&D and (ii)
suppliers of raw materials, reference drugs, machinery and equipment used
in our R&D and manufacturing activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers in the aggregate amounted to RMB102.0 million,
accounted for 24.2% of the Group’s total purchases for the same year.

Lee’s Pharm Hefei was an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm,
our Substantial Shareholder, and the Group’s largest supplier during
the Reporting Period. Purchases from Lee’s Pharm Hefei for the year
ended December 31, 2021 amounted to RMB70.2 million, accounting for
approximately 16.6% of the Group’s total purchase amount for the same
year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates, or any Shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued capital, has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group did not experience
any significant disputes with its suppliers.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

As of the date of this report, the Group had not commenced any
commercialization. We did not generate any revenue during the Reporting
Period and thus we did not have any major customer during the same
period.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business associates are key to Group’s
success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through
engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

Relationship with Our Suppliers

We maintained good and stable relationship with our existing suppliers.
When procurement of raw materials or services or procurement from new
suppliers is necessary, we would strictly follow our internal procurement
policy to select suppliers, raw materials or services. For selecting
CRO service providers, our procurement team normally requests the
potential supplier to provide, among others, its industrial background
and credentials, an initial service plan designed by the CRO service
provider and the quotations with breakdown of detailed components
of the CRO services and procedures involved. Furthermore, our
procurement department routinely monitors market price for procurement
of raw materials and relevant services necessary for our business, for
benchmarking and cost control purposes.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating our
employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new employee
training, as well as professional and compliance training programs for
employees. We enter into employment contracts with our employees to
cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. The
remuneration package of our employees usually includes salary, bonus
and share option incentives, which are generally determined by their
qualifications, industry experience, position and performance. We make
contributions to social insurance and housing provident funds as required
by the applicable laws and regulations.

Relationship with Our Licensing Partners and
Business Partners

We maintain long-term relationships and effective communication with
our licensing partners and business partners to better achieve corporate
goals, through leveraging their resources and established capabilities. We
believe that licensing arrangements and business partnerships are in the
interests of our Shareholders as a whole.
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Relationship with Shareholders

We recognize the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 40 to 53 of this annual report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
our Company on April 1, 2021. The initial term of their respective service
contracts shall commence from the Listing Date and continue for a
period of three years until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the service contract or by our executive Directors giving to us
not less than thirty days’ prior notice in writing.

Each of our non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company
on April 1, 2021. The initial term for their appointment letters shall
commence from the Listing Date and continue for a period of three years
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less than
three months’ prior notice in writing.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself/herself for
re-election by Shareholders at the first general meeting of the Company
after appointment and any new Director appointed as an addition to the
Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders
at the next following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any member of the Group which
is not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
December 31, 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised
any such right.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code, the
Company has established the Remuneration Committee to formulate
remuneration policies. The remuneration is determined and recommended
based on each Director’s and senior management personnel’s qualification,
position and seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors,
their remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation from
the Remuneration Committee. The Directors and the senior management
personnel are eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, CEO and the five highest
paid individuals for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements. During the Reporting Period, none of the
Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there was no
emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors as an inducement
to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors nor any
entity connected with the Directors had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance,
whether for the provision of services or otherwise, to the Group to which
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended
December 31, 2021.
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INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Company did
not have a controlling shareholder.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Each of Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently serves as a
director in Lee’s Pharm. As of the date of this report, the remaining
business of the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group includes an ophthalmic
drug, namely Eyprotor, which is indicated for healing of tissue without
angiogenesis effect, while our product candidates include adapalene/
clindamycin hydrochloride compound gel ("ACCG"”), a dermatological
drug candidate for the treatment of moderate acne vulgaris. Each of Lee’s
Pharm and our Company considers that the existence of Eyprotor and
ACCG will not affect the business delineation and give rise to any material
competition between our Group and the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group for
the reasons set out in the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm -
Delineation of Business between the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group and our
Group - Delineation of Businesses” of the Prospectus.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi resigned from all his executive positions in Lee’s Pharm
prior to Listing and currently only serves as a non-executive director in
Lee’s Pharm. Although Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently still serves as an
executive director and managing director in Lee’s Pharm, she only takes a
non-executive role in our Company and will not hold any executive senior
management position within our Group. Our Directors are of the view that
our Group will be managed and will operate independently of Lee’s Pharm
in the interests of our Shareholders as a whole. For further details about
the independence of our Company from the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group,
please see the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm” of the
Prospectus.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and save for their respective interests
in the Group, none of the Directors was interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

From time to time our non-executive Directors may serve on the boards
of both private and public companies within the broader healthcare
and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-executive
Directors are neither our controlling shareholders nor members of our
executive management team, we do not believe that their interests in
such companies as directors would render us incapable of carrying on our
business independently from the other companies in which they may hold
directorships from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered or
existed during the year ended December 31, 2021.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, the following transactions constitute
connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.23 of the
Listing Rules and are required to be disclosed in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed
that the other related party transactions do not fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as
the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Please see below the information required to be disclosed in
compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(1) Procurement of CRO Services

Lee’s Pharm Hefei is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules, Lee’s
Pharm Hefei is regarded as our connected person. Pursuant to
the Master CRO Service Agreement entered into between Zhaoke
Guangzhou and Lee’s Pharm Hefei on April 1, 2021, our Group
agreed to engage Lee’s Pharm Hefei as a CRO service provider to
provide relevant CRO services for developing our CsA ophthalmic
gel, ZKY0O01 and levobetaxolol HCI. The Master CRO Service
Agreement has a term commencing from the date of the agreement,
and continue to be in force until the completion of the clinical trial
projects contemplated thereunder. Based on our independent
assessment and commercial judgement, and considering the overall
commercial terms, the R&D capabilities and dedication proposed
by Lee’s Pharm Hefei and its relevant industry knowledge and
experience, we believe engaging Lee’s Pharm Hefei as our CRO
service provider to provide the service contemplated under the
Master CRO Service Agreement is commercially beneficial to the
business of our Group. For further details on the procurement
of CRO services, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions - Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions -
Procurement of CRO Services” of the Prospectus.

Historical transaction amounts

The transaction amount incurred under the Master CRO Service
Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2021 was RMB50.3
million.
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Caps on future transaction amounts

The proposed annual cap for the service fees under the Master
CRO Service Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2022 is
RMB31.0 million.

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter of Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an unqualified letter
containing their responsibilities and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions as disclosed by
the Group in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our Directors, including
the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into: (i) the continuing connected
transactions as set out above have been entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of our Group, on normal commercial
terms or terms better to us, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them that are fair and reasonable and in the
interest of us and our Shareholders as a whole; and (ii) the proposed
annual cap for the non-exempt continuing connected transactions
described in this section are fair and reasonable and in the interest
of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Termination of Continuing Connected Transactions

On January 26, 2022, the Group and Lee’s Pharm Hefei mutually
agreed to early terminate the Master CRO Service Agreement
with effect from the date of completion of Phase II clinical trial of
ZKYO001 for the indication of CED. The reason for early termination
is because patient enrollment related to the clinical trial of CsA
ophthalmic gel and levobetaxolol HCI has been completed in 2021
and there would be further change over the design of ZKY001's
ongoing clinical trial with additional indications newly explored. The
Company decided to delegate the remaining clinical trial projects to
another independent third party service providers after considering
its suitability based on these new changes and requirement. Upon
such termination, all rights and obligations of the parties to the
Master CRO Service Agreement shall cease and no party shall have
any claim against each other in connection with the Master CRO
Service Agreement. For further details on the termination, please
refer to our announcements published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and our Company dated January 26, 2022.

ARRXZEH LR

#HE2022F12A31H IEFEMECROMRM HE
RRGEZEFE LFRAARE31L.068ET -

AR ERBIZREES M AREMR
KB B R X BERIZE 30005k (KEET) Tz
BHELMIEERASNNEF X | R 2REH
B 74055 BINKEE TR ADATRSERIER
SRR R DER A S B RERER S - &%
HETERR LT AR BIZE 14A.56 1AV E 3 —
HERBEELXMN  EhHAERAEERAF
BAREN L SEREX SNERERER ° &
NRIT B AR PR AL AR B R Y B o

BE2021512A31HL5E - E£(BEBY
FRTER)EERLAFERERS - YD
R () XN ERER S EEREENA
BEBPEL - BR— R Rk E EIRFOE
17 REABEZINHEET  GRAFARE
W B ERMRBEPIBROBEN S : ()4
P e ERER SRR FE ERBAF
ARREMGEARRERERMERM S -

RIEFFEBRERS

202261 A26H @ AEEESKKER(AE)
EFHRERFRIEFCROBBE - BEBE
CEDJEEAE I ZKYO01 FITHIFR R 5t B 72 pk B HA
BAM - BRERIENREATRBEEAREEKLE
Fe 7 (5 S MER R B BE AEER2021F 5
BX - TEEE ZKYOO1 B RERSNTHEFEAE © B S
E— SR HETTRBRARABRNRG - REEL
LSHEE N EROBEEE - ARABRERRE
TERARRBRIER FHMBIE=HRGRMER -
L% - ECROBRIS T 4% 5 BT A REF
REBBERE BT ERYHREEREH
FCROMBHHEMNEBER - BEAKIENE—DF
1% E2EAATN202291 A26 BEB ST R
AARPILBHHAE -




(2) Product Licensing

Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Lee’s Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Lee’s Pharm International
is our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules, Lee’s
Pharm Guangzhou and Lee’s Pharm International are regarded as
our connected persons. Our Company and Zhaoke Guangzhou,
as licensors, entered into the License Agreement with Lee’s
Pharm International and Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou (together, the
“Licensees”) on October 2, 2020, pursuant to which we agreed
to grant exclusive license rights to the Licensees to promote and
commercialize the adapalene/clindamycin hydrochloride compound
gel (the “Licensed Product”) in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan. In consideration, the Licensees agreed to pay an upfront
payment of US$10,000,000 within 30 days after the signing of the
agreement and a milestone payment of US$5,000,000 within 14
days after obtaining the relevant regulatory approval for the new
drug registration of the Licensed Product in PRC, and to share with
us the profit derived from the sale of Licensed Product (the “Profit
Sharing”). In addition, pursuant to the License Agreement, we were
engaged by the Licensees to exclusively manufacture the Licensed
Product, and shall supply the Licensed Products to the Licensees
in the PRC (the “Licensed Product Supply”) at a determined
supply price per unit. The License Agreement has an initial term
commencing on the date of the agreement and continue to be in
force and effect until the date of the tenth anniversary of the initial
sale of the Licensed Product, and can be automatically extended
for additional consecutive renewal terms of five years each, unless
terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the License
Agreement. The License Agreement was entered into by our Group
and the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group out of independent commercial
considerations since we expect to focus our resources on the R&D
of ophthalmic pharmaceutical products, while the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group has a developed business in dermatology field. It is
natural and commercially beneficial for both groups to enter into the
License Agreement so that both groups will be able to stick to their
respective business plans and development paths. For further details
on the procurement of CRO services, please refer to “"Connected
Transactions — Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions -
Product Licensing” of the Prospectus.

Historical transaction amount

We have not received any payment under the License Agreement
for the year ended December 31, 2021 since the next payment
milestone under the License Agreement has yet been achieved as of
the end of the Reporting Period and there was no Licensed Products
supplied or net sales revenue incurred for the year ended December
31, 2021 under the License Agreement.
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Caps on future transaction amounts

We have set the annual caps for the Licensed Product Supply and
the Profit Sharing as formulas (the “Formulas”) below:

(i) Licensed Product Supply

The payment to be received by us from the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group for supplying the Licensed Products will be
determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount receivable by us under Licensed Product Supply =
Unit supply pricet amount of Licensed Product supplied

(ii)  Profit Sharing

The payment receivable by us from the Retained Lee’s Pharm
Group for Profit Sharing pursuant to the License Agreement
will be determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount of profit receivable by us under Profit Sharing? = (net
sales revenue® * 55%) - amount receivable by the Group
under Licensed Product Supply (net of tax)

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our Directors, including
the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into: (i) the continuing connected
transactions as set out above have been entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of our Group, on normal commercial
terms or terms better to us, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them that are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of us and our Shareholders as a whole; and (ii) the
proposed alternative cap for the non-exempt continuing connected
transactions described in this section are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

There was no Licensed Products supplied or net sales revenue incurred
for the year ended December 31, 2021 under the License Agreement.
Therefore, the auditor of the Company has not reported on the above
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the License
Agreement pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The unit supply price is determined by taking into consideration the cost

expected to be incurred by us for the manufacturing of Licensed Products and

a gross profit margin of approximately 60% for such manufacturing.

Net sales revenue shall be net of value-added taxes and sales commissions

paid to distributors.

If the formula produces negative results, we are not obligated to pay any
Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.

ARRXZEH LR

BB RFFIERBERMBORFRE LRHA
XX DREWT

(i) WEFAEmE

A BT AT R B AR B TR
B 5= ELURER B SRS AR IBIA T A EEE

BAIBEAR AT A EE (PR R U SR = Pt
JER TR E AR EE(E?

(ii)  FUEDA

HAIBARRFT ) 1 s 77 R 20 PRIE R AR
BFERAEBEENNTRHRIBEATAR
BT :

BARBENEOKERMNBESE? =(HE
FU R * 55%) — NEREREIRET A E M
P ERRIA (B HIR)

BZE2021F12A3181LFE - E2(2EBYT
FEHTER)EEX LMBERERS - WK
R () EXFENBERER S EEASEMNA
WEBPRIT - RB— WA IERREEGTE
17 RIBEEBRSNMEET  ERAFEE -
W B FERMREMRENREERE  R(ii) A&
FritdE e EMER HNEFIERLERER
FEERFEARRRBEHZEEFE -

B 2202112 A31 B - FE AU SR EFT AT 2 (R 1
AP EMKELFHELA o Bt - AR R ZEADL &
IR ET R AIEE 14A. 56 {55 L ull AR 1 37 T sk e 17
ERERER HIEHME -

! HEEEDZR I EERT T EREREEENEAR
RBEMEENENELE0%ETE

2 SHEFU A ERIZER RN T O HEMHEEME -

g HWARNELABER  HMERBTRAREFRAERSE
B AR




. . . B . . . . . . B . . . . B . Report of Directors . .

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EEREETHRABRALQTHH
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN HBCEE KRG - HERS UK
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND EREE NS AR

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors  #R2021F12A31H * ARAREEXHZSITTHAERAK
or chief executive of our Company in any of the Shares, underlying Shares QR HiEESEE (T BEHF NS EMNEXVE) T
and debentures of our Company or its associated corporation (within the  fAJi&{p - HHEKRMN MEREFRETCBEELENRE
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which have been notified to the Company  {&HIEXVESE7 K% 85H SpA1E AR A A7) M B 2 P 2S K
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO %2 (BEFRSEIEEF LS GRS E 1EE
(including any interest or short positions which they are taken or deemed  A#ANIAERIARE) @ KD CHERBIEESF LS
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were recorded in the  {&BI5 352 AR RIEFEMNELMAER RAR - 5k
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of  RIFIEETEIDHEARDT MEEZ TR ARINT
the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying RERE R G G R (7 I IFE
Shares of the Company

Approximate

Number percentage in

Name of Director Nature of interest of Shares shareholding®
EEHE EmnE RHHE HREBNB DS
Dr. Li Xiaoyi Beneficial owner 14,022,800 2.59%
F/|\RiE+ BHEEAA

Interest in controlled corporation 2,187,600 0.40%

R EE RS

Interest of spouse 166,666 0.03%

[
Mr. Dai Xiangrong Beneficial owner 1,261,200® 0.23%
R E EREBA
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee Beneficial owner 23,557 0.00%%*
R+ EnEBA
*  |less than 0.01 * 30.01
Notes: B

(1)  Referring to the 14,022,800 Shares underlying the options granted to Dr. Li (1) SR E A NFEENBRES R BIE LR
Xiaoyi under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. HI8E IR R 14,022,800 i 5 ©

(2)  Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds 65% of the equity interest of Lee’s Healthcare Industry (2) = /N R 1 = # A Lee's Healthcare Industry

Investments Limited, which in turn is the general partner of Lee’s Healthcare Investments Limited 65% #) i # - i Lee's
Industry Fund L.P. For the purpose of the SFO, Dr. Li is deemed to have an Healthcare Industry Investments Limited % Lee’s
interest in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P. Healthcare Industry Fund L.P.#)E@EEZ A « BIR

BEHERIEGKD - FTE LR AR Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P.34E#)2,187,6000% 8% {5 A 1

(3)  Referring to the 166,666 Shares held by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s spouse. (3) EFBEELHOERBHAEN166,666%8%




Report of Directors = - - - - =
BEeWRE. . . .. ...

4) Referring to the 1,261,200 Shares underlying the options granted to Mr. Dai
Xiangrong under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

(5) Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of the
Company as of December 31, 2021, being 541,946,928 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this report, to the best
knowledge of the Directors or chief executive of the Company, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2021, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company

(4) EERBERARMESHBIETIMBAKREERH
B AL REARREM 1,261, 200K A7

(5) RHB2021F12 831 AAATNEBETRABLH
541,946,928 H -

BEXFREES  RARSHY  BARRESHK
BITBRABRA  BMIEARAEZAHZSTRABRRAE
RAREEARBEE (EE R EH LB EMIEXVER)
BV - HEERG RERETEEERHERREESFR
HIEEPIEIS2RAFEMNECMAERIKR - R
ERETRIE NG AR R KRB R PANERIAR

FRRRNRD R AABER G
BEEKXE

M2021F12A318 + RERHA - LTFTAL(EKRF
EEZRTRITERABBRIN RAR B8R sk A8 BB Rk (5
BB AR AR E R A RIEES RS EHISEXVIBE
2R3 EREAMARA R KR HBARRIAR
RERBRIBIEEFRAEKAIEI36EAREATE
mECROERSAE

RER ARG HIEBR D BIIF R

Total number Approximate

of Shares/ percentage in

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest underlying Shares shareholding®
REREE ERME B, MR B EREBANT DL
Lee’s Pharm Interest in controlled corporation 140,379,600 25.90%
PR REER i EE RS
Lee’s Pharm International Beneficial interest 138,192,000 25.50%
2 R BE R B R Ham il
Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. Beneficial interest 71,231,200 13.14%
Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. EniEs
Apstar Investment Pte. Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 71,231,200® 13.14%
Apstar Investment Pte. Ltd. S EEE R
GIC (Venture) Pte. Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 71,231,200® 13.14%
GIC (Venture) Pte. Ltd. X EE RS
GIC Special Investment Pte. Ltd.  Interest in controlled corporation 71,231,200 13.14%
GIC Special Investment Pte. Ltd.  S¥UAEEZ
GIC Private Limited Interest in controlled corporation 71,231,200® 13.14%
GIC Private Limited S EEE R

Beneficial interest 2,314,500 0.43%

Fam
Panacea Venture Healthcare Beneficial interest 33,305,600 6.15%
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Total number Approximate
of Shares/ percentage in
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest underlying Shares shareholding”
RRER ERnE B3 AHEAR AR R HRESNE DD
Panacea Venture Healthcare HmtEm
Fund I, L.P.
Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund Interest in controlled corporation 33,305,600 6.15%
GP I, L.P.
Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund SEAE#E D
GPI, L.P.
VMS Holdings Limited Interest in controlled corporation 35,747,100% 6.60%
VMS Holdings Limited S EEE R
COFL Holdings Limited Beneficial interest 30,627,200 5.65%
COFL Holdings Limited Bt
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. Interest in controlled corporation 30,627,200 5.65%
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. S EEE R
TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. Beneficial interest 30,627,200® 5.65%
TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. HEalEm
Pananus Associates Inc. Interest in controlled corporation 27,530,000 5.08%
Pananus Associates Inc. ZREEER
FIL Limited Beneficial interest 17,500 0.00%%*
FIL Limited BatEs
FLI Investment Services (UK) Beneficial interest 27,512,500 5.08%
Limited
FLI Investment Services (UK) Hm it
Limited
FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL Beneficial owner 27,512,500 5.08%

SITUATIONS PLC

FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL

it
/| k
e
BX

\
L

SITUATIONS PLC

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

Lee’s Pharm International is wholly owned by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore, Lee’s
Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 138,192,000 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm International under the SFO. Approximately 43.16% of the partnership
interest in Lee’s Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. is held by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore,
Lee’s Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. under the SFO.

Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd., which is in turn a wholly owned subsidiary of GIC (Ventures) Pte.
Ltd. Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. is managed by GIC Special Investments Pte.
Ltd., which is wholly owned by GIC Private Limited. Therefore, each of Apstar
Investment Pte Ltd., GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd., GIC Special Investments Pte.
Ltd. and GIC Private Limited is deemed to be interested in the 71,231,200
Shares held by Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. under the SFO.

Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund GP I, L.P. is the general partner of Panacea
Venture Healthcare Fund I, L.P. and Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund GP
Company, Ltd. is the general partner of Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund
GP I, L.P. Accordingly, each of Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund GP I, L.P.
and Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund GP Company, Ltd. is deemed to be
interested in the 33,305,600 Shares held by Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund I,
L.P. under the SFO.

Bt
(1)

(2)

(3)

FTRAEMEFAFTRALEBEERSF - At - REE
% RHIE GG - 2R ZEREAR A0 2 K B2 B B 3
A #138,192,000 % i 1 R #E B #E 7 © Lee’s Pharm
Healthcare Fund L.P.%4743.16% & ¥ #25HEK
REFER - ALt - BREZFHRBEGE - FRALER
# 18 A1 Lee’s Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P.# A
2,187,600/ 15 R A #Ezs o

Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd./AApstar Investment
Pte Ltd. 8 2 & fff & 2 7] - 1M Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd. & GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd. &y 2 & [ B 2
7] - Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. i GIC Special
Investments Pte. Ltd. & 2 MM GIC Special
Investments Pte. Ltd.fiGIC Private Limited% &
A FEit - RIBESF L HEES - Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd. - GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd. * GIC Special
Investments Pte. Ltd. [ GIC Private Limited &
B ¥ 18 & 7 Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. # A& &)
71,231,200 847 A R o

Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund GP I, L.P. %A
Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund I, L.P. #) & i
A ¥ A - i Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund GP
Company, Ltd. % Panacea Venture Healthcare
Fund GP I, LP.HIEBAEA - At - BREJFHFR
# & % # - Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund
GP I, L.P. [ Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund
GP Company, Ltd. & & # % & Panacea Venture
Healthcare Fund I, L.P.#8#)33,305,600% %7+

e e
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(4)

(5)

(6)

7)

(8)

Each of Smart Rocket Limited, VMS Zhaoke Investments Fund SP and Bio
Success Investment Limited holds 26,742,400, 4,629,500 and 4,375,200
Shares, respectively. Smart Rocket Limited, VMS Zhaoke Investment Fund
SP and Bio Success Investments Limited are all indirect subsidiaries of VMS
Holdings Limited, the ultimated beneficial owner of which is by Ms. Mak
Siu Hang Viola (%2 ). Therefore, each of Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola and VMS
Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 26,742,400 Shares held by
Smart Rocket Limited, the 4,629,500 Shares held by VMS Zhaoke Investment
Fund SP and the 4,375,200 Shares held by Bio Success Investments Limited
under the SFO.

COFL Holdings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Hillhouse Venture Fund V,
L.P. Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. acts as the sole management company
of Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. Therefore, Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. and
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. are deemed to be interested in the 30,627,200
Shares held by COFL Holdings Limited under the SFO.

Each of TPG Asia VII Finance, Limited Partnership (as sole ordinary shareholder
of TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd.), TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P. (as a general partner
of TPG Asia VII Finance, Limited Partnership), TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors,
Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P.), TPG Holdings III,
L.P. (as the sole ordinary shareholder of TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors, Inc.),
TPG Holdings III-A, L.P. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings III, L.P.), TPG
Holdings III-A, Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings III-A, L.P.), TPG
Group Holdings (SBS), L.P. (as the sole ordinary shareholder of TPG Holdings
III-A, Inc.), TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC (as a general partner
of TPG Group Holdings (SBS), L.P.) and TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors,
Inc. (as the managing member of TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC) is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. under
the SFO. TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, Inc. is controlled by Mr. David
Bonderman and Mr. James G. Coulter, who disclaim beneficial ownership of the
Shares held by TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. except to the extent of their pecuniary
interest therein.

To the best knowledge of the Company, each of FIL Limited and FLI Investment
Services (UK) Limited is ultimately controlled by Pandanus Associates Inc.
through multiple intermediary shareholding entities.

Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of the
Company as of December 31, 2021, being 541,946,928 Shares.

less than 0.01%

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company, other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company, as
of the date of this report, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Smart Rocket Limited + VMS Zhaoke Investment
Fund SP }2 Bio Success Investments Limited & B
5 B4 26,742,400 - 4,629,5000% % 4,375,200
f% B% 15 - Smart Rocket Limited - VMS Zhaoke
Investment Fund SP 2 Bio Success Investments
Limited ¥ & VMS Holdings Limited &) 4 # [ff & 2
7] » MVMS Holdings Limited W KRB HA A BE
Dz o FEt  REBEFHFRBEKS - BoBWaT R
VMS Holdings Limited & B # 4% /& 5 Smart Rocket
Limited 3% & #) 26,742,400 % f% 5 + VMS Zhaoke
Investment Fund SP#iA #4,629,5000% % 3 & Bio
Success Investments Limited45#)4,375,2008% %
B ERRER o

COFL Holdings Limited / Hillhouse Venture Fund
V, LP.HNEENBAR - 8 REREBRERAFESR
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.#) M — & I 2 517
= - FEitt - RIEES KBEEDG - Hillhouse Venture
Fund V, L.P.##15 A COFL Holdings Limited##&#)
30,627,200 M R B 5 o

RIEEH LSS - TPG Asia VII Finance, Limited
Partnership (fE/ATPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd.#) 1 —
L@EALARE) - TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P.(fEATPG
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EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted pursuant to the written resolutions of all shareholder of the
Company dated November 17, 2020 for the purpose of rewarding,
retaining and motivating the eligible persons, including the Group’s
employees, Directors, consultants and any other person the Board may in
its absolute discretion think fit. The maximum number of shares available
for issue upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme is 45,732,000 Shares, representing approximately
8.44% of the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date of
this annual report, being 541,946,928 Shares. The overall limit on the
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. The Company may
also seek separate approval of the Shareholders for granting options
beyond the limit to eligible persons specifically identified by the Company.
The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the adoption date after which period no
further options will be granted. The exercise price for Shares under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board on a fair
and reasonable basis with reference to the performance of the Company
and the past or potential contribution of the eligible person to the business
and operation of the Company. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during the option
period as specified by the Board in relation to each such option in its terms
of grant. The Board may provide restrictions on how and when an option
during the period for which an option must be held or a performance
target, if any, which must be achieved before an option can be exercised.
For details on the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, please refer to “Appendix
IV - Statutory and General Information - D. Share Option Schemes - 1.
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” of the Prospectus.
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TREBNEZE2021F12A3181EFE - REERA
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The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options
granted to all grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the

year ended December 31, 2021. REEE
Number
Number Number of options Number
of Shares of options cancelled/ of Shares
underlying exercised lapsed underlying
options  betweenthe  between the outstanding
outstanding Listing Dateto  Listing Dateto  options as of
Name of category Exercise Vesting asof December31l, December31, December 31,
of grantee Date of grant Option period price period Listing Date 2021 2021 2021
RETREE RETAEE R2021F
2021% 2021 128318
REHEH 128318 12A31R%8 HRTE
HATRERE BEfEn RS BRESRN
EEABE RS RiAS BRESR 8 GRS SRNABROEE BHREHE BHEHA RERHEA
USS per share
(BlRET)
Directors
B2
Li Xiaoyi November 17, 2020 10 years commencing on 0.09 note 1 3,152,800 - - 3,152,800
£ 20205117178 the adoption date (i3l
December 9, 2020 1.14 note 1 10,870,000 10,870,000
2020512798 BRM A 105 fitsk
Dai Xiangrong November 17, 2020 10 years commencing on 0.09 note 1 1,261,200 - - 1,261,200
the adoption date
B 20205115178 BRMAME 105 st
Other 107 grantees Between November 17,2020 10 years commencing on Between 0.09to  note 1 30,448,000 (6,791,428) S 23,656,572
in aggregate to March 2, 2021 the adoption date 1.14
Ef1078RFA (B3) 202051151782 BRM A 105 0.09%1.14 sk
202153828
45,732,000 (6,791,428) - 38,940,572
Note: BRE -
1. 20% of the options shall vest upon the completion of the Global Offering, 20% 1. 20%FEMAERN 2 IR ETRISEE © 20%EIRIER 5%

HEPEEEBFAGE  20%BHEN B X B HE
F_ABFARE  20%BEERERE AHEE=(
BEARE MR T20%BEER B KT A HEEME
BEARE -

of the options shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of
the options shall vest on the second anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of
the options shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant, and the
remaining 20% of the options shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the date
of grant.




Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company was conditionally
approved by a resolution of the then Shareholder of our Company
passed on April 1, 2021. The purpose of the Post-IPO Option Scheme is
to provide incentive or reward to Eligible Persons (as defined below) for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of
the Group and to incentivize them to remain with the Group, as well as
for other purposes as the Board may approve from time to time. Subject
to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Board may at
its discretion specify any conditions which must be satisfied before the
option(s) under the Post-IPO Option Scheme may be exercised.

Eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”) include:

(i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries who has contributed to the Group’s innovative
projects, including but not limited to innovation committee member,
project leader, engineer and technician;

(ii) any staff, advisor (professional or otherwise), consultant, agent or
business partner that the Company deems important to provide
support to the Group;

(iii) any director (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of the Group; and

(iv) any shareholder or any member of the Group or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
all schemes existing at such time and any new share option scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as of the Listing Date, being 53,515,550 Shares,
representing approximately 9.87% of the total issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this annual report. No option shall be
granted to any eligible person if, at the relevant time of grant, the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
and options under any other share option schemes of the Company to
the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant would exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in
issue at such time, within any 12-month period unless certain conditions
are satisfied. The price at which each Share subject to an option may be
subscribed for shall be a price solely determined by the Board and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date on which the option
is offered (“Offer Date”), which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average
of the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the
Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.
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The period during which the option may be exercised is determined by the
Board at its discretion but shall expire in any event not later than the last
day of the 10-year period after the date of grant of the option. The Board
may specify any conditions which must be satisfied before the option may
be exercised, including without limitation such performance targets (if
any) and minimum periods for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised and any other terms in relation to the exercise of the option,
including without limitation such percentages of the options that can be
exercised during a certain period of time, as the Board may determine
from time to time.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on April 1, 2021. For details on the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme, please refer to “Appendix IV - Statutory and
General Information - D. Share Option Schemes - 2. Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme” of the Prospectus.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not grant
any option to any grantee under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme as set out in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Group, or existed from
the Listing Date till and up to December 31, 2021.

LAND AND PROPERTIES

As of the date of this report, the Company did not own any properties.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration
during the year ended December 31, 2021. The Directors are also not
aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened
against the Group during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Shares of the Company were first listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on April 29, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, the
Company had a total of 541,946,928 Shares in issue.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities from the Listing Date to
the end of the Reporting Period.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2021 and details of the Shares issued during the year
ended December 31, 2021 are set out in Note 24(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended December
31, 2021.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2021, the Group had a unsecured bank loan of
RMB10.3 million which was repayable within one year or on demand, and
details of the bank loan is set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As of the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any
convertible bonds.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OF THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Company did
not have a controlling shareholder.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify
the Directors and senior management of the Company for their liabilities
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium account,
retained earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately
following the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company did not have any distributable
reserves.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company

during the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 112.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group have made RMB2.5
million charitable donations.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M - BERRE

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of AEE®E  BEMRERREPHANEE FBEHAL
the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 12 to the  ABEIREMEL2 -
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering 2B EHEHEHZ

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on April 29, ZAAFMMNA20214F4 A29 M AT b - & 357
2021 with a total of 123,567,500 offer Shares issued. The net proceeds 123,567,500 3 &) - 2B ENRETIEFED
from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$1,932.3 million,  /41,932,300,000# 7T ' & KR EIEER - AL L
after deducting the underwriting fees, commissions and related listing 48B3 EMBIs - A2021412A31H » FIEREFEHED
expenses. As of December 31, 2021, such net proceeds were utilized as R :

follows:
Amount of Utilized net  Unutilized net Expected
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of proceeds as of time frame
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, for unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2021 2021 amount
R2021F ®2021F
12A31H 12A31H
1EFTERIR 28A XBA EHDA
EEHEIREN BEAY Fr8RE FERE  ARBAREN
LHERERR FreRERE Bk B FE RH
(HK$ million) (%) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(B&BT) (%) (B&BT) (B&BT)
For the clinical development and 618.34 32.00% 126.05 492.29
commercialization of our two Core
Product
RMMERVE R RREI B REEL
1. Allocated to CsA Ophthalmic Gel 438.64 22.70% 106.88 331.76 By the end of
2025
HETRBRARER 20255 K5k 2 /il
2. Allocated to ZKY001 179.70 9.30% 19.17 160.53 By the end of
2025
S FZKY001 2025F Kk 2 Al
The continuing R&D activities as well as 888.86 46.00% 107.68 781.18
commercialization of the other drug
candidates in our pipeline
EMNESTHOREEYNSETTHREEL
1. The continuing R&D activities of other 579.69 30.00% 20.55 559.14 By the end of
key drug candidates 2025
Hfth SR RE LY B R D) 20254 K3k 2 Al
2. The continuing R&D activities of other 57.97 3.00% 57.97 S S
innovative and generic drug candidates
E fth BT R 07 BURE YRS B EOED)
3. The milestone payments of our other in- 96.62 5.00% 19.95 76.67 By the end of
licensed drug candidate 2025

RPEA SRR S BRI 5 20254 k2 Al
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Amount of Utilized net  Unutilized net Expected
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of proceeds as of time frame
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, for unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2021 2021 amount
®2021F ®2021%F
12A31H 12A31H
1GFBRE 28A ABA EHDA
fEstEIRRH REAY FrERE FERE REBAREN
LS RIERR FrSRURRE BOK B 2E KH
(HK$ million) (%) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(A&BT) (%) (B&#T) (B&BT)
4. The further expansion of our sales and 154.58 8.00% 9.21 145.37 By the end of
marketing team in anticipation of new 2025
product launches in the coming year
FERIRESHELHER - BME—FRRHER 20255 &k 2 Al
Z B
Carrying out the production line 135.27 7.00% 74.40 60.87 By the end of
expansion of our advanced Nansha 2022
manufacturing facility in anticipation
of our product launches in the coming
years
ABRMUREINEELEERBETEERER 20224 &k 2 Al
UEBEARFENERLT
Our business development activities and 96.62 5.00% - 96.62 By the end of
the expansion of drug pipelines 2023
HittERBREFHREREROER 20234 K32 Al
Working capital and other general 193.23 10.00% 45.58 147.65 By the end of
corporate purposes 2022
EELSSRHM-REERE 20224 Kk 2 Al
1,932.32 353.71 1,578.61

As at December 31, 2021, all the unused net proceeds are held by
the Company in short-term deposits with licensed banks or authorized
financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The expected timeline for utilizing the net proceeds from the Global
Offering is based on the best estimation of future market conditions made
by the Company and subject to changes in accordance with our actual
business operation. Going forward, the net proceeds will be applied in
the manner as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” of the Prospectus and there is no change in the intended use of
net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In September 2021, the Group received approval from the CDE to initiate
two concurrent Phase III clinical trials for NVK002, including the China
CHAMP and a one-year Mini-CHAMP in China. In order to facilitate the
process of the China CHAMP and the Mini-CHAMP, on April 8, 2022,
Zhaoke Guangzhou entered into the CRO Service Agreements with Lee’s
Pharm Hefei, pursuant to which Zhaoke Guangzhou agreed to engage
Lee’s Pharm Hefei as a CRO service provider to provide relevant CRO
services for developing NVK002 for myopia and the Board approved the
continuing connected transactions thereunder and the respective annual
caps for the nine months ending December 31, 2022 and the two years
ending December 31, 2023 and 2024. For further details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated April 8, 2022 and April 14,
2022, respectively.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no material subsequent events
undertaken by the Group after December 31, 2021 and up to the date of
this report.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The AGM is scheduled to be held on May 31, 2022. A notice convening the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders of the Company
in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from May 26, 2022
to May 31, 2022, both days inclusive, in order to determine the identity
of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which
period no share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend the
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May
25, 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 54 to 74
of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Company maintained the prescribed public float as
required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands where the
Company is incorporated which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITORS

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on April 29, 2021, and
the Company has no change in auditors since the Listing Date. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021
have been prepared by KPMG, the auditor of the Company, who will retire
at the conclusion of the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of by KPMG as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this report form
part of this annual report.

By Order of the Board
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, March 23, 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 109 to 209, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December
31, 2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and in forming our opinion thereon and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Assessment of impairment of intangible assets

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies in notes 2(g) and 2(i)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed
in our audit

THEARREM B

FLBGRA BB AIRIIURMZE2(9) R2(1)(i1)FHIZ 5

B

BREIER

EMANEANAEEZER

The carrying amount of the Group’s
intangible assets was RMB162.4
million as of December 31, 2021.

At the end of each reporting period,
the items of intangible assets are
allocated to cash-generating units
("CGUs"). Where indicators of
impairment of a CGU are identified,
management performs an impairment
assessment of the CGU by comparing
its carrying value with its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value
in use based on discounted cash
flow forecasts. In addition, for CGUs
containing intangible assets which
are not ready for use, an impairment
assessment is performed at least
annually even if there is no indicator
of impairment.

We identified the assessment of
impairment of intangible assets as
a key audit matter because of the
significance of the carrying value
of such assets to the consolidated
financial statements and because
the preparation of discounted cash
flow forecasts for the purpose of
impairment assessments involves
estimating future revenue, future
operating cost, growth rates for
income and expenses and discount
rates, which are subject to a
significant degree of judgement and
could be subject to management
bias.

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of
intangible assets included the following:

. understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key
internal controls over the impairment
assessment;

o evaluating management’s identification
of CGUs and the allocation of intangible
assets to each CGU with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

0 evaluating management’s identification
of impairment indicators with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

. with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
methodology adopted by management
in its preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

. evaluating the key assumptions
adopted in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue, future
operating cost and growth rates for
income and expenses with reference
to our understanding of the business,
historical trends and available industry
information and market data;

. with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
discount rates used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by benchmarking
against other companies in the same
industry;
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Assessment of impairment of intangible assets

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting
policies in notes 2(g) and 2(i)(ii).

How the matter was addressed
The Key Audit Matter in our audit

S BYRSMEmE

THEARREM B

FLBG A BB AIRIIURME2(9) R2(1)(i)FHIE 7
B

BREIER EMNEANAEERER

. comparing the key assumptions
included in the discounted cash flows
forecasts prepared by management in
the prior year with the current year’s
performance to assess the accuracy
of the prior year’s forecast, making
enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these had
been considered in the current year
discounted cash flow forecasts and
considering if there was any indication
of management bias;

. performing a sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions in the discounted cash
flow forecasts and considering the
resulting impact on the impairment
charge for the year and whether there
were any indicators of management
bias; and

. assessing the reasonableness of
the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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BYZBERE.

Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers

Refer to note 7(c) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies

in note 2(g)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed
in our audit

BRRERERB R el R

FRRG A B REZNE7(c)U RN 2(g) (i) P HIZFHE

BREIER

EMNEANAEERER

During the year ended December 31,
2021, the Group incurred significant
research and development ("R&D")
expenses of RMB220.1 million, of
which service fees paid to contract
research organizations ("CROs")
and clinical site management
operators ("SMOs") (collectively the
“outsourced service providers”)
amounted to RMB113.2 million.

We identified accruals for service fees
for the outsourced service providers
as a key audit matter because clinical
trials are core part of the Group's
R&D activities and there is a risk of
under/over accruals of R&D expenses
at the end of the reporting period
given the significance of the Group's
R&D expenses to the consolidated
financial statements.

Our audit procedures to assess accruals for
service fees to outsourced service providers
included the following:

. understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key
internal controls over:

. the engagement of CROs and
SMOs;

u the oversight and management
of the progress of the underlying
clinical trials;

" the accounting for related
expenses;

o inquiring management and project
managers about the progress of clinical
trials;

0 examining, on a sample basis, the

service fees to outsourced service
providers recorded during the year,
agreeing them to the relevant service
agreements, outsourced service
providers’ acknowledgement of
milestones achieved, invoices and bank
payment advices for settled balances
and assessing whether the related
service fees have been recognized in
accordance with the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

0 re-calculating the accruals for service
fees to the outsourced service providers
and comparing the recalculated amount
with the recorded amount, on a sample
basis, based on the progress of related
clinical trial activities/milestones
achieved and the terms stated in the
underlying service agreements;
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Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers BRI B R st 5 E

Refer to note 7(c) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies ELE A BREN L7 ()M RITiE2(g)(i)) PGB °
in note 2(g)(ii).

How the matter was addressed
in our audit

The Key Audit Matter BREIEE EMNEANAEERER

sending confirmations to major
outsourced service providers to confirm
the service fees, progress/milestones
achieved, on a sample basis. For
unreturned confirmations, comparing
service fees paid and payable to
outsourced service providers with
the underlying service agreements,
outsourced service providers’
acknowledgement of milestones
achieved and invoices;

comparing actual payments during the
current year with the accrued fees to
outsourced service providers at the last
reporting date to assess the accuracy
of accruals of R&D expenses; and

comparing actual service fee payments
made subsequent to the reporting
date with the accrued service fees
to outsourced service providers at
the reporting date to assess whether
there were any significant under/over-
accrued balances.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Ngar Yee.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

March 23, 2022
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-~~~ Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss -

For the year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F12A318ILFE

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Revenue e - -
Other income HrA 21,133 68,462
Other net gain/(loss) Hipas(FR)F58E 13,409 (5,487)
Research and development expenses T EER (220,058) (81,779)
General and administrative expenses —RRITEER (162,080) (35,002)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFAX (16,736) (1,542)
Loss from operations REBE (364,332) (55,348)
Interest expenses FMERAX (1,949) (1,655)
Changes in the carrying amount of preferred B ABERACEEEE)
shares liability (1,763,499) (669,978)
Loss before taxation R AIEE (2,129,780) (726,981)
Income tax FRiSHt = =
Loss for the year FREE (2,129,780) (726,981)
Loss per share (RMB) SREB(AR%T)
Basic L= 9N (5.16) (4.81)
Diluted ' (5.16) (4.81)

The notes on pages 115 to 209 form part of these financial statements. #1155 2098 MM BRI SRR A — 5 ©




* Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income = =

For the year ended December 31, 2021

HZE2021F12A8318IEFE
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Loss for the year fﬁWJﬁE ________________________________ (2,129,780) . (726,981)
Other comprehensive income for the FREMEZEKE
year

Item that may be reclassified subsequently  HZalgtEH HiAEEAEA ¢
to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of BREDREEEIWIEARKHELR

financial statements of entities with SRR ME N =58

functional currencies other than Renminbi

("RMB") (51,191) 56,120
Total comprehensive income for the FAZERZEERE

year (2,180,971) (670,861)

The notes on pages 115 to 209 form part of these financial statements. #1155 2098 MM BRI SRR A — 5 ©




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e WA R

At December 31, 2021
#M2021F12A31H
2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T ARETT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R REE 12 184,318 138,458
Intangible assets B EE 13 162,383 138,691

Prepayments on purchases of property, plant
and equipment

BEWE - BE MRENANKIEA

49,812 35,814

396,513 312,963

Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments Hofth e GRIE R TR FIE 15 46,800 18,146
Amount due from a related company &k —FEI RS A RIZRIB 16 - 13,051
Pledged bank balances EERIRITAER 17(a) 25,508 11,083

Time deposits with original maturity over JREEA A B =18 A 8 E BER

three months 17(a) 8,157 806,247
Cash and cash equivalents HERACEEY 17(a) 2,128,429 65,096
2,208,894 913,623

Current liabilities REAE

Other payables and accruals Hi e E REAER 18 59,153

Amounts due to related companies FEIRARSE A AIZRIE 19 13,684

Bank loans SRITER 20 10,289

Lease liabilities HEAE 21 5,882
______________________________________________________________________________________ RPN 000 53,666
Netcurrentassets = _____________#"EAERE . . ERELALIN 859,957
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRRBAR 2,516,399

Non-current liabilities FERBEE

Lease liabilities HEAE 21 20,861

Deferred income FEIEUA 22 51

Convertible redeemable preferred shares A BB A] i O] ST AR 24(d) -

20,912

2,495,487 (745,968)

Net assets/ (liabilities) BEEFE(AEFH)

Capital and reserves BEARR @G

Share capital & 24(b)
Reserves i

-k
2,495,487

—%

(745,968)

Total equity/(deficit)

ez, (B4 @A

2,495,487

(745,968)

& The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000.

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on March 23,

2022.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
ZNREL
Director

EF

The notes on pages 115 to 209 form part of these financial statements.

*

e ONARKEL,0007T

M2022F3 A23 B ER A RIXETIE -

Mr. Dai Xiangrong
MR ELE
Director

EF

F£115E209H M FEBARM B HRzR A —#D -
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- Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equlty' o

For the year ended December 31, 2021

HZE2021F12A8318IEFE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FARERRRES
Share Share Other Capital Merger Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
e RAEE Rt B5Rh 4 ENRE ZitHE &t
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fis ARETT AEETT ARETT ARETT AEETT NS ARETT ARETT

Balance at January 1, 2020 20205151 AMER =i 132,230 = = 2,411 5,024 (165,197) (25,532)
Changes in equity for 2020: 20205 HE#%2E :
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (726981)  (726,981)
Other comprehensive income  Zft2EME - - - - - 56,120 - 56,120
Total comprehensive income  2EUEEE - - - - - 56,120 (726,981) (670,861)
Deemed distribution to RIER—2REAR

a shareholder - - (129,033) - - - - (129,033)
Capital contribution from RAZNBLARTE

fellow subsidiaries - - 133,391 - - - - 133,391
Equity-settled share-based ~ MIEEEENRR

payment expenses AERRNRX = - - 14,168 - - - 14,168
Share Repurchase R 24(c)(i) -* (68,101) - - - - - (68,101)
Balance at December 31,  #202012831RF

2020 and January 1,2021  2021%1R1 AL 64,129 ! : ] ; (892,178)  (745,968)
Changes in equity for 2021: 2021 EHEXSE
Loss for the year FREE (2,129,780)  (2,129,780)
Other comprehensive income  Et2EM (51,191) - (51,191)
Total comprehensive income ~ 2EM&E1EE (51,191)  (2,129,780) (2,180,971)
Equity-settled share-based ~ MEEEENRH

payment expenses AR 108,155 108,155
Conversion of convertible REATBADREER

redeemable preferred shares  ERFEATED
upon initial public offering Erik

('IP0") 24(c)(i) 3,649,949 3,649,949
Shares issued upon IPO RETEADRE
ki 24(c)(iv) 1,730,707 1,730,707

Shares issuance expenses REARR 24(c)(iv) (79,012) (79,012)
Shares issued under share BERRETEEIRG

option scheme 48,191 (35,564) 12,627
Balance at December 31,  R2021%12A31RK

2021 &8 5,413,964 " 86,759 2,411 9,953  (3,021,958) 2,495,487
& The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. & e BEINARKL,0007T ©

The notes on pages 115 to 209 form part of these financial statements. F1155 2098 MBI Sz M — &5




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁéi

For the year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F12A31 8 IEFE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
B e AR¥T T ARETT
Operating activities RETEH
Loss before taxation At RIE R (2,129,780) (726,981)
Adjustments for: LA TN R IE R -
Depreciation nE 7(c) 23,725 17,787
Amortization of intangible assets A 7(c) 2,106 2,066
Income from licensing agreement GEN L ON 5 - (64,246)
Finance costs BTG RR AN 7(a) 1,765,448 671,633
Equity-settled share-based payment LAME 45 55 DA RR (D AR Y
expenses MERFAZ 23(d) 109,858 14,998
Bank interest income RITHEWA 5 (5,036) (2,582)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LB - BE REEER
equipment 7(c) - 9
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss HNEE (Uas ) E1E F 58 (14,373) 2,898
Changes in working capital: EEE L EE)
Increase in other receivables and b B MR SR IE K FE S FRIE S N
prepayments (28,824) (3,434)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a FEM—RIRAE A Bl 5 R A
related company (1) 13,051 (13,051)
Increase in other payables and accruals HAb T IA R ERTE AN 5,227 26,561
Decrease in amounts due to fellow FESR R B A RIF IR
subsidiaries (29,225)
Increase in amounts due to related FEAST AR A RIFRIE L N
companies 13,498 186
Decrease in deferred income EIEWR AR (43) (44)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEEFTARES R (245,143) (103,425)
Investing activities RETH
Increase in pledged deposits B RF RGN (14,965) (11,732)
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with JREHA B 8B =18 A 80 E EiTFE R
original maturity over three months wm (SEN) 787,942 (770,378)
Increase in prepayment on purchase of BEWE  BE REHENTERNK
property, plant and equipment N (15,121) (41,066)
Payment for purchase of property, plant and BEE#% « BiE MEENRK
equipment (50,408) (25,294)
Payment for purchase of intangible assets BEEFAEMNNR (28,963) (109,595)
Interest received BFE 5,036 2,582
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEFAE (A RLBHE
investing activities 683,521 (955,483)
Financing activities RMEEE
Payments of listing expenses Lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘ (79,012) (1,371)
Proceeds from bank loans TERWFTSRIE 17(b) 689 10,000
Repayment of bank loans Ea}aﬂ@ﬁf%m 17(b) (C)) -
Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares BEERAFRAEERT
under IPO TmAREATIS IR 1,730,707 -
Proceeds from shares issued under RR R B TRD K
share option scheme PS5 7818 12,627 =
Net proceeds from the issue of convertible TR EA R B 5L AR A
redeemable preferred shares Fr{S /IR 558 - 970,113
Capital element of lease rentals paid Eﬁ%ﬁéﬁ’m‘%*ﬂﬁ 17(b) (4,147) (3,400)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BN S8 17(b) (1,352) (1,458)
Interest paid BEAFE 17(b) (597) (197)
Net cash generated from financing activities BIE/EEFSIREF5E 1,658,515 973,687
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* * (Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows - - - = = = =« = =
R A R -

For the year ended December 31, 2021

HZE2021F12A8318IEFE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
B e AR¥T T ARBFIT
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBSE@EWEM
_ Cashequivalents =~ BRMm® 2,096,893 (85,221)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHURERELEEY
beginning of the year 65,096 154,769
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /M&ERS B, (33,560) (4,452)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FREERBEESEEY
the year 17(a) 2,128,429

The notes on pages 115 to 209 form part of these financial statements. #1155 2098 MM TR M REZA — 3D ©




1.

Notes to the Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) on January 20, 2017. On
April 29, 2020, the Company was redomiciled to the Cayman Islands
with its registered office at Vistra (Cayman) Limited, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, George Town, Grand Cayman
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands (the "Cayman Companies Act”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) are principally engaged in
the development, manufacturing and marketing of ophthalmic drugs.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since April 29, 2021.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated annual results set out in this report do not
constitute the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2021 but are extracted from
those financial statements.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Group’s consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. None of these developments
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

B ISR B RE

—REH

KEHREI AR AR ([RAT1)MN201741 H20H
TERE I R S RE AL - 1202044 A29H -
AATIEMEREHS  BERASESEEF22
ERALE(1961FE(5I3 « &84xE RIERT) ([ B8
ERTEDKAERRER AR - MR EER
Vistra (Cayman) Limited, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, George
Town, Grand Cayman °

ARAB—IHREERAT - AATREMEL
A(GeTBl A M) = R FRBEDMBIT - £
EREH -

RNAFIHMRD B2021F4 A29 H B EBBHE R
SATERAB (TB3A]) ER L

EXRGFTEHE
(a) BHIEH

RIREFMEMGRE B FEELTEAARE
EEE2021512A31 B It EFENGEEE
B - ERSREZEVIE®RE

REENGREWBBREREMEERS
BB EER (FE S EI AR EMEFT
BHEBENEBHBHRELER - HEES
EARBRENSRNE) BEAREFTRAIK
BB RANERGINRERE - BN - AEH
HER A M ISR E ST R FTRE o B AR A
E R R IR -

BRGHMAGERME TRASEAS
SR E R AR A H IR R KA EER
BREEUETA - ERERELBHAE
I AN A RS sl 1 BRI 2R 48 M TSRO O
A 2T EREATE - AEBEL
JE PRI A AN & 5T ER R 1) R AR RO T AT 28
Ak Rg -
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Notes

to the Financial Statements

B R R BT

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

(c)

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2021 comprise the company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for an embedded
derivative which is measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. None of these developments
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEFBER(E)

(CONTINUED)

(d) Subsidiaries

(d) #1@ A&

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and cash flows and any unrealized
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interest within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
the resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is recognized at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(i)(ii)).

(e) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period, the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

MBARAZAEEZHNELRE - XEH
FEAYE S ELR §8 P A= A 1 T 5 () S L e
K FH SR G PTE RO R] £ 0 AR
WHEEBBHZERMBEENENTZE
ZEOREHAEHIZER - B EAREE
BRAZENR - BEEAREEREMT
FrsAREERER -

RIBR R E B 1EHIFRG B HEEE
HERBHIEN G M BRRPES
IR SEARAREGS RZERERE
VAR 5= B A 2 ) ) 32 5 T E AR O A fr] R 22
BN BEREGA M RRETHES -
SERNRRERSAEENRERERIZR
BRI Wan AR A0 77 SRS - BER
HBRREZBRRR -

ARE B KT A AR s A B2 B AN TN B
REEGIE - AIEAREI S AR - Y&
fRAENEHER ROFERES S BIEY
HE - ARBRIALESEE) - ETSHE
B AR ERY SIS -

EAREEKELME QR MR - B
BHENZMEBE R RN 2R AR
AR RS B R INME R - KRS
YIS B2 AT B A BIR B ) (AT
MR A HERER - R BERIEV SR
EMEENAFE  K(WEE) TR
REFERRHA ERENRENRA -

RARBIRNEERA KT - RIBEARA
& & H AN R B S 18 51 BR (LB RE2(1)
(i) °

TELHT A

PTAESRTARAFENTHER - REH
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Notes to the Financial Statements
TR R M 5

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (f) Y% - BERRE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note

2(i)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of an asset.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognized in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if
any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Estimated useful life

Properties leased for Over the unexpired periods of the
own use leases and their estimated useful
lives
Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or remaining
lease term
Machinery and 3-10 years
equipment
Furniture, fixture and 3-10 years
office equipment
Motor vehicle 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents machinery and equipment
pending installation and is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). Cost comprises the purchase costs of
the asset and the related construction and installation costs.

Construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment when the asset is substantially ready for
its intended use and depreciation will be provided at the
appropriate rates in accordance with the depreciation policies
specified above.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Intangible assets

(i)

Patents

Patents are capitalized on the basis of the cost incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific patent. These
costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of 10
to 17 years. The Group should assess whether there is
any indication that patent is impaired at the end of each
reporting period.

The patents relate to therapeutic technologies developed
by the Group. The useful lives of the patents were
estimated by the Group based on the respective
periods over which economic benefits are expected
to be derived from the underlying technologies. The
estimation of the useful lives has taken into account
the expected period required for the development of an
innovative biopharmaceutical drug from its discovery
to commercialization, the patent protection period, the
historical life of similar products, the characteristics of
such technologies, their update frequency and market
requirement and competition. Based on the different
commercialization commencement dates and the
expected lifespan of economic benefits of individual
technologies, the useful lives of the Group’s patents
have been assessed to range from 10 to 17 years.

BT R o
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 * Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAS:EHEE)

(CONTINUED)
(9) Intangible assets (Continued) (9) BEEE (&)

(ii) Research and development expenditures (ii) AR

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts on
research and development activities, which include
expenditures on drug products. Research expenditures
are charged to the profit or loss as an expense in the
period the expenditures are incurred. Development
costs are recognized as assets if they can be directly
attributable to a newly developed drug products and all
the following can be demonstrated:

(i) the technical feasibility of completing the
development project so that it will be available for
use or sale;

(ii)  the Group’s intention to complete the development
project to use or sell it;

(iii) the Group’s ability to use or sell the development
project;

(iv) how the development project will generate
probable future economic benefits for the Group;

(v) the Group’s availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the development
project; and

(vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditures
attributable to the development project.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is the
sum of the expenditures incurred from the date the asset
meets the recognition criteria above to the date when it
is available for use. The costs capitalized in connection
with the intangible asset include costs of materials and
services used or consumed, employee costs incurred
in the creation of the asset and an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads. The Group generally considers
capitalization criteria for internally generated intangible
assets are met when obtaining regulatory approval of
new drug license.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(g) Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Research and development expenditures
(Continued)

Capitalized development expenditures are amortized
using the straight-line method over the life of the related
drug products. Amortization shall begin when the asset
is available for use. Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally generated intangible assets are reported as
cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)) (if any).

Development expenditures not satisfying the above
criteria are recognized in the profit or loss as incurred
and development expenditures previously recognized
as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a
subsequent period.

In-licenses

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost.

Certain intangible assets are for licenses of intellectual
properties in development, with non-refundable upfront
payment, milestone payment and royalty payment.
Upfront payment is capitalized when paid. The
milestone payment is capitalized as intangible assets
when incurred, unless the payment is for outsourced
research and development work which would follow the
capitalization policy in note 2(g)(ii). Royalty payment
would be accrued for in line with the underlying sales
and recognized as a cost of sales.

(9) BEEEE (&)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
TR R M 5

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEFBER(E)

(CONTINUED)
(g) Intangible assets (Continued) (9) BEEE (&)
(iii) In-licenses (Continued) (iii) SIEFFAI(&)

The intangible assets are assessed to be either finite EREENTEREHY AERE
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are SERE - BRANER EERR
subsequently amortized when ready for use and over F R {58 AR BF 422 AT (58 PR A0 B8 4F HR
the economic useful life and assessed for impairment - WRNEDRBERNEREE B
whenever there is an indication that the intangible BERERE - AERAGAF
asset may be impaired. The amortization period and Hﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/é“?ﬁﬁfiﬁéﬁﬂ&&ﬁ%ﬁi
the amortization method for an intangible asset with EOREREAREE X - AE
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of 5ETfiﬁﬁ¢fﬁHeré1ﬂin,\f§iﬁﬁElﬁﬁ
each reporting period. Intangible assets with indefinite HEERTSH®E  EEFEEN
useful lives or not ready for use will not be amortized IR B EE A B fE T A 1 TOR (B A
but tested for impairment annually either individually A o ZRERIH K LB S TR E
or at the cash generating unit level. The impairment EWNr e S EERmE - AER
test would compare the recoverable amount of the in- FHNEFEEENAFERAFHESE
licenses asset to its carrying value. The useful life of ?Eﬁ%§ VAT 7E 8 (R 4F HR RO AT
an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed BBERETFE - a0 - AAEA]
annually to determine whether the indefinite life ﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁaﬂéﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ@
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the ENZATIE M EEARR -

change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

In-licenses with finite useful life are amortized using ABRAEAFHNSIEFITRE
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the HEREERBABELER SR
underlying products, commencing from the date when TR FHIN A B ARR S o

the products are put into commercial production.

In-licensed technologies acquired from third parties. SRR RIT IME=HIEE &K
The useful lives of the in-licensed technologies were EIﬁEAT‘EHH—J@*EFﬁ&%XEW
estimated by the Group based on the respective & M 2o O A P BRE A 5 S A R RT3
periods over which economic benefits are expected mﬂ’]—ﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁ o A[ s A HAEY ik
to be derived from the underlying technologies. The FHEE T B AIE A s (335
estimation of the useful lives has taken into account B (L) TEEHAFT R R R - SR
the expected period required for the development of an AR EE AR - BHEMD
innovative biopharmaceutical drug from its discovery FELFH - BRARMOSHREN
to commercialization, the exclusive rights period of ERARTIZERRBE - ERE
in-licensed technologies, the historical life of similar S ENE LG TS E L ARS8
products, the characteristics of such technologies, 25 #) TR BRHAPR - AN E S| FT AT
their update frequency and market requirement and AT ) AT 6 B £ B # e (R A F5
competition. Based on the different commercialization ZF15% -

commencement dates and the expected lifespan of
economic benefits of individual technologies, the useful
lives of the Group’s in-licensed technologies have been
assessed to range from 5 to 15 years.

Both the period and method of amortization are B A R A B E T AR
reviewed annually. =t o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. EXETEERE)

(9) Intangible assets (Continued) (9) BEELEE (&)

(iv) Softwares

Computer software which is recognized at historical
cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses (see
note 2(i)(ii)). The Group amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years based
on the current functionalities and the daily operation
needs of the software.

IT applications development in progress represents IT
applications pending execution and is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(i)(ii)). Cost comprises the
purchase costs of the asset and the related set up and
installation costs.

Both the period and method of amortization are
reviewed annually.

(h) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalized are recognized as an expense on a systematic basis
is over the lease term.

(iv) 54

2 2 AR ANHERR ) BB B BN A AR IR
PSR = RT3 I R DR EE 1R
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Notes to the Financial Statements
TR R M 5

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(h) Leased assets (Continued) (h) HEZE (&)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease is capitalized is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(f) and 2(i)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets and measured at
amortised cost (see notes 1(r)(i) and (i)(i)). Any difference
between the initial fair value and the nominal value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments made
and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT R o

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the
present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment” and presents “lease liabilities” separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECLs"”) on financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and bank balances, other
receivables and amounts due from group companies).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECLs assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).
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 * Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAS:EHEE)

(CONTINUED)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) EEERBRREEHREE)
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) EMIANEEEEGE)

(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

= fixed-rate financial assets and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof; and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

= 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the
12 months after the end of reporting period; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECLs
model applies.

Loss allowances for receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(i) GEEBRREEREE)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) EMIANEEEEE)
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
end of reporting period with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAS:EHEE)
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

= failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

= existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due
status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs
amount is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT R o

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with note 2(r)
(i) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

= significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

= it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAS:EHEE)
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or other
receivables is written off (either partially or in full) to
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
This is generally the case when the asset becomes
90 days past due or when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or an impairment loss previously recognized no longer
exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- intangible assets;
- other non-current assets; and

= investment in a subsidiary in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets
that are not yet available for use and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) GEEBAREE/HEE)
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of non-current assets (ii) FRBEEREE)
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis,
or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use (if
determinable).
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 * Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAS:EHEE)

(CONTINUED)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i) EEERBRREEHREE)
(Continued)
(ii) Impairment of non-current assets (ii) FRBEERME(E)
(Continued)
- Reversals of impairment losses —  BEREEE
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an HREBAINNEEMS -
impairment loss is reversed if there has been fisi FA A B T2 PR Bl <& RE A 1
a favorable change in the estimates used to TR AR M - BB RR
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment BEEE - HEREBEET
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. SRME o
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to R B R R E BB ER N B
the asset’s carrying amount that would have T EEWARERREBEM
been determined had no impairment loss been [EETHMEEREE  F7
recognized in prior years. Reversals of impairment B BB EEB B ERERERD
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in FEFTABR

which the reversals are recognized.

(i) Receivables () EWsE
A receivable is recognized when the Group has an JE W SR IE A 7 5= (B 75 4 (G R A R KU ER AR (B
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive RHER o M EEEREESIEK AT
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is HAREL - BB E BRI A EE -

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Receivables are subsequently stated at amortized cost, using JE UK IE EL 18 LA B R 1| S SR T S K 2R 5 |
the effective interest method and including an allowance for B - WREEEBERE(RHTE230)3)) °

credit losses (see note 2(i)(i)).

(k) Cash and cash equivalents (k) BRZRELZEY

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on RekReEEVMRERTEFERS
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial RIRTT R EM I SRS BER - AR
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that RRE - RAME - ATEER IR E NS RE
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which WIRe BEESAEEZHEREREAR
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having =EAAANEHNIRE - B RFSEEY
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and JEIRBRMTEE2(1) (1) FTE M BUR ST TR B {E
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the BEi8 -

policy set out in note 2(i)(i).




Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Payables

Payables are initially recognized at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at invoice amounts.

(m) Convertible redeemable preferred
shares

Preferred shares give rise to financial liabilities if they are
redeemable at the option of the shareholders in case of
occurrence of triggering events that are beyond the control of
the Company and also the holders of the preferred shares.

At initial recognition, the liabilities resulting from the preferred
shares are measured at the present value of the redemption
amount. The redemption amount represents the settlement
that would be triggered by the event with the highest
settlement outcome, and which may change from time to
time. Changes in the carrying amount of the liabilities are
recognized in profit or loss. The measurement of the liabilities
also takes into account the conversion feature. The conversion
feature is measured at fair value as per note 2(e), because
it will not be settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number
of the Group’s own equity instruments. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the convertible redeemable preferred
shares are included in the initial carrying amount of the
financial liabilities.

If the preferred shares are converted into ordinary shares,
the carrying amount of the financial liabilities is transferred to
share capital and share premium.

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortized cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognized and redemption value being recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements © -

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant
to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the
jurisdictions in which the Group’s subsidiaries located are
recognized as an expense in profit or loss as incurred,
except to the extent that they are included in the cost of
inventories not yet recognized as an expense.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees,
directors or consultants is recognized as an expense
with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity over the period that the individuals become
unconditionally entitled to the options. Share options
granted to employees, directors or consultants, are
measured at grant date using the binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted.

The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the number of share options for which the related
service and non-market vesting conditions are expected
to be met, such that amount ultimately recognised as
an expense is based on the number of awards that do
meet the related service and non-market performance
conditions at the vesting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEFBER(E)

(CONTINUED)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(o) ES#EF (&)

(ii) Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognized in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. The equity amount is
recognized in the capital reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount recognized
in share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to equity).

(p) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHEZ(E)
(CONTINUED)

(p) Income tax (Continued) (p) Friis# (&)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized, are recognized. Future taxable
profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilized.
Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(p) Income tax (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

2. EXETEERE)

(p) Pz (&)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognized when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

= in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realize the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realize and settle simultaneously.

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAE:EHEE)
(CONTINUED)

(r) Other income

Details of the Group’s other income recognition policies are as
follows:

()

(i)

(iii)

Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognized as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the
cost of an asset are recognized initially as deferred
income and amortized to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the useful life of the asset by way of being
recognized in other income.

Royalty income and income from licensing
agreements

Royalty income earned through a license is recognized as
the underlying sales are recorded by the licensee.

Income from licensing agreements typically arises
from the receipt of upfront, milestone and other similar
payments from third parties for granting a license to
product-or technology-related intellectual property
("IP"). Licensing agreements maybe entered into
with no further obligation or may include rights to
manufacturing.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEBXR(E)

(CONTINUED)
(r) Et%A (&)

(iii) B EEAERARTA

(r) Other income (Continued)

(iii) Royalty income and income from licensing

agreements (Continued)

Licenses granted under licensing agreements are
generally unique. Therefore the basis of allocating
income to performance obligations makes use of the
residual approach. Upfront payments and other licensing
fees are usually recognized upon granting the license
which is when the licensee obtains the right to use the
underlying IP of the license, unless some of the income
shall be deferred for other performance obligations using
the residual approach. Such deferred income is released
and recognized as income when other performance
obligations are satisfied. Milestone payments are
typically received upon reaching a specific development
milestone. Development milestone income is recognized
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at the point in time when it is highly probable that the 7R o
respective milestone event criteria is achieved, and the
risk of income reversal is considered remote.

(iv) Other income (iv) Hpulg A

Income is recognized when the performance obligation is
fulfilled (i.e., when certain therapeutic technologies are
transferred, and the customer obtains control over the
technologies).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAS:EHEE)
(CONTINUED)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

(t)

Foreign currency transactions during the Relevant Periods
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Company
initially recognizes such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

(u) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(M

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or a joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or a joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 25 contains information about the assumptions and their risk
factors relating to financial instruments.

Other key sources of estimation uncertainty is as follows:

Impairments of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to identify indications that
the assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognized no longer exists or may have decreased (see
note 2(i)(ii)).

The sources utilized to identify indications of impairment are often
subjective in nature and the Group is required to use judgment in
applying such information to its business. The Group’s interpretation
of this information has a direct impact on whether an impairment
assessment is performed as at the end of any given reporting
period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairments of non-financial assets (Continued)

If an indication of impairment is identified, such information is
further subject to an exercise that requires the Group to estimate
the recoverable amount, representing the greater of the asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal or its value in use. Depending on the
Group’s assessment of the overall materiality of the asset under
review and complexity of deriving reasonable estimates of the
recoverable amount, the Group may perform such assessments
utilizing internal resources or the Group may engage external
advisors to counsel the Group. Regardless of the resources utilized,
the Group is required to make many assumptions to make these
assessments, including the utilization of such asset, the cash
flows to be generated, appropriate market discount rates and the
projected market and regulatory conditions. Changes in any of these
assumptions could result in a material change to future estimates of
the recoverable amount of any asset.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are development,
manufacturing and marketing of ophthalmic drugs. No revenue
was derived from these activities during the current and prior
years.

(b) Segment reporting

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports that the Group’s most senior executive management
reviews regularly in allocating resources to segments and in
assessing their performances.

The Group’s most senior executive management makes
resources allocation decisions based on internal management
functions and assess the Group’s business performance as
one integrated business instead of by separate business lines
or geographical regions. Accordingly, the Group has only one
operating segment and therefore, no segment information is
presented.

3.
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OTHER INCOME

5. HfulgA

Bank interest income

Government grants

- Employment support grants (note i)

- Other government grants (note ii)
Income from licensing agreement (note iii)
Other income (note iv)

Others

RITAEHA

BT 475 B

— LR B (i aED)
— EL A BT 8 B (P =i
Bl L ONCIET
H AW A (F Eiv)

Hfth

Notes:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The amount represents government grants received from various
PRC government authorities in connection with the fiscal subsidies
for providing financial support to enterprises and paying wages to the
employees.

The amount represents subsidies received from government for
encouragement of technology research and development and
compensation on the capital expenditure of production lines.

On October 2, 2020, the Group entered into a licensing agreement with
Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited, the then immediate holding
company, and Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, the then
fellow subsidiary of the Company, (collectively, the “Licensees”). Under
this agreement, the Group agreed to grant exclusive license rights to
the Licensees to commercialize Adapalene and Clindamycin Combination
gel, a dermatological drug, for a period of 10 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. The license agreement includes a non-
refundable upfront payment, milestone payment and sales-based royalty
upon commercialization of the licensed product. During the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Group received the non-refundable upfront
payment of US$10,000,000 (equivalents to RMB68,101,000) by way of
Share Repurchase (note 24(c)(i)) upon signing of the agreement.

On November 5, 2020, the Group entered into a technology transfer
agreement with Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, a related
company of the Company, to transfer all proprietary rights and research
and development results in respect of Dinoprostone Gel, a gynecology
drug, for a total consideration of RMB1,360,000.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

2021 2020
202145 2020%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
5,036 2,582
222

44

64,246

1,360

8

68,462

Z e RIE IS P BT A B B B 5 B - £2
ARAtEEHEE B RAREES N TENHS
B E R

% BRI BUR B RO R RG + DASRR) B M BT 3% A
R EEEREARSH

MR2020F 10 A2H * A& BEKARQ G E B
#) H ¥ £ & 2 7 Lee’s Pharmaceutical
International Limited & & B &) [F K & 2 7)
JRRIEEZE (BN AR A (AT Al WRFAI A )T
S AR o BB IHE - AEER B R
Al F R B R AAE - R BE R - &5 -
SRPY K A S 7 S B S DA K BE B ST B RAE T
RB(—EXERET)  RHL10F - FA#H
HEETAREEMK - BREEMRRIRWET
AEmEECENEREETENRTEER
® o HZE2020F12A31HIEFE  AEEE
REEHHR BB BRI ATRE TR
10,000,000 7t (1 & W A R % 68,101,000
75) (FifaE24(c)(i)) °

7R2020F11 A58 @ A& EEAQ 7 — R
AR EEZE (BN ) AR R AT 3 17 85 3 1
& LEEAEBEE YRR (—EREE
BYREERAZEER  BREABARKE
1,360,0007T ©
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C e Rk MTEE

6. OTHER NET GAIN/(LOSS) 6. Hitthzs ~(&518) /38

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) SNEM S (E51R)FEE 13,409

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BREAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRFATER TOASHIBR A T R IHZ B
(a) Finance costs (a) FEHEXK

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T AREFT

Interest on bank loan RITERFE 597 197
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 1,352 1,458

1,949 1,655
Changes in the carrying amount of BEREEBEREDSELE :
preferred shares liability:

- Changes in present value of —EOSEREZS

redemption amount 58,208 74,329
- Changes in fair value of conversion — —#EUEENAFEES)

features 1,705,291 595,649

1,763,499 669,978

1,765,448 671,633
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BREAIEE(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Staff costs (b) ET A

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TAREMEFR 50,982 23,142
Contribution to defined benefit A 5 TE AR AR IRET &I VB B9 K
retirement plans 3,001 156
Equity-settled share-based payment  LAMERSAEE RS AR KL
expenses 96,168 12,631
150,151 35,929
Notes: B &
(i) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the (i) REBRBEERGMERE S EGH
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident RREBEEEAIREEEEGEANT
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under {& M 2 Al R 1 552 48 TR RFT 81 4R P& 7Y
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance EEEPatIENTESTE([RELE
and not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement B - 2B ES—HEABULXEA
plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement BEMATHZBINE - BIBRES
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF E - EEREEEARSBIZEERD
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required IR AB5% T EIEE R - & AR
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ A_EPBRA30,000787T © 5H 81 AR ENEF
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of SR e

HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(ii) Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the (i) WBETFENEBLSBREHE  A5H
PRC, the Group in the PRC participates in defined contribution 1R B2 B8 Y a5 BT SR PI AR AR Y R e
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organized by the HFRRBNGFEI([FHE]) - B - &
local government authorities whereby the Company and its AR RERFBBKHEAREREER
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to make contributions to the BEHFEHETED LRI - i
Schemes based on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s BN EERTIMRIKEINS
salaries. The local government authorities are responsible for the HEELRG -

entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

(iii)  Staff costs includes remuneration of directors and senior (i) BIRABEEZRSRELREHH B
management (notes 9 and 10). (Ff3E9 % 10) °
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7.
(CONTINUED)

(c) Other items

A %5 SR b

BRBE AT &5 15 ()

(c) BEftiEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T

Amortization of intangible assets ER B ERH

Depreciation charge HEEH

- owned property, plant and — BBV BENREE
equipment

- right-of-use assets —(EREEE

Auditors’ remuneration ZERET BN

- audit services — BEZR

- other services — H AR

Research and development expenses  #f3Fx

Loss on disposal of property, plant and HE¥%  E LR EHEE
equipment

Listing expenses EmAX

2,106 2,066

19,296 14,208
4,429 3,579
2,572 99

120 -
220,058 81,779
- 9
28,112 10,558

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the
Group are domiciled and operated.

(a) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman
Companies Act.

There is no income tax in the Cayman Islands and accordingly,
the operating results reported by the Company, is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

(b) Hong Kong income tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided
for at the rate of 16.5% as the Company has no estimated
assessable profits.

(c) The PRC corporate income tax

No provision for Mainland China income tax has been provided
for at a rate of 25% pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax
Law of the PRC and the respective regulations, as the Group’s
PRC entity has no estimated assessable profits.

REBBERTHAES

REBAEK B A A EM L& ZEFAEREE &
& PTEE A SR AT S A EIR B R NPT S 51 -

(a) BEHEFZ
AAFRIEE 2 A TR B 2 B S M A

U RERRERAR -

F2ESWEMEH - At ARFRE
MR 2B ERH S S B RANEAME
Tt o

(b) ZEHE
R A AL RBERI © S
1216.5%¢B K EHRESFISHRLE -
(c) FEEEFE
el A7 5 L ) P 4 9 A 31 P AR
W BURSR T B O RS RO R A BDE

o WER25%H B R B A5
TR o
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8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. EBBRRFPWHAER(E)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)
(d) Reconciliation between tax expense (d) BIEFI = BEE st B R B
and accounting loss at applicable tax BETERE IR -
rates:
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF 5 ARET
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE (2,129,780) (726,981)

Notional tax on loss before taxation, BB RIEENBRTIE(ZERERE
calculated at the rates applicable to EEEEENERTEAH)

losses in jurisdictions concerned (9,081)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A HIFI Sz (9T 7550 2 3,584
Tax effect of non-taxable income EERFHBRANFISTE (96)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized KIERFIBEIBNFIETLE =
Tax effect of tax losses not previously JCAIARMERRENA 2 FHIEEEHORETE

recognized and utilized (13,908)
The effect of waiver income (note i) e AR B R 2 (5T 33,348
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERZ AR E R = BRI 2

differences not recognized 39
Tax effect of super deduction for B F 2 INEHOBR BB 5 52 2 (B i)

research and development expenses

(note ii) (13,886)
Notes: B &

i) This amount represents the waiver of the amounts due to fellow (i) Zb REIE A o FE 1T R R BT A RIFKIE -
subsidiaries as capital contribution to the Group. ERMAEELE -

(ii)  According to the CIT Law, an additional 75% of qualified research (i) REBEEEMRSHE - R2018F171H
and development expenses incurred is allowed to be deducted Z2020F 12 A31 B HIM - ERTKA
from taxable income effective from January 1, 2018 to December - ATEEIMIR75% R & R FTE 4
31, 2020. From January 1, 2021, an additional 100% of qualified MEFAL - RBEEMBHIE © 2021
research and development expenses incurred is allowed to be F1A1BR. @ ERBUATTEINORR

deducted from taxable income under the CIT Law. 100% MR E IRIFFTE £ RS -
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8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Deferred tax assets not recognized

(1)

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(p),
the Group has not recognized any deferred tax assets in
respect of the following items:

A %5 SR b

mARmR TSR ()

(e) AEZHELHEEE

IRIRMRE2(p) BV & AT R - AEE IR
FRA T IR B MR R E IR A E

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT

Tax losses TIBEE
Deductible temporary differences AIHURE s M 22 58

413,697 119,002
4,069 4,102

417,766 123,104

It is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilized will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Deductible losses that are not
recognized as deferred tax assets will
be expired as follows:

HEARBRAIAEEENERTAARESL
R R FE SR A LA B FR S 48 I R R
RrMEEH o

(f) AERBIELHELEL
A HI BT IR A EI R0 F

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T

2020 20204
2021 20214
2022 20224
2023 2023%
2024 20244
2025 2025%
2026 20264

119,002 119,002
294,695 =

413,697 119,002
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9. EEXM=

RBEBRAEDIE383(1)ERR AT (KERES
NEERDROIFRBENEEHSOT

9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation

are as follows:

Directors’

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Discretionary

2021
2021%

LEE L EN
scheme

Share-based

fees in kind bonuses contributions payments
e 28 URB A
EEHe REWEF B  BRGTEISR ERNAN
Executive directors HITES
- Dr. Li Xiaoyi ~Z|\RigL 6,205 3,082 471 29,215
- Mr. Dai Xiangrong —RmREE = = = 4,087
Non-executive Directors F#H{TEE
- Ms. Leelalertsuphakun —FEpTt
Wanee
- Ms. Cai Li —Efilzt+
- Mr. Chen Yu —BRFEE
- Ms. Tiantian Zhang —REEH AL
(appointed on (20215
February 5, 2021) 2ASHEZ()
Independent Non- BYFHTES
executive Directors
- Mr. Wong Hin Wing —EmBRRTE
(appointed on April 1, (7220215
2021) 4R1REZ)
- Prof. Lo Yuk Lam —BHHAE
(appointed on April 1, (1A2021%
2021) 4R1BEZ)
- Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria —BESBE
(appointed on April 1, (20215
2021 and resigned on 4A1BEZRE
April 11, 2022) 120224

4A11RE4E)
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DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS

A %5 SR b

9. EEME(A)

(CONTINUED)
2020
2020F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme  Share-based
fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments Total
E2 = PARRED
2 REDRER B RIGTEIE ERHR fst
Executive directors HITES
- Dr. Li Xiaoyi —Z)\REL - - - - 3,398 3,398
- Mr. Dai Xiangrong —HmREE - - - - 707 707
Non-executive Directors #{TEE
- Ms. Leelalertsuphakun —FfEE L+
Wanee = = = = = =
- Ms. Cai Li —Efz+ = = = = = =
- Mr. Chen Yu —BRFEE = = = = = =
= = = = 4,105 4,105
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10.5MES AL

EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2020: Nil)
of them is a director whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other four (2020:
five) individuals are as follows:

EhakmME ALH - —&(2020F : &) RE
= HBES RGO E - HeRr4 (20204 ¢
HEEET ¢

AR ALHBE

Salaries and other emoluments Fre REMME
Discretionary bonuses IBAEAL
Share-based payments LARR 19 R BT B TR
Retirement scheme contributions RONFT B R

The emoluments of the four (2020: five) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

2020
20204
RMB’000
ARETT
3,751
1,048
3,922

a4

8,765

% (20204 « AA)&=ME A LSRRI

THE

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000
HK$4,500,001 - HK$5,000,000
HK$7,000,001 - HK$7,500,000
HK$7,500,001 - HK$8,000,000
HK$14,000,001 - HK$14,500,000
HK$14,500,001 - HK$15,000,000

T2 1,000,0007% 7T

1,000,001 7L 21,500,000/ 7C
1,500,001%70%2,000,0005% T
4,500,001 7L 25,000,000
7,000,001%75%7,500,000/ 7T
7,500,0017% 228,000,000 ¢
14,000,001 % 14,500,000 7T
14,500,001/ 72 %15,000,000/% 7T

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
1

2

1

1
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11.LOSS PER SHARE 11. 8REE

(a) BREFEE

BREARBEIIZFANAR B EBERD
&R pE(L B B A R #2,129,780,000 7T
(20204 : AR¥726,981,0007T) & E
BE9T E W AR N4 T 19 8412,383,886 1%
(20204 : 150,992,0008% ) (B 5t R &EA
EBITHR B ELT ¢

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of RMB2,129,780,000 (2020: RMB726,981,000) and the
weighted average of 412,383,886 ordinary share (2020:
150,992,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year after
taking into account the effect of Capitalization issue, calculated

as follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
Number of Number of
shares shares
BAEE R B
Issued ordinary shares at the FHEETLBR
beginning of the year 377,480 400,000
Share Repurchase A7 B [al - (22,520)
Effect of Capitalization issue BRMEBEITHRE 150,614,520 150,614,520
Effect of conversion of convertible RETTERAFRE SRS A B ] fE R
redeemable preferred shares to BERER AL BIRNTZE
ordinary shares upon IPO 175,634,564 -
Effect of shares issued upon IPO RIETER ARBEERETRONTE 83,281,110 =
Effect of shares issued related to PR GEE RN AERAOR FHET
equity-settled share-based IRip Ry R 22
transactions 2,476,212 -
Weighted average number of ordinary 47 3@ A% hniE F 1588
shares at the end of the year 412,383,886 150,992,000

(b) ZREEEE

HRAEEEL BRI AEREBERE -
WMEE 2021 % 202012 A31 8 1E4F
EnEREsEERERERGIERR -

(b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, as all of the
potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive.
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A %5 SR b

12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. 9% - BERRME

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) REZEHHE K
Furniture,
Properties Machinery fixture and
leased for Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
own use improvements equipment equipment vehicle in progress Total
RE EE%E
BREENE HEMEER BRRRE EBAERE KBEH HRIR Ehy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost: A
At January 1, 2020 1202061818 35,131 4,359 109,283 3,368 = 3,077 155,218
Exchange adjustments B i - - - ) - - 2)
Additions AE 136 = 3,443 486 398 21,163 25,626
Transfer from construction EEEERTHE

in progress = = 13,948 = = (13,948) =
Disposals it = = = (12) - - (12)
At December 31, 2020 and 722020128318 )

January 1, 2021 202141A1R 35,267 4,359 126,674 3,840 398 10,292 180,830
Exchange adjustments & 5 AR (40) (43) - (23) (6) - (112)
Additions AE 3,396 2,802 4,044 2,804 586 56,049 69,681
Transfer from construction E&HERTE

in progress = = 48,010 = = (48,010) =
At December 31, 2021 #2021512A31R 38,623 7,118 178,728 6,621 978 18,331 250,399
Accumulated it

depreciation:

At January 1, 2020 202051418 8,352 690 14,468 1,078 - - 24,588
Exchange adjustments B 5 A% = - - —* - - —*
Charge for the year FRALH 3,562 436 12,997 717 75 - 17,787
Written back on disposals i EREE - - - 3) - - 3)
At December 31, 2020 and 1220205128318 )

January 1, 2021 2021F1A18 11,914 1,126 27,465 L9 25_ ___________ —_________4_2,_3_7_2__
Exchange adjustments 5 A% (12) (4) - % -* - (16)
Charge for the year EREH 4,412 712 17,49 970 135 - 23,725
At December 31, 2021 1#2021512A31H 16,314 1,834 44,961 2,762 - _2}(2 ___________ - _6_6,_0_8_1_ )
Net book value: RESE:

At December 31, 2021 #2021512A31R 22,309 5,284 133,767 3,859 768 18,331 184,318
At December 31, 2020 1#2020612A31H 23,353 3,233 99,209 2,048 323 10,292 138,458

&3 The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000.

EHeEIMARKL,0007T -
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 1% - BERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

(b) EHELE

(b) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

ZRMEEERB DR BEEERESF
EDHT

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
k=3 ARET AREFT
Properties leased for own use, carried BFRAEME @ RITEKA
at depreciated cost AR (i) 22,309 23,353
Furniture, fixture and office equipment, R& * BT EE LFAE
carried at depreciated cost 2l RITERAT R (i) 22 39
23,392
Notes: B2
(i) Properties leased for own use (i) BAEEY

The Group has obtained the right to use properties as its
buildings for its research and development, offices and staff
quarters through tenancy agreements. The leases typically run
for an initial period of two to ten years.

(ii) Furniture, fixture and office equipment
The Group leases furniture, fixture and office equipment for an
initial period of five years. None of the leases includes variable

lease payments.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognized in
profit or loss is as follows:

AEEFEBEEHERSKERAYER
TEEME  RRERBTESETHORE
F - HENTSREBE B2210F -

(i) RE EERERHAERE
AREREEA - BELERBAZH
BN RAST - AERTRATE
A -

SN RSTERNXHIAEB SO

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARETFTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use RIEREERRBIDNERREENEER
assets by class of underlying asset (Fi5E7(c)) :
(note 7(c)):
Properties leased for own use BRHEEYZ 3,562
Furniture, fixture and office RE - BEEERRAZERE
equipment 17
3,579

Interest on lease liabilities (note 7(a)) AE&EF 2 (MiE7(a))

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
RMB3,396,000 (2020: RMB136,000). This amount primarily
related to the capitalized lease payments payable under new
tenancy agreements.

FRREFAEEEARYE3,396,000
JL(20204F : AR#136,0007T) ° Il
HXZERBENESHEEMNOENE
HEMNKER -
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii) (Continued)
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the total cash outflow
for leases were RMB5,499,000 (2020: RMB4,858,000).

Details of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
note 21.

As at December 31, 2021, the amount of prepayment of
property, plant and equipment expected to be transferred to
property, plant and equipment after more than one year was
RMB49,812,000 (2020: RMB35,814,000).

(C) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment including right-
of-use assets has been charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as follow:

to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR b

12. 9% - BB R &E (&)

(b) EHELEE)
BffE : ()
@iy (&

HZE2021F12R831HIEFE - #HE
Bt @R ARYK5,499,000 T
(20204 : AR#4,858,0007T) °

HERENDEE ST FBRNME21 -

R2021 412 A31H - B RBA
—FREBREYE  BERIZENY
¥ BERREENFTESEAAR
# 49,812,000 7t (2020 4F : A R ¥
35,814,0007T) °

(C) aEEREaEErNmE  BEREE
FEENGABERNBRNT :

2021 2020

20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT

Research and development expenses A2

21,884
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TR R M 5

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. B EE
In-licensed
Patents rights Softwares Total
=R SIERETE Bt st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREETTT ARETT
(Note (b)) (Note (c))
(M4=E(b)) (MizE(c))
Cost: BRA
At January 1, 2020 720201811 25,652 15,849 = 41,501
Exchange adjustments B 3 52 - (5,721) (18) (5,739)
Additions NE = 109,263 332 109,595
At December 31, 2020 and 72020512 A31H K
January 1, 2021 20211 A1H8 25,652 119,391 314 145,357
Exchange adjustments M 5 A - (2,966) (201) (3,167)
Additions NE = 16,529 12,434 28,963
At December 31, 2021 M2021F12A31H 25,652 132,954 12,547 171,153
Accumulated amortization: Rotigey
At January 1, 2020 ®2020F181H 4,600 - - 4,600
Exchange adjustments B 5 A = = = =
Charge for the year FAZH 2,044 - 22 2,066
At December 31, 2020 and M2020F12A31H K
January 1, 2021 20211818 6,644 = 22 6,666
Exchange adjustments B 3 52 - - (2) (2)
Charge for the year FAZH 2,044 - 62 2,106
At December 31,2021 M2021¥12A31R 8688 82 ] 8,770 _
Net book value: BRENFE :
At December 31, 2021 M2021412H31H 16,964 132,954 12,465 162,383
At December 31, 2020 M2020F12A31H 19,008 119,391 292 138,691
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * e LN ARKL1,0007T

(@) Amortization of intangible assets has been charged to the (a) smaEgE#ERGEABRERNRNT :

consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
2,044

Research and development expenses R

(b) Patents (b) E7/

MN201646 A168 * ARG ERKHNEXK
e A r kR g (BB AR A RN ([ kR
BEERB RIKB(EMN) R ZEYDER
AE([KNEM]) - W)FE2,907,000
ET(FHERARK19,974,0007T) - &
F2017F12A31HIEFE @ KB ESR
BIRAFENETERE R E—FREE
BN EE 3,865,000k T (HHE R AR
25,652,0007T) - AR HEAR RS2 ff 3% o
R2018F10A18H » KRIEXFBIRIE
BHEBICRIEMN A 2 SRR EE R T IREH(E
B)RB AR AR ([KNEE]) -

On June 16, 2016, Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (HK) Limited
("“Zhaoke PHK"), the then fellow subsidiary of the
Company, established Zhaoke (Guangzhou) Ophthalmology
Pharmaceutical Limited ("Zhaoke Guangzhou”) and injected
capital of US$2,907,000 (equivalents to RMB19,974,000).
During the year ended December 31, 2017, Zhaoke PHK
further injected capital of US$3,865,000 (equivalents to
RMB25,652,000) to Zhaoke Guangzhou in kind of certain
patents for research and development of ophthalmic drugs
based on the fair value. On October 18, 2018, Zhaoke PHK
transferred the entire equity interests in Zhaoke Guangzhou to
Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Limited
(“Zhaoke HongiKeng”’) pursuant to the Reorganization.

156 Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHRRIARE AR
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(c) In-licensed rights

The balance of in-licensed rights represent payments made
to acquire development and commercialization rights of
ophthalmic products from third parties and are not available
for use. Due to the inherent uncertainties in the research
and development processes, these assets are particularly at
risk of impairment if the project is not expected to result in a
commercialize product. Key terms of these licenses are set out
below:

(i)

License agreement with TOT BIOPHARM
International Company Limited ("TOT
BIOPHARM")

On January 5, 2017, Zhaoke Guangzhou entered into
a license agreement with TOT BIOPHARM, a China-
based biopharmaceutical company dedicated to
developing and commercializing innovative biological
drugs and therapies and listed on the Stock Exchange,
for licensing TABO14 bio-pharmaceutical know-how for
development and commercialization for a period of 10
years in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. TAB014
is an ophthalmic formulation of bevacizumab for the
treatment of retinal neovascularisation, such as wet age-
related macular degeneration ("wAMD").

Zhaoke Guangzhou made the non-refundable upfront
payment of RMB8,400,000 and the first milestone
payment of RMB8,400,000 upon signing of the license
agreement and obtaining Investigational New Drug
approval respectively during the year ended December
31, 2017. Zhaoke Guangzhou made the second
milestone payment of RMB6,300,000 for execution of
Phase II clinical trial during the year ended December
31, 2020. Zhaoke Guangzhou is also obliged to make
certain payments upon the achievement of certain
development milestones, certain commercial milestones
and royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates
based on net sales of the products in Mainland China,
Hong Kong and Macau.

BT R o

13.BLEE (&)
(c) 5/ER’E

SR RS RIE RIS = B SRR
E e 3 R AR CERIPTEN TR - HR
AHER o ARITERIET EA N HEE
% MZEB R T EELERELER -
AZEEELESRBAERRTE - 25
FERTROE EREFIA0T :

(i) BERBHEEROGERDQF
(I SREBZESE |)RT M VR T
[iES

W201741 858 © KEIEMEE
REX(—BBORHAERIFEY
BRYY) R A G H B A R B R B
REF AR B AR ERR)ET
STEFRI WA - DAIRIEAE R B A
B RRPIFE KX TABOL4
EYRBEEF I 0 BEIL10F ©
TAB014 2 Bk EHMHBREI A -
ARAERBEMERNE - FlanR
MEEERBHRE((WAMD]) ©

HZE2017F12A831HIEFE - Kk
BB 5 BIFE ZE5TRT vl it R ER
ARG IR S BR FR RE B 1B S A AT
RIBTAMN KA RES,400,0007T &
BEERENRARKES,400,000
JC ° B E2020F 12 A31 8 L5
£ KRB A#ETT S IR IR
BYNFE_SERENRARE
6,300,0007T ° JKEVEMN IR E &7
EERATHZRERBEREEER
MBI NETRE  URIBEERH
EmEFREA - B8 RRFIA)FE
HEBERERANSTECAER
SSTREERE
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 * Notes to the Financial Statements

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B &EE (&)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(i) License agreement with TOT BIOPHARM (i) ERBEZEROGBRAHE
International Company Limited (“TOT (TERMBZEZE |)FT M EF A
BIOPHARM") (Continued) tin sk (48
On March 1, 2022, Zhaoke Guangzhou finalized a R2022%3A18 - KRIEMER
supplemental license agreement with TOT BIOPHARM, BEXZE — (TR B -
pursuant to which Zhaoke Guangzhou will have full Bt - KBLEIMN K EHITTABOLS
control and responsibility in the execution of clinical MERABRESE2EEHERE
trials and the ultimate decision-making power in 1 WHTABO14M I3 REHR B
the development and commercialization of TABO14 SRE R SRR - KBE
in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. Zhaoke ] I8 15 5 wAMD BA S0 E A BR &)
Guangzhou is also given the right of developing TAB014 i PEJE BB TABO14 85 3t AR L iE e
for other ophthalmic indications besides wAMD or novel AEFIEE RIRTBE T VIER - RIBR T
formulations for ophthalmic indications. Pursuant to the fhaE - ARE S EER L A -
supplemental agreement, in light of the adjustment to A BB R R X
the mode of collaboration, the payment schedule of the MEAERARE  BERHRESHR
commercialization milestone payments has also been TABO14H) B5E R M E M -
adjusted accordingly such that it is primarily linked to BEREIREEN2017F1A5
the regulatory approval progress of TAB014, while the AEFT MR IBZIIE K -

total milestone payment amount remains the same as
that in the original agreement signed on January 5,

2017.

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, TAB014 was not M20214F K% 2020612 A31H
ready for use and the Group continues the underlying TABO14# AR A A « AL E 4
research and development activities. As such, it EFRABAFEEE - Bt - HA
is subject to annual impairment test based on the REREFEETERETDHRABN
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit ("CGU") REELBMA RO S FEHEITF
to which the intangible asset is related to which is at the EREA - BRERAFERAEE
product level. Management determined the recoverable FTEAETEAMR S EEEMRA]
amount of the relevant CGU using the value in use WEcHE AEEERBTEREH
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections TABO14:T Al B P F L R 2%
based on management’s expectations of timing of M523 R REELKI EHE
commercialization, market penetration rate and success B EFRReREBAGTEFERE
rate of commercialization over TAB014's license period. B - BRNEEER TR AR
The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value B BzZAERESATEFEE
measurement hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used BMAREHE=M -

in the valuation.




13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(i)

- - - - - = = - Notes to the Financial Statements -

License agreement with TOT BIOPHARM
International Company Limited (“TOT
BIOPHARM") (Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of
TABO14 based on the following approach and the key
assumptions:

. TABO14 will generate net cash inflows based
on the research and development process and
experience of the approval process;

. The expected market penetration rate was based
on the expected selling conditions considering
the features of marketing and technology
development;

. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant products; and

. The expected success rate of commercialization
by reference to practices of pharmaceutical
industries, development of technologies and
related regulations from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Pre-tax discount rate T AT BG IR =
Expected revenue growth rate T8 B e 1 R K
Expected market penetration rate TEEm S E R

Expected success rate of commercialization ¥8HIF(L A TR

Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000) IR&EAE (A AW El ¢ 58
(ARHBFT)

Carrying amount of CGU (in RMB’000) ReEEBUMERESR
(AR¥ETFT)

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there
was no impairment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

A %5 SR b

13. B E&E (&)
(c) 5IE%FEE)

(i) ERBEEROARAF
([REBZEZE |)RT M VFFH
i % (&)

FEINEEMABE T - ERER
ATIEREZBRKEEETABOLI4
H AT S

J RIBFE BIZ R F I BIZN
45 - TABO14#S A EE AR
EIMAFHE

. BHTI52:8 X TR ETAHE
HEBRGH - BEREEE
B R BT B AR

. FrfE R REZR X B AT - I
J Bk A8 A 2 o O R RE LR
K

. TRHIR LRI R 2 E Sl 4k
TTHERED] - RATEREMIT
BB ARFIRAERIALE

20214 202012 A31H -
RARFTEAFENEERRAT

2021 2020

20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
25% 24%
10%~484% 40%~171%
1%n~12% 5%~35%
51% 38%

164,012 80,039

21,792 21,792
BERER G AR - 12021 F

$2020%12H318  HELIRR
&
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

Impairment test — sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

Headroom BE

Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate 2= AT8HIR KA
Impact by decreasing expected revenue (& (EFEHIU SRS,

s/ m

”

=

£
=

=

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on
the assessment, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amount would not cause its carrying amount
to exceed its recoverable amount.

(i) License agreement with TOT BIOPHARM (i) HERRBHEERHGERIF
International Company Limited (“TOT (TERMBZEZE |)FT M EF A
BIOPHARM”) (Continued) R (&)

JRLIE R — BN E

AEEBBEMA R MEBRED
BHBRT - 2RI HRIRE R 12
2 1% K IR IR ES R 1K 5% (& 5
EERVAEANKESENERR
R)ETBRRENR - HEVEE
A 4[] & #E R H H R T & BE RO 8RR
(@ ENT

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT

142,220 58,247
(21,070) (10,136)
(14,429) (9,080)

ZEEEFERDETROED -
EEERSEEERSEEEMA
Y m & BT R IR A E B RRN
REMEEE NS ERRE B
BAYE S
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13.BLEE (&)
(c) 5/EREFE (&)

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(ii) License agreement with IACTA (ii) EIACTA

Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("IACTA")

On July 24, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with IACTA, a US-based
ophthalmology-focused pharmaceutical company
developing drugs with novel mechanisms of action that
treat diseases in areas of significant unmet medical
need, to acquire the exclusive rights to IC-265 for dry
eye and IC-270 for allergic conjunctivitis (i.e. “Licensed
know-how”) for development and commercialization
for a period of 10 years in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable
upfront payment of US$1,500,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,391,000) during the year ended December 31,
2020. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged to make certain
payments upon the achievement of specific development
milestones, commercial milestones and royalty payments
based on net sales of the products in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian
countries.

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Licensed know-
how was not ready for use and the Group continues
the underlying research and development activities.
As such, it is subject to annual impairment test based
on the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
intangible asset is related to which is at the product
level. Management determined the recoverable
amount of the relevant CGU using the value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on management’s expectations of timing of
commercialization, market penetration rate and success
rate of commercialization over the Licensed know-
how’s license period. The valuation is considered to be
level 3 in the fair value measurement hierarchy due to
unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(TIACTA ) 5] 3L B9 5F Al 75 73

R2020%7 248 » kREFEER
IACTA(— B E R R 4 /) = 5
BBNF  AREEERRKROE
R B J 7R B EL ST 7 4/ P A ) o
Y1) RIS RF el ek - AIREB &
ARIEAIIC-265 & AR BEIH AR A
HIC-270KBRER (BN EHiEEE
BAr)) « R E R - B B
Pl AERRMERRAZEREE
1t BHI10% -

HE2020512A31HIEFE -
KEBEBEZNTARBEMNK
1,500,000 T (HERARK
10,391,0007T) » KEIBENER
BEERETABHAEEREES
¥XBERBESNETHRE UK
BEBERETREAN B R
i AERRMEBERAFHER
SREERE o

720214 20205612 A31H -
REEE LM AR HER - AE
B EEFRREMAEIES - Eit -
HARBEETL EERERERR
FRR S EEBMA AT E S FRE
TEERENR - ERERRAEA
BEAEIEEHRRESELSEN
MAKRE SR - AREERNEEE
HREEE RN A B R
MR - M2 ERREFELKE
WIEH - ERREREBRIGEE
REE - ANGEERRT ISR
ABUR - M AERE AR FER
BERPHE=R -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(ii) License agreement with IACTA
Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("IACTA")
(Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of the
Licensed know-how based on the following approach and
the key assumptions:

The Licensed know-how will generate net cash
inflows based on the research and development
process and experience of the approval process;

The expected market penetration rate was based
on the expected selling conditions considering
the features of marketing and technology
development;

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant products; and

The expected success rate of commercialization
by reference to practices of pharmaceutical
industries, development of technologies and
related regulations from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

13. B EE (&

)

(c) 5IE%FEE)

(ii) EEIACTA
Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(TTIACTA 1) RT3 B9 = AT 15 %

(&)

EINBBEMNGE T - ERER
UATIEREERRECREZE
IR E A

RIBFERIZ R EILBEN
B BREERIS A E
HAHRERAZHE

BHITIZ 2B R HIRIETRE
HEBRSH - EhEEE
AR R B AR

P A EOREIR A TAT - I
52 Bk A8 A 22 o O R TE LR
&

BEHEE (LR RS E S5
TTRMER - BAMTHEREIT
KE R EBPIRARRAARE

720214 K% 20204128318 -
AR EATENEBBERIT

2021 2020

20214 20204

Pre-tax discount rate TRATRLER & 27% 24%

Expected revenue growth rate TE B R 1 R R 1%~847% 1%~324%

Expected market penetration rate TEETIH2ER 1%~4% 1%~10%

Expected success rate of commercialization ¥8Epg (LR 29% 28%~31%
Recoverable amount of CGU REELEBEMMAIIRESEE

(in RMB’000) (AR®ETT) 92,460 93,588

Carrying amount of CGU ReELEBMNRESE
(in RMB’000) (AREEFT) 9,540 9,815

RIBBEFENER - R2021F
}2020412A318 - BELIRR
&

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there
was no impairment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(ii) License agreement with IACTA (ii) EIACTA

Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("IACTA")
(Continued)

Impairment test — sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

Headroom ZE

Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate R&EFATEIR R F L
PRI S R 2

Impact by decreasing expected revenue

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on
the assessment, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amount would not cause its carrying amount
to exceed its recoverable amount.

Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(TTIACTA 1) =T 32 B9 5 7T 15
(%)

JBLIE B — SRR

RNEEBBENEHEMEBRET
BRERT - DRIEHATREIEER
= 1%k T8 A = PR 1K 5% (R & A
EEEMEENRESENEEZR
R)ETHEAENR - HEFEAE

Al E S EBEERASREA
(BE)WTZENT :

2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARET T
82,920 83,773

(12,049) (12,890)

(6,149) (8,441)

ERELFHERDERRNES -
EEERAEETRCELFMA
Y5 [2] < BB P AR R B A 1) AR AR A
RETREEE NS EERE RS
B EEEE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(iii) License agreement with Nevakar, Inc. (iii) 22Nevakar, Inc.

(“Nevakar™)

On October 19, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with Nevakar, a US-based
biopharmaceutical company developing multiple
innovative medications in the ophthalmic and hospital
injectable areas, for the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize NVK-002, a novel
topical eye treatment for slowing the progression of
myopia in children, for a period of 15 years in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the
South East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable
upfront payment of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB68,828,000) during the year ended December 31,
2020. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged to make certain
payments upon the achievement of specific development
milestones, commercial milestones and royalty payments
based on net sales of the products in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian
countries.

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, NVK-002 was
not ready for use and the Group continues the
underlying research and development activities. As
such, it is subject to annual impairment test based
on the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
intangible asset is related to which is at the product
level. Management determined the recoverable
amount of the relevant CGU using the value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on management’s expectations of timing of
commercialization, market penetration rate and success
rate of commercialization over NVK-002's license period.
The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value
measurement hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used
in the valuation.

(TNevakar])&T 3Z B95F 7]
&

MR2020610A 198 » KFRIEHS
fANevakar(—EAIPRARER -
FEZERE R BT A 5T i Al
BN EYRENR]) TR 5
% ARBRPEAN - B R
PR ERRREEERHA
3% BLEREFENVK-002(—F&
RUIE S E AR AR AU B SN A AR 2B
BR)BBREN - REIL15F -

HZE2020612A31H LFE -
KM EBE XN REREM K
10,000,000 T (MHE K AR
68,828,0007T) * KR EBINEE
BEERETABREERE KRG
EERBRIMNETHR - KRR
BAEEERETREAN B B
Fl- 8ERREEEREFHER
SR REER & -

M 20214 K% 20206128311 -
NVK-002 & KA fE A+ NEE
HEFEARETEES - At - H
TERIR R AR A T E B E AR
IR S EE BN AT E S REEST
FEERENS ERERAERAE
B8 AETHEBRSEEEMNN
AIRE S5 AEEENEEEY
NVK-002FT F] BRI 2L BRI 55
ME2BERREELKINENTE
8 FRARSREEATEFEAE
B - BREEFEAT I BREG AR
B MzZAEERAATEFERE
BHNE= -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE(8)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEfFHE ()
(iii) License agreement with Nevakar, Inc. (iii) 22Nevakar, Inc.
(“Nevakar”) (Continued) (TNevakar )T 2 B7F 7]
e ()

With the assistance of an external appraiser, FEHNEHERHEN T - BIRER
management determined the recoverable amount of AT 7305 R E2RFZEFNVK-002
NVK-002 based on the following approach and the key KA B £

assumptions:

o NVK-002 will generate net cash inflows based . RIE AR REIBIEN
on the research and development process and B+ NVK-002 #% 7] = 4
experience of the approval process; REMAFE

o The expected market penetration rate was based . T8 BT 352 135 3 T AR 4% 78 AP
on the expected selling conditions considering HEBRGL  BEREET
the features of marketing and technology LI R R D

development;

o The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects . FrfE AEVBRIR R QAT -
specific risks relating to the relevant products; and f BRI A EE O R E FRVRRR
)4
o The expected success rate of commercialization . TEEEE LR R 2 E R
by reference to practices of pharmaceutical THEMIEBR - BITERKXIT
industries, development of technologies and HEREBPIRIABRARRE ©

related regulations from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 1202112 A31H * BRETER
December 31, 2021 is as follows: TFENEZ/ERMOT :
2021

20214
Pre-tax discount rate Tt ATALIR X 24%
Expected revenue growth rate TEEA AR I R -5%~84%
Expected market penetration rate TEHAM 52 B K 1%n~2%
Expected success rate of commercialization TEEAR S LA T X 72%
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000) ReEEBMMAKESEARETT) 905,680
Carrying amount of CGU (in RMB’000) ReEEBNNREeRE(ARETT) 63,214
Based on the result of impairment assessment, there BERETEESR - N2021F
was no impairment as at December 31, 2021. 12 A31 B IR RUE -
The carrying amount of the CGU of NVK-002 was 72020512 A31H » NVK-002
RMB65,018,000 at December 31, 2020. Considering the REeELBUNEESEAARK
short period since the date of acquisition of NVK-002, 65,018,0007T ° & EEIE{SNVK-
there was no impairment as at December 31, 2020. 002 8K » 2020412 8

31EMEEBRE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(iii) License agreement with Nevakar, Inc. (iii) 22Nevakar, Inc.

(“Nevakar”) (Continued)

Impairment test — sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

(TNevakar])&T 3Z B95F 7]
ek (48)

JRLIE R — BN E

AEEBBEMA R MEBRED
BHBRT - 2RI HRIRE R 12
2 1% K IR IR ES R 1K 5% (& 5
EERVAEANKESENERR
R)ETBRRENR - HEVEE
A 4[] & #E R H H R T & BE RO 8RR
(@ ENT

2021
20215
RMB’000
ARET T

Headroom &
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate R B AT A
Impact by decreasing expected revenue FEAR T8 B = Y

842,466

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on
the assessment, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amount would not cause its carrying amount
to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZEEEFHRDETRNES -

EEERSEEERSELEMA
W E & BT R IR E R E B RRN
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B &EE (&)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEfFHE ()

(iv) License agreement with PanOptica, Inc. (iv) EPanOptica, Inc.

(\\ PAN II)

On December 15, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with PAN, a US-based
ophthalmology-focused pharmaceutical company
developing a topical eye drop for the treatment of
sight-threatening eye diseases caused by abnormal or
leaky blood vessels, for the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize PAN-90806, a wAMD
solution, for a period of 10 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South
East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made an upfront payment of
US$3,500,000 (equivalent to RMB24,101,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2020. Zhaoke Hong
Kong is also obliged to make certain payments upon
the achievement of specific development milestones,
commercial milestones and royalty payments based on
net sales of the products in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian countries.

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, PAN-90806
was not ready for use and the Group continues the
underlying research and development activities. As
such, it is subject to annual impairment test based
on the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
intangible asset is related to which is at the product
level. Management determined the recoverable
amount of the relevant CGU using the value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on management’s expectations of timing of
commercialization, market penetration rate and success
rate of commercialization over PAN-90806’s license
period. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the
fair value measurement hierarchy due to unobservable
inputs used in the valuation.

(TPAN )R] 3L Y FF T 75

MN2020% 12 A 158 © KR EFH
HPAN(—FEI#RIPHRER - Fix
RE Y M SEENT) - EARER
& 2% sk M 3| BUE R @R
Z HYBR 20 s M R 3% — TSN R R
BRI Al pas: + DAEERTE R B A
- AR A% BERR
IR ERFR - R’k R EE(LPAN-
90806 (—fEWAMDRR T 22 ) K075
REEF - BHAL0F -

HZE2020F12A31 B IEEFE - Jk
R & E % 478 14 5% 3,500,000
E o (HE R AR 24,101,000
7)o KRIERBNEEBEERET
ARAZEREEREXERBES
NETHE  ARIREEBERE
FEAL - B R AEER
EEEEEGES - R e SR Al
BE -

720214 % 20205612 8311 -
PAN-90806 [+ R A] £ A + A&
B ERRAEEES - Fitt
HAREREF EETEMREEAE
FMIRSE A B H A U &%
TEERENR - BEEREBHAMFH
BEFEIECHBRSEEEN
AU Bl &% - ARBERERE
#f PAN-90806 =T A HA (A 75 = (L s
F&R - MB2ERNKAEKINE
WIEH - FRBESREEAEE
FBEE - R EEFEAT B8R
ABUE - Bz EERR AR FERT
EERFHE=M -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(iv) License agreement with PanOptica, Inc. (iv) EPanOptica, Inc.

("PAN") (Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of
PAN-90806 based on the following approach and the key
assumptions:

. PAN-90806 will generate net cash inflows based
on the research and development process and
experience of the approval process;

. The expected market penetration rate was based
on the expected selling conditions considering
the features of marketing and technology
development;

. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant products; and

. The expected success rate of commercialization
by reference to practices of pharmaceutical
industries, development of technologies and
related regulations from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at
December 31, 2021 is as follows:

(TPAN J)RT X2 495 A 75 (48)

EINEEERMO BB T » EEE
RIAT 7375 K £ B R R EE PAN-
90806#) A Y@ £ :

o RIZFE BIZ R FHBIEDN
45 - PAN-90806 % AJ &=
EREMAFR

. BHM52E X TR IETRE
HEBRGE - EhEEE
B R AT R B A ARRS

. P FEOREIR A HAT - I
[ Bk A8 A 2= o O R TE LR
&

. BB E (LR RS E R
TTEMBED - BMERRT
KEEEPIRMERIRE

1K2021412831H * BREHEA
FEMESHEEET ¢

2021

20214

Pre-tax discount rate Bt RAER 3 28%
Expected revenue growth rate T8 B s 1 R K -5%~291%
Expected market penetration rate TEETIH2E R 1%~11%
Expected success rate of commercialization SELISEL @97 30%
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000) ReEFEBMNKESE(ARETT) 387,421

Carrying amount of CGU (in RMB’000)

ReEFBEMNNERSBAARETT) 22,135

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there
was no impairment as at December 31, 2021.

The carrying amount of the CGU of PAN-90806 was
RMB22,766,000 at December 31, 2020. Considering the
short period since the date of acquisition of PAN-90806,
there was no impairment as at December 31, 2020.

RERETENER - K20214F
12 A31 A& LR RE -

7 2020 & 12 A 31 H - PAN-
90806 3R & = A & i K BR [ & 5]
BAR%22,766,0007T © EEE|
45 PAN-90806 = N & + #A
2020412 A31 A& LIREE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(iv) License agreement with PanOptica, Inc. (iv) EPanOptica, Inc.

("PAN") (Continued)

Impairment test — sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

(TPAN J)RT X2 49 A 75 (48)
JBLTE R — SRR

AR BB A R R BRI T
SOERT - 5 BIBANR IR
5 1% 5 TR A 25 8 (5% (& 73
EERAETRESENEER
R)ETRBEAR - BRIV AE
R GEL e E T
(Em)HF BT -

2021
20214
RMB’000
AR¥ET T

Headroom EE

365,286

Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate REBAA R RN E
Impact by decreasing expected revenue FHETR IR &

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on
the assessment, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amount would not cause its carrying amount
to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZEEEFERDETRNET -

EEERSEEERSEEEMA
Y m & BT R IR A = B RRN
AEAEEE IS ERRE S EB
WY E S -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(v) License agreement with NTC S.r.l. ("NTC")

Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into a license agreement
with NTC, an Italy-based pharmaceutical company
specialized in developing innovative therapeutic solutions
in the areas of drugs, nutraceuticals and medical
devices, to acquire the exclusive rights to NTC014
for the indication of moderate-to-severe bacterial
conjunctivitis and NTC010 for the prevention and
treatment of inflammation and inflection associated with
cataract surgery for development and commercialization
for a period of 12 years in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian countries.

NTCO014

On December 31, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with NTC for licensing NTC014 for
development and commercialization for a period of 12
years in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and
the South East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable upfront
payment of EUR400,000 (equivalent to RMB3,109,000)
during the year ended December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong
Kong is also obliged to make certain payments upon the
achievement of specific development milestones and
commercial milestones.

As at December 31, 2021, NTC014 were not ready for
use and the Group continues the underlying research
and development activities. As such, it is subject to
annual impairment test based on the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the intangible asset is related to
which is at the product level. Management determined
the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU using the
value in use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on management’s expectations of
timing of commercialization, market penetration rate and
success rate of commercialization over NTC014's license
period. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the
fair value measurement hierarchy due to unobservable
inputs used in the valuation.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A 7

13.BLEE (&)
(c) 5/EREFE (&)

(v) EENTC S.r.l.([NTC))

T M BV R A fhh

KRB BEBENTC(—HAHIRE
ARMWBILEAR] - EFIRELEY)
EEREDREERREBENAIF
BRI ) FI MR A ek ¢ A
EREREARN - B B A
ERREEERAEEREE AR
SHE R B S AR 1 A PR E R B
NTCO014 & AR TER RaE B RE
FiTAEEARIE &R FEHNTCO108)
BRER - REIL2F -

NTCO14

7K202012A31H @ kI HHH
NTCEI LAl ek + SAEERTFER R
A - A R A ERERE
B B3 K 2 (ENTCO14 9 R ]
¥ BEI12F o

HZE2021F12A318 I FE -
KB EBEINFTAREREN
X 400,000k 7T (FHE R AR
3,109,0007t) ° KB BB AE
BHEBERETABRAEERERS
¥XERBEINETRE-

72021412 A 31 H » NTC014
AR AR - AN EAEE R RN
R EIEE) - Eit - HARRESE
WEEEEREHEERNREES
BRI B & BRE T R E
o BEEERAEMEEFEEE
EHBRcELAEUNTROE
B AREERNEEEENTCO14
FFATHNEEERRR  mH2E
KREFECKRDENIES - ERH
EnEFAFEFEREBE - AR
BEERTAIBEBABE - Wb
BEEEASAHEFERRTNE=
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13. B EE(E)
(c) SIEHFRE(E)

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(v) License agreement with NTC S.r.l. ("NTC") (v) EENTC S.r.l.([NTC))

(Continued)

NTCO014 (Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of
NTC014 based on the following approach and the key
assumptions:

. NTCO014 will generate net cash inflows based
on the research and development process and
experience of the approval process;

. The expected market penetration rate was based
on the expected selling conditions considering
the features of marketing and technology
development;

. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant products; and

3 The expected success rate of commercialization
by reference to practices of pharmaceutical
industries, development of technologies and
related regulations from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at
December 31, 2021 is as follows:

/T M B R Al 15 (4]
NTCO14(#)

FEINSHEEM BT - ERER
ATIERERBRZEENTCO14
BRI B 5 -

o RIEEBTRE M B IBEN
REr - NTCO144#5 7] ZE A4 1R
SRAFE

. BHT5 28X IR ETEE
HEBRGH - BEREEE
I R R E AR

J FfE FEORAIR R ATAT - I
[ IR A A 7= o O RE LR
K

. TERE R (LR RS E Bl
TTRMED - BRMTERET
BE A FIRAEREARE

202151283118 - ARETER
FEMNEZ/ERRET

2021

20214

Pre-tax discount rate FiRTRGER = 26%
Expected revenue growth rate T8 B R 1 R K 0% ~82%
Expected market penetration rate TEETIS2E XK 6% ~34%
Expected success rate of commercialization TR S LA T & 549,

Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000)
Carrying amount of CGU (in RMB’000)

ReELBMRRAIRESEARETIT)
ReEtBUNRaSBE(ARETT)

17,883
3,061

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there
was no impairment as at December 31, 2021.

RIERETHOESR - R20214F
12 A31 B EHIRRE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(v) License agreement with NTC S.r.l. ("NTC") (v) EENTC S.r.l.([NTC))

(Continued)

Impairment test — sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

] M A9 T i ()
JBLTE R — SRR

AR BB A R R BRI T
SOERT - 5 BIBANR IR
5 1% 5 TR A 25 8 (5% (& 73
EERAETRESENEER
R)ETRBEAR - BRIV AE
R GEL e E T
(Em)HF BT -

2021
20214
RMB’000
AR¥ET T

Headroom =&
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate
Impact by decreasing expected revenue

REHIBREENZE
TR s Ry 2

14,822

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on
the assessment, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amount would not cause its carrying amount
to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZEEEFHRDETROED -

EEERSEEERSEEEMA
Y m & BT R IR R E B RRN
REMEEE TS ERRE B
B E S -
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13.BLEE (&)
(c) 5/EREFE (&)

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(v) License agreement with NTC S.r.l. ("NTC") (v) EENTC S.r.l.([NTCJ)

(Continued)

NTCO010

On February 15, 2021, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with NTC for licensing NTC0O10 for
development and commercialization in Mainland China.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made the non-refundable
upfront payment of EUR300,000 (equivalent to
RMB2,333,000) and the first milestone payment of
EUR600,000(equivalent to RMB4,666,000) upon signing
of the license agreement and obtaining Investigational
New Drug approval respectively during the year ended
December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged
to make certain payments upon the achievement
of specific development milestones and commercial
milestones.

As at December 31, 2021, NTCO010 were not ready for
use and the Group continues the underlying research
and development activities. As such, it is subject to
annual impairment test based on the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the intangible asset is
related to which is at the product level. Management
determined the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU
using the value in use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on management’s
expectations of timing of commercialization, market
penetration rate and success rate of commercialization
over NTC010's estimated useful life of 10 years. The
valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value
measurement hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used
in the valuation.

/T M B R Al 15 (4]
NTCO010

2021627158 @ JKEIEER
NTCRIAZFFAI 1% - PAZEERAEA
M 59 3 K P S (ENTCO10 #9FF AJ
T °

BZE2021F12A31B IEFE - K
MBS D IR TR A ek RS
LR PR U5 B R AR S R AT
iR B TE 30 300,000 7T (18 E 7
AR®2,333,000T) R EEER
B 30600,0008 T (FHE R AR
#4,666,0007T) - KB BB THE
EHERRETARRZERBER
2 BARRRR SR TR o

72021412 A31 H ' NTC010
EATHEER  AEBESERER
R EES) - Eit - HARKRRE
FEAEFEMEREBNESES
B gy AT Uk [B] & 5B 1T A R (E A
o ERERBEABENELE
EAEBBESELBEMNA KES
o AEEENEEEENTCOL0
st Al A F B 10F AR L EE R
R MB2ERREECKRINERN
BH - FRRSREEMNEEA
BE - AREEFEATAEREA
g - MZREERGAATENE
BRFHIE=4R
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NTCO010 (Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of
NTC010 based on the following approach and the key
assumptions:

. NTCO010 will generate net cash inflows based
on the research and development process and
experience of the approval process;

. The expected market penetration rate was based
on the expected selling conditions considering
the features of marketing and technology
development;

. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant products; and

3 The expected success rate of commercialization
by reference to practices of pharmaceutical
industries, development of technologies and
related regulations from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at
December 31, 2021 is as follows:

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)
(v) License agreement with NTC S.r.l. ("NTC") (v) EENTC S.r.l.([NTC))
(Continued) HVA:cE RN A )

NTCO10(#)

FEINSHEEM BT - ERER
ATREREZRZEENTCO10
BRI B 5 -

D RIEEBTRE M B IBEN
#REr - NTCO1045 7] ZE 43R
SRAFE

. BHT5 28X IR ETEE
HEBRGH - BEREEE
I R R E AR

J FfE FEORAIR R ATAT - I
[ IR A A 7= o O RE LR
K

. TERE R (LR RS E Bl
TTRMED - BRMTERET
BEHERRFIRAERIALE

2021412 A31H © ARGER
FEOEBBRIT :

2021

20214

Pre-tax discount rate FiRTRGER = 24%
Expected revenue growth rate T8 B R 1 R K 8%~140%
Expected market penetration rate TEETIS2E XK 5%~35%
Expected success rate of commercialization TR S LA T & 549,
Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000) ReEEBMMrAKESE(ARETIT) 96,819
Carrying amount of CGU (in RMB’000) ReEEBMNEAeBE(ARETIT) 6,891

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there
was no impairment as at December 31, 2021.

RERETHNER - R2021F
12 A31 B EHIRE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(v) License agreement with NTC S.r.l. ("NTC") EANTC S.r.I.([NTC))

(v)

(Continued)

Impairment test — sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

] M A9 T 5 ()
JBLTE R — SRR

AR BB A R R BRI T
SOERT - 5 BIBANR IR
5 1% 5 TR A 25 8 (5% (& 73
EERAETRESENEER
R)ETRBEAR - BRIV AE
R GEL e E T
(Em)HF BT -

2021
20214
RMB’000
AR¥ET T

Headroom =&
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate

Impact by decreasing expected revenue

REHIBREENZE
TR s Ry 2

89,928

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on
the assessment, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amount would not cause its carrying amount
to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZEEEFERDETROET -

EEERSEEERSEEEMA
Y m & BT R IR A E B RRN
REMEEE IS ERREHEE
B E S
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(vi) License agreement with KATO (vi) EEKATO

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("KATO")

On May 31, 2021, Zhaoke Guangzhou entered into
a license agreement with KATO, a US-based clinical
stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the
development of novel therapies for pathologies of
the eye with an emphasis on unmet medical needs,
for licensing KATO patent rights for development and
commercialization in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau
and the South East Asian countries. KATO patent rights is
an intravitreal injection of liposome-loaded urea for the
treatment of vitreomacular traction.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made the non-refundable upfront
payment of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB6,421,000)
upon signing of the license agreement during the year
ended December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also
obliged to make certain payments upon the achievement
of certain development milestones, certain commercial
milestones and royalty payments at the applicable
royalty rates based on net sales of the products in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and the South East
Asian countries.

As at December 31, 2021, KATO patent rights were
not ready for use and the Group continues the
underlying research and development activities. As
such, it is subject to annual impairment test based
on the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
intangible asset is related to which is at the product
level. Management determined the recoverable
amount of the relevant CGU using the value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on management’s expectations of timing of
commercialization, market penetration rate and success
rate of commercialization over KATO patent rights’
estimated useful life of 15 years. The valuation is
considered to be level 3 in the fair value measurement
hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the
valuation.

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(TKATO ) 7T 3Z K9 7F Wl 1 5%

R2021F5A318 © JKEHE M &
KATO(— R R EG R P ER RO E B A
MBENE  BIREHRAREFE
B2 25 = SRR O /O BR B0 75 AE #E0R )
RN A g AERERER
- BHA - RPIRE R EER AR
N AL KATOE R A] 4 -
KATO S FIl 4 & —T& )8 B fr E B2 R
EHIREERENTS Y - BRA
BRI EDIAE -

HZE20215F12A318IEEE » K
MEBEREF T BRI AT
AR EFE 71,000,000 7T (48
ENAR6,421,0007T) ° KR
ERNMBEBEERE THEER
MR ERRERREINETHE -
NRBBEERERETBEAM - &
& RPIREREEERAFHERE
RBEANFTREAERI A
FTEEAE -

R2021412H31 8 * KATOZH
BHRIHER  AEEEEHRE
TEHRAR S EE) o Fit - HARIRE
EREELEDEDEBNESE
H BRI IR E S REEITFEERE
A - ERERAEABETEE
EEAAERSELEEMN KD S
o AEBEENEIEELHKATOR
FlEEET A A E 15 F A E(
X - MB2BEEREELKI
KEH  FRRSREREAFE
FREE - AR EEERTITER
AR - MZHEREAAFE
AEERTRHE=R -
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13. B EE(E)
(c) SIEHFRE(E)

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(c) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(vi) License agreement with KATO (vi) EEKATO

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("KATO")
(Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of
KATO patent rights based on the following approach and
the key assumptions:

KATO patent rights will generate net cash inflows
based on the research and development process
and experience of the approval process;

The expected market penetration rate was based
on the expected selling conditions considering
the features of marketing and technology
development;

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant products; and

The expected success rate of commercialization
by reference to practices of pharmaceutical
industries, development of technologies and
related regulations from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at
December 31, 2021 is as follows:

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(TKATO ) 7T 3 K9 7F Wl 5%
(#&)

EINBBEMNGE T - ERER
ATRTAEREZRREEKATORE
F R AT Y Bl S

RIBFERIZ R EILBEN
48 - KATOZE RIS 7] &£
HAHRERAZ

BHITIZ 2B R HIRIETRE
HEBRSH - EhEEE
I AT R B AR

P A EOREIR = A TAT - I
52 Bk A8 A 25 o O R TE LR
&

BEHEE (LR RS E R
TTRMER - BAMTERKIT
RE R EBPIRARRARE

K2021F12A31H - BRTER
FENESEBZAT ¢

2021

20214

Pre-tax discount rate BiRTRAER 28%
Expected revenue growth rate TEEA R I R R -8%~19%
Expected market penetration rate TEEmS 2 ER 23%~31%
Expected success rate of commercialization SELITSEL g9k 54%%

Recoverable amount of CGU (in RMB’000)
Carrying amount of CGU (in RMB’000)

ReELBMUHAIKRESEARETT)
ReEfBUrEReBE(ARETIT)

9,926
6,321

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there
was no impairment as at December 31, 2021.

REBREFTHNER - R2021F
12 A31 B IRAIE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13. B EE (&)

(c) In-licensed rights (Continued) (c) 5IEf=FiE (&)

(vi) License agreement with KATO (vi) EEKATO
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("KATO") Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Continued) (TKATO 1) 5T 3 KT 7l 155 5%

(&)
Impairment test - sensitivity IR BB — R E

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible
asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

RNEEBBENEHEMEBRET
BRERT - DRIEHATREIEER
= 1%k T8 A = PR 1K 5% (R & A
EEEREENRBSENEER
R)ETHEAENR - HEFEAE
ARl &R HARE S RS
(BE)FZENT -

2021
2021F
RMB’000
ARETT

Headroom o<t
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate RETAIRLH KM 2
Impact by decreasing expected revenue PR TE AR B 52

3,605

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on
the assessment, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amount would not cause its carrying amount
to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZEEEFHRDETRNES -

EEERSEEERSELEMA
W E & BRI E R E B RRN
AEMEETE IS ERRE B
WA E S

(d) Softwares (d) EH#

The balance of RMB12,241,000 (2020: Nil) represents IT
applications development in progress and is not available for

AR#12,241,0007T(2020%F : )04
g BRAIE AR AR R ERRZ

use. = o
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14.INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY 14. R—EHEATNRE
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which TREFEHREEEE  EEXEBEEREE
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The HENWBARE - RIESHIIA - TAIFE
class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. A& D $E Bl 2 AR

Proportion of ownership

Place of interest
incorporation/ Particulars of FARERLA
Name of company establishment issued and paid up capital Direct Indirect Principal activity
AEER EMAY/ ButY  EERTRARRAFE B MiE  IEEE
Zhaoke Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong dollar ("HK$") 100% - Development of
10,000 ophthalmology products
KRES B 10,000/ 7T RRIEMAE
* Zhaoke Guangzhou*@ The PRC US$27,600,000 and - 100%  Development and
RMB25,650,200 manufacturing of
ophthalmology products
*RBHEM® HE 27,600,0005 7T & HERBERNER
AR¥25,650,2007T
* KPMG are not the statutory auditors of this company. 3 ZABIREE SN IR BB ST AN E AT ©
& The company name in English is a direct translation of the registered 3 RZARMREX LIE MR XA ENEERE
Chinese name for the purpose of identification. EHER -
@ Registered under the laws of the PRC as a foreign investment enterprise. e REFEEREEMBINGIRE DS -

15.0THER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 15.H{tEWFIER FEANRIE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Value added tax recoverable AU EIHEET 9,017 7,477
Prepayments to suppliers TRt R IE 32,232 6,405
Deferred listing expenses RIE EHRHAS 2,350
Prepaid listing expenses faft kX 1,441
Other receivables E b fE W RIE 473
18,146

All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be recovered Fir 78 EL fth FE U I R FBA ZOETEER G R — F ik

or recognized as expenses within one year. Bk R AR °
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16.AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED 16.EW — B~ RIFIE
COMPANY
Amount due from a related company was unsecured, interest-free FEU —FERRESE A R B AEER - £ B RTEHR
and was expected to be recognized as expense within one year. —FRERRBHAX °
17.CASH AND BANK BALANCES 17. R RBITEER
(a) Cash and bank balances comprise: (a) Bz RRITHEHEH .
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Cash at banks RITRS 2,128,429 65,096
Cash and cash equivalents in the RIZEHERERNRE KRCEEY
consolidated cash flow statement 2,128,429 65,096
Pledged bank balances (note) BRI TR () 25,508 11,083
Time deposits with original maturity JREIEA A 2R = 8 A &€ BFER
over three months 8,157 806,247
2,162,094 882,426
Note: As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, these bank balances were BfaE © M20214 K2020612A318 » ZER
pledged to a bank for letter of credit facilities. THEADEIR T —BRITURGERE

B -




(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising

17.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

from financing activities

Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR b

17. RERBITHEER(E)

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows

from financing activities.

(b) BEZETELREHHK

TRAMAEEREEHAEEBBNHE
3 BRASKIFRSEE) - ETDHH
F‘i%1 RESREBIRKRSRERA

BRaRenBRToERRMEEDH
@/}luia’]gfﬁ"

Lease
Bank loan liabilities Total
BITER HEAE @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFT AREFT

(note 20) (note 21)

(M£20) (Hi=21)
At January 1, 2020 #2020%F1A1H = 30,791 30,791

Changes from financing cash flows: RERERESE :

Proceeds from new bank loan FERITE R MATERE 10,000 - 10,000
Capital element of lease rentals paid [EAREE A YN v - (3,400) (3,400)
Interest element of lease rentals paid [EARgEEA k= - (1,458) (1,458)
Finance costs paid BRB#RAR (197) - (197)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~EEH&REL 8 9,803 (4,858) 4,945

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from entering
into new leases during the period

Interest expenses (note 7(a))

BRI ERELNHEE

REEM
HERX (ME7(a))

Total other changes

2%

At December 31, 2020 and

January 1, 2021
Changes from financing cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans
Repayment from bank loans
Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid
Finance costs paid
Total changes from financing cash flows
Exchange adjustments

R2020512A318 R

2021F1A1H
REBLTERE
PITESMFTE A
BEFITER

ENBEENAEHS

BRSNS HS
BAEEBRA
BEREREESNE
A%

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from entering
into new leases during the period

Interest expenses (note 7(a))

Hit#g)

MRS S PAE

HEAEEMN
8 (HEE7(a))

Total other changes

At December 31, 2021

R2021%412731H

(4,147)
(1,352)

(5,499)
(€X))
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18.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 18. Htt B RIERETER
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Payables for listing expenses FER EmBAE - 6,364
Payables for purchase of property, plant and BEE¥% - B/E KX B RN R
equipment 12,684
Payroll payables EiEHe 5,307
Accrued costs for research and development #12[ sx fE5t A A
expenses 7,920
Payables for purchase of materials R FE A~ FRE 810
Accrued office expenses and others T A =R R EAD 726
Other taxes payables (note) A FEAS R I (P ) 4,920
38,731
Note: Accrued withholding taxes on the acquisitions of development and FEE [R5 =5 Wi R Sk 2 3 I s LA I O PR 5T
commercialization rights of ophthalmic products from third parties TEME TyiziE AR AR Rl AE B R rE S B
based on appropriate withholding tax rates applicable to the relevant TERAH -
jurisdictions.
All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled and TEHAFT B BB B R ETE RSN —F AL
expensed within one year or are repayable on demand. 7B I 57 SRSk A SR (EE o
=] %
19.AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED 19. FE{JREEE D RIFRIE
COMPANIES
Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free and EREBARREAEER 28 EEHREK
repayable with a maximum credit terms of 30 days or on demand. 30KRHFEEK(EE o
4= =
20.BANK LOANS 20.8B1TEX
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREFT
Unsecured and repayable within 1 year or EEHR RN IFAEERER
on demand 10,289 10,000
The bank loans were obtained by the Group’s subsidiary, BITERBEANEENE R RJKBEMNIE - R
Zhaoke Guangzhou. At December 31, 2021, the loan balance of 2021 12HA31H - AKR%9,600,000 T8 E
RMB9,600,000 was subject to the fulfillment of covenant as is RERABTERRESBEBIIVNERE
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions, HRRE  MARBENTEBITRITIRARE
and Zhaoke Guangzhou did not fulfill a covenant imposed by bank in 9,200,000 KB FRHEANA) —IRZ25% © AL @ %
the respect of the loan of RMB9,200,000. As such, the entire bank ERBRAEENRITERARK9,200,0007T
loan of RMB9,200,000 which was long-term bank loan has been E28MN2021F12 A31 BESA MBI AERP
re-classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of ENMHBARDARE - KAKRERH - LR

financial position as at December 31, 2021. As at the date of the BEREERSEE -
report, the aforesaid bank loan was fully repaid.




oo oo« =« «  Notes to the Financial Statements - -

C e Rk MTEE

21.LEASE LIABILITIES 21.HEEE
At December 31, 2021, the lease liabilities were repayable as M20216F12A31R - HESEEERBNT :
follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT

Within 1 year or on demand R—FRKEEK 5,882
After 1 year but within 2 years —F R EBERRERN 5,268
After 2 year but within 5 years MEBBRAEER 11,220
After 5 years AFE 4,373
20,861
26,743
22.DEFERRED INCOME 22 EZEW A
As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, deferred income of the Group R2021F % 20206128318 » AEEKIELT
represented grants received from the government to compensate WA B BB A BEEERE RS HEH
the capital expenditure on production lines. Government grants Bl o BT Bh A AERAML 2R B0 AT (6 R SR EA N ERR
are recognized as other income over the useful lives of relevant HAWA o
machinery.
The amount of government grants that is recognized in the AR B2 R TERE BUT B € BRI E S HER o

consolidated statement of profit or loss is disclosed in note 5.
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

On November 17, 2020, the shareholders of the Company approved
the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) which is a share-based
incentive plan to reward, retain and motivate the Group’s employees,
directors and consultants (collectively, “eligible persons”). Under
the Scheme, the directors of the Company are authorized, at their
discretion, to grant share options to acquire ordinary shares of the
Company to eligible persons on a fair and reasonable basis with
reference to the performance of the Company and contribution of
the individuals.

(a) The terms and conditions of the share options granted after

23. UEREEURDBERDN

X5

202011 A178 - AR mIREIEERE R
2I([Z=t8]) - 1ERLEE - BB RABASEE
8  EZRER(RBIAERAL]D NN SE
T8l - RIBZAE  AARESEEERATA
HHEE  ZEXQRNKBERBEANSE @ B
BREERATEEEERA R L BRAREAE

(a) 23BN E R BT (1 24(c)

Capitalization issue (note 24(c)(ii)) are as follows: (i) ) &R R AR
Number of Contractual Vesting
options life of options conditions
BREHSE BRENSHH BEKS

Options granted to directors: RESF L MERE :

- On November 17, 2020 —1202011A178 4,414,000 10 years Note a
105 Miita

- On December 9, 2020 —mM20206F12H9H 10,870,000 10 years Note a
10 fisEa

Options granted to employees: R B 1% KRS AR A -

- On November 17, 2020 — 12020611 A17H 12,927,600 10 years Note a
10 fiEa

- On December 9, 2020 —12020F1289H 4,148,000 10 years Note a
105 Miita

- On December 9, 2020 —mM2020F12H9H 5,716,400 10 years Note b
106 Kiztb

- On March 2, 2021 —1202143A2H 3,430,400 9.7 years Note a
9.7%F Miita

Options granted to consultants: I R % O R AR

- On November 17, 2020 —1202011A178 4,225,600 10 years Note a
105 Miita

45,732,000
(a) 20% upon completion of the Company’s IPO; 20% on the (@)  20%RARRIH) ER AR S K S

(b)

first anniversary from the date of grant; 20% on the second
anniversary from the date of grant; 20% on the third anniversary
from the date of grant; and 20% on the fourth anniversary from
the date of grant.

20% upon completion of the Company’s IPO; 15% on the
first anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the second
anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the third anniversary
from the date of grant; 15% on the fourth anniversary from
the date of grant; 10% upon meeting certain market conditions
during the first and second year from the date of the Company’s
IPO; and 10% upon meeting certain market conditions during the
third and fourth year from the date of the Company’s IPO.

184 Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIRRIARE AT

(b)

B 20% R %t B RN S EBF RS
B : 20% 8% B B A 55 — (&R F A
BB : 20% AR B RN E =BT
BB : X20%m & H A HFE A9 5 0 {E
BEEHRE -

20%R AR B EY B IR A B 3 S S 55
B : 15% R B SR E @B S A &S
B i 15% 5% B #e s E — [@EAF A
S8 15% R B B A S = (&R F
BEE ¢ 15% 4% H B B2 A 58 &8
FRRE  10%NARBERRAEE
HEAREE —REZFRERE THHE
R E - R10%R AR A EHRARE
ERHREE=RENFRNERSE THH
AR o



23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) (Continued)

The contractual life of the above options is ten years.

For accounting purposes, service condition is not considered
in the grant date fair value measurement of the services
received. The completion of the Company’s IPO is considered
a non-market performance vesting condition which is taken
into consideration in estimating the number of options that are
expected to vest. Market conditions are reflected in the grant

date fair value.

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share
options after Capitalization issue (note 24(c)(ii)) are as

follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R MI 5

23. UEREEURDBERDN
X5 (&)

(a) (#&)
R AHIA10% -

REHEEMS @ FFEAMERERED
B R D AR IR Z BRI IR - AR
AER AR E SRR ATEGT TR
BENEREHSEREENEMSRAE
Bigt - RELAHNATES KBTS
&4 o

(D) smamn a7 (MEE24(c) (i) B4
BB RIMETHTEENT

2021 2020
2021% 20205
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
MEF1TEE BRESE IETHITEE BRiEZE
Outstanding at the beginning BRI US$0.61
of the period 0.61%7T 42,301,600 - -
Exercised during the period R US$0.29
0.29%7 (6,791,428) - -
Granted during the period R US$1.14 US$0.61
1.14%7% 3,430,400 0.61%7T 42,301,600
Outstanding at the end HRI TS US$0.71 US$0.61
of the period 0.71%57% 38,940,572 0.61%7T 42,301,600
Exercisable at the end HRA{T(E US$0.82

of the period

0.82%71T

10,143,068 , _

The weighted average share price after capitalization issue
(note 24(c)(ii)) at the date of exercise for shares options
exercised during the year was US$1.01 (2020: not applicable).

The options outstanding at December 31, 2021 had an
exercise price of US$0.09 or US$1.14 (2020: US$0.09 or
US$1.14) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of

8.88 years (2020: 9.89).

MER(ETT (724 (c) (i) - FRE
TR E R TTE B B I F AR E B
1.013£7t(2020%4 : F@EMA) »

7A2021412 431 REITEINBRAENTT
fE{E/30.09% T3, 1.1455 7T (20204 :
0.09%7T1.14%7T) » MEFAFBRE
#)8738.884 (20204 : 9.89%F) °
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 23. UEREEH ARG RBERD

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) X5 (&)
(c) Fair value of share options and (c) BREREXIEZITERN
assumptions after Capitalization issue R FERER

BB H BB E USRI A F
B2 EMELBRENDTETE - FT
R A FEGRE A ER
8 o BRENA N BIEZERNEA
2z - BEAITTEM B AZEARE -

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a binomial model. The
contractual life of the share option is used as an input into this
model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the

binomial model.

November 17, December 9, March 2,

Grant date 2020 2020 2021
20204 20205 2021%

REAH 11A17H 12A9A 3A2H
Fair value at measurement date RSO ATE US$0.91-US$0.92  US$0.38-US$0.48  US$0.46-US$0.54
0.91%7T£0.92%T 0.38%7020.48% T 0.46%7T£0.545% T

Share price RIDER US$1.00 US$1.01 US$1.14
1.00%7T 1.01%T 1.14%T

Exercise price 1B US$0.09 US$1.14 US$1.14
0.09%7T L1431 1145

Expected volatility BEKE 43.93% 43.23% 43.21%
Option life BIRESR 10 years 10 years 9.7 years
106 104 9.7F

Expected dividend yield Rk E=X 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate ERBH= 0.86% 0.94% 1.43%
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Fair value of share options and
assumptions after Capitalization issue
(Continued)

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes
in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the
fair value estimate.

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

A %5 SR b

23. UEREEURDBERDN

X5 (%)

(c) BIREREXILRITEL
R FPERERX (&)

R ONE SN SR CIC e S
RSB E) - LHERAF SRS
EEMATR DS E (LB - BHRE
PEREEBEGH - THEARRER
BB AU AT EEHELEARE -

(d) #=aEERb BB AMESBEARN

Research and development expenses 2R
General and administrative expenses  — & &{THE R
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEFREZ

BERONREAIOT -
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKET T
21,972 2,902
81,532 11,390
6,354 706
109,858 14,998

During the year, the expenses include equity-settled share-
based payment to consultants of RMB13,690,000 (2020:
RMB2,367,000).

FARFRX BERER N AR EE
AR (D R E RS A R #13,690,000
70(2020% : AFE#2,367,0007T) °
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24. EX K #E
(a) AR5 25

24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Movement in components of the
equity

REEGREERSAKE D FRFERE
S EFIAREB AN S RGN RARZE

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of

the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity REEFIBHN T
between the beginning and the end of the reporting period are
set out below:
Company ARQH
Share Share Other Capital Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B RAEE Hibffe EXGE ERRf RitHE i
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ik ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Balance at January 1, 2020  #2020515 1R 48 =¥ 132,230 = = 6,159 (22,341) 116,048
Changes in equity for 2020: 20205 HEH2E
Loss for the year FREE = = = = = (685,263) (685,263)
Other comprehensive income  Efti 2 EE - - - - 43,163 - 43,163
Deemed distribution to a BlEA—ERRA K
Shareholder . = (129,033) = = = (129,033)
Equity-settled share-based IREEERAA
payment expenses ARMARE - - - 14,168 - - 14,168
Share Repurchase fRiEE 24(c)(i) X (68,101) - - - - (68,101)
Balance at December 31, 2020  #2020512A31H
and January 1, 2021 202151 A1BMES =¥ 64,129 (129,033) 14,168 49,322 (707,604) (709,018)
Changes in equity for 2021: 2021 FHEHEE
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (1,835,024)  (1,835,024)
Other comprehensive income  Efti 2z - - - - (58,220) - (58,220)
Equity-settled share-based MREEEIAR A A
payment expenses ERHAFRR = = = 108,155 = S 108,155
Conversion of convertible RETERDREER
redeemable preferred shares ~ ElaElEEE
upon IPO BER 24(c)(ii) % 3,649,949 = = = - 3,649,949
Shares issued upon IPO RETERAREER
BIRRG 24(c)(iv) = 1,730,707 = = = = 1,730,707
Shares issuance expenses RHBTRZ 24(c)(iv) - (79,012) - - - - (79,012)
Shares issued under share RERRE 2T
option scheme Rfn =¥ 48,191 - (35,564) - - 12,627
Balance at December 31, 2021 2021412831 B 444 X 5413,964 (129,033) 86,759 (8,898)  (2,542,628) 2,820,164
i The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * e EINARYL,0007T
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24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24, . EX K f#E (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Share capital (b) B
Issued and fully paid ERTREE
2021 2020
20214 2020
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEA kx| ] &8
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Ordinary shares, issued and BRTRBELER
fully paid
At the beginning of the year F4 377,480 400,000 —*
Share Repurchase (note 24(c)(i)) fR 3 B8 (Fir3E24(c) (i) - (22,520) —*
Capitalization issue (note 24(c)(ii)) BAMEEAT(MEE24(c)(ii)) 150,614,520 - -
Conversion of convertible redeemable  RETE R RAREEREIER
preferred shares to ordinary shares ABEELRERALRR
upon IPO (note 24(c)(iii)) (Ht3E24(c) i) 260,596,000 - -
Shares issued upon IPO RETERARBERETN
(note 24(c)(iv)) F&A7 (BitEE24(c)(iv)) 123,567,500 - -
Shares issued under share option R RAER T B BT D
scheme 6,791,428 - -
At the end of the year FR 541,946,928 377,480 =
Series A convertible redeemable AR EETTEEE %R
preferred shares
At the beginning of the year F4 334,280 344,828 334,280 344,828
Capitalization issue (note 24(c)(ii)) B T(HE24(c) (i) 133,377,720 - - -
Conversion of convertible redeemable  REfTE R RREER G ER
preferred shares to ordinary shares AEEELRERALRR
upon IPO (note 24(d)) (F3E24(d)) (133,712,000) (344,828) - -
At the end of the year FR = = 334,280 344,828
Series B convertible redeemable BZ 51 A v TR B S AR
preferred shares
At the beginning of the year F4 317,210 998,005 = =
Issuance of Series B convertible BATBRY I E R A ERE LR
redeemable preferred shares - 317,210 998,005
Capitalization issue (note 24(c)(ii)) BAMEEAT(HIFE24(c)(ii)) 126,566,790 - -
Conversion of convertible redeemable  R#E{TE R AR ER R 2k
preferred shares to ordinary shares AREELRERALRR
upon IPO (note 24(d)) (fiz£24(d)) (126,884,000) (998,005) = =
At the end of the year FXR = - 317,210 998,005
& The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. £ HEherEIMARKL,0007T ©
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24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Issued ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(i) On October 2, 2020, the Company repurchased
22,520 of its own shares (“Share Repurchase”) from
Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited, the then
immediate holding company, as a settlement of the
non-refundable up-front payment of US$10,000,000
(equivalents to RMB68,101,000) pursuant to the
licensing agreement as describe in note 5(iii). The
Company cancelled these shares on the same date.

(i)  On April 1, 2021, the Company’s shareholders resolved,
among other things that, subject to the completion
of IPO and fulfilment of certain other conditions, each
issued and unissued ordinary share with par value of
US$0.0001 of the Company will be subdivided into
400 shares with par value of US$0.00000025 such
that (i) the issued shares shall be US$38 divided into
150,992,000 shares with par value of US$0.00000025;
(ii) the issued Series A convertible redeemable preferred
shares shall be US$33 divided into 133,712,000 shares
with par value of US$0.00000025; and (iii) the issued
Series B convertible redeemable preferred shares shall
be US$32 divided into 126,884,000 shares with par
value of US$0.00000025 (“Capitalization issue”).

(iii) Upon completion of the IPO, each issued Series
A preferred shares and Series B preferred shares
(collectively, the “Preferred Shares”) was converted
into an ordinary share by re-designation and
reclassification of every Preferred Shares in issue
as ordinary share on a one for one basis and all the
unissued and authorized Preferred Shares were re-
designated and reclassified as ordinary shares. As
a result, the Preferred Shares were derecognized
and recorded as share capital and share premium
respectively.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKRIEERIGFE A 7

24. 5K @4 (48)

(c) ERITEER

BB AR EROBE
AHNAATAE ERERRATE B
ST - P AR A BRI A
THYFHMIS -

(i) M2020F 10 A2 H * KX R 7
B Lee’s Pharmaceutical
International Limited (& iy E
B AR BB R H 22,520 8 A
SO (TRABE ) - AIREH T
S5(iii) ATl R Al e s E N A RIETE
£15£10,000,000E T (FEERAR
#68,101,0007T) - ANARIREH
R SRS o

(i) M2021F4A18  KAARKK
R R(EPEIE)FERARE
ERERRE T HMARGFERR -
A2 R =Kk HEEO0.0001 3% TH
EBTRABITEBRIGRMAR
400 P% ® {& 0.00000025 3= 7T 1)
B fn - DAGE (i) 38T E 31T
% 5 9 A& 150,992,000 f% & &
0.000000253 THIR S ¢ (ii) 33
EILHBBITARY A &R ] fE 6
B 55 A133,712,000 B8 & (&
0.000000253 T K A& 1D + K (iii)
32E LA B EITB R AT A] B
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24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

24. 5K @4 (48)

(c) Issued ordinary shares (Continued)

(iv) Upon completion of the IPO, the Company issued
123,567,500 new shares with par value of
US$0.00000025 for a cash consideration of HK$16.80
each, and raised gross proceeds of approximately
HK$2,075,934,000 (equivalent to RMB1,730,707,000).
The respective share capital amount was HK$239
(equivalent to RMB200) and share premium arising
from the issuance, net of the share issuance costs,
was approximately HK$1,981,206,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,651,695,000). The share issuance costs
paid and payable mainly include share underwriting
commissions, lawyers’ fees, reporting accountant’s fee
and other related costs, which are incremental costs
directly attributable to the issuance of the new shares.
These costs amounting to HK$94,728,000 (equivalent
to RMB79,012,000) were treated as a deduction against
the share premium arising from the issuance.

(d) Issued preferred shares

On May 23, 2019, the Company entered into the Series
A preferred share subscription agreement (“Series A
Agreement”) with four investors (“Series A Preferred
Shareholders”) pursuant to which these investors agreed to
purchase an aggregate number of 334,280 Series A preferred
shares (“Series A Preferred Shares”) at US$149.58 per
share and at total consideration of US$50,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB344,828,000). Series A Preferred Shareholders fully
paid the amounts and had their shares registered on June 13,
2019 and June 20, 2019.

On October 9, 2020, the Company entered into Series
B preferred share subscription agreement (“Series B
Agreement”) with a group of investors (“Series B Preferred
Shareholders”) pursuant to which these investors agreed
to subscribe a total of 317,210 Series B preferred shares
(“Series B Preferred Shares”) at US$457.11 per share for
an aggregate consideration of US$145,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB998,005,000). Series B Preferred Shareholders had
their shares registered on October 23, 2020 and fully paid the
amounts on November 17, 2020.

(c) ERITEEK(AE)
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JL) C MBETELNRDEEN A
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24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Issued preferred shares (Continued)

The key terms of the Series A Preferred Shares and Series B
Preferred Shares (collectively, the “Preferred Shares”) are set
out as below:

(i)

(i)

Dividend rights

The Preferred Shares investors rank senior to any
holders of ordinary shares, including the right to receive
all dividends and distributions which may thereafter be
declared, made or paid from time to time.

Liquidation rights

On a return of capital pursuant to certain events
including the following events: (i) any consolidation,
reorganization, amalgamation, scheme of arrangement
or merger of the Company in which the shareholders
of the Company own less than fifty percent of the
voting power of the Company immediately after such
consolidation, reorganization, amalgamation, scheme of
arrangement or merger of the Company; or (ii) a sale,
transfer, lease or other disposition of all or substantially
all of the Group’s assets; or (iii) exclusive licensing of all
or substantially all of the Group’s intellectual property
to a third party ("Deemed Liquidation Events”),
the original purchase price of the Preferred Shares, all
dividends declared but not yet paid and the remaining
proceeds resulting from the Deemed Liquidation Event
calculated on an as-converted-to-ordinary shares basis
shall be distributed to the Preferred Shareholders.

(iii) Conversion feature

Upon the closing of a qualified IPO as defined in the
Series A Agreement and Series B Agreement, or as
elected by the Preferred Shareholders at any time, the
Preferred Shares are convertible into ordinary shares
of the Company at a conversion rate of 1 Preferred
Share to 1 ordinary share, and shall be subject to
adjustment and readjustment (including but not limited
to adjustments upon share splits, share combinations
and issue of new securities for consideration per share
less than the issue price of the Preferred Shares) from
time to time.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

24. 5K @4 (48)

(d) Issued preferred shares (Continued) (d) ER7TESLK (&)

(iv) Redemption rights (iv) BEE#ER

Upon occurrence of the following events, the Series A
Preferred Shares shall be redeemable at the option of
the Series A Preferred Shareholders: (i) any material
breach or violation of, or inaccuracy or misrepresentation
in any representation or warranty made by any entity
within the Group or the existing shareholders of the
Group in the Series A Agreement; or (ii) the Company
has not consummated an IPO on or prior to the fourth
anniversary from the issue date of the Series A Preferred
Shares. The redemption amount is equal to the original
purchase price of the Series A Preferred Shares plus per
annum interest of 13% calculated on a compound basis.

Upon occurrence of the following events, the Series B
Preferred Shares shall be redeemable at the option of
the Series B Preferred Shareholders: (i) any material
breach or violation of, or inaccuracy or misrepresentation
in any representation or warranty made by any entity
within the Group or the existing shareholders of the
Group in the Series B Agreement; or (ii) the Company
has not consummated an IPO on or prior to the third
anniversary from the issue date of the Series B Preferred
Shares. The redemption amount is equal to the original
purchase price of the Series B Preferred Shares plus per
annum interest of 13% calculated on a compound basis.
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 * Notes to the Financial Statements

24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24. EXR K ke (&)

(CONTINUED)

(d) Issued preferred shares (Continued) (d) ER7TESLK (&)
Presentation and classification 25 RDHE
The redemption obligations of the Preferred Shares give rise BARMNBERETEESRAE KRB
to financial liabilities, which were accounted in accordance FE2(M)FEEEBUR AR « BARNEGE
with the accounting policy set out in note 2(m). Preferred B ISR R 251 [ Pl 82 A] IR B & 5L AR
Shares were presented as a separate line item “convertible BYIRE -

redeemable preferred shares” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

All Preferred Shares were automatically converted into MR2021F4A298 ([EEBH ) AQFIK
260,596,000 ordinary shares upon the successful IPO of the NETERARBEER - TARERER
Company on April 29, 2021 (the “Conversion Date”). it 5260,596,0000% L @AY o
As of Conversion Date, the par value per Preferred Shares REHRAH EETROEERER
is US$0.00000025 and the difference between the fair value 0.000000253 7T * MELRAAFEE
of Preferred Shares and the par value is accounted for under H{EZ HRZRBARY BRGRE -

share premium.

The movements of Preferred Shares are as follows: BERNEFHUT :

Present value of

redemption Conversion
amount features Total
RESESRE HARHE “@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AR®FT NS
At January 1, 2021 ®2021F1A1H 1,333,347 562,669 1,896,016
Changes in the carrying amount of BRREEREELY
preferred shares liability (note 7(a)): (HtiE7(a))
- Changes in present value of -BERSEREED
redemption amount 58,208 58,208
- Changes in fair value of conversion —ERRHATEED
features = 1,705,291 1,705,291
Exchange differences EHERE (8,232) (1,333) (9,565)

Conversion of convertible redeemable RETE R AR EREREHR
preferred shares to ordinary shares AEEELRERALER
upon IPO (1,383,323) (2,266,627) (3,649,950)

At December 31, 2021 M2021412A31A = = =




24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(CONTINUED)

(d) Issued preferred shares (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

24. 5K @4 (48)

(d) EZTESLK (&)

Presentation and classification (Continued) 23RS E(E)
Present value of
redemption Conversion
amount features Total
BE&BRE B ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETT
At January 1, 2020 #2020F1A1H 369,685 = 369,685
Issue of Series B Preferred Shares BAIBRIIE LR 998,005 - 998,005
Changes in the carrying amount of BEREERESRED)
preferred shares liability (note 7(a)): (M7(a))
- Changes in present value of -BEESBERES
redemption amount 74,329 - 74,329
- Changes in fair value of conversion —ERRHATEED
features - 595,649 595,649
Transaction cost attributable to issue of ~ Z{TBEFIELIREER ZHA
Series B Preferred Shares (27,892) - (27,892)
Exchange differences EXER (80,780) (32,980) (113,760)
At December 31, 2020 ®2020%12A31H 1,333,347 562,669 1,896,016

Because of the interrelation between the conversion feature
and the contingent redemption and liquidation features of
the Preferred Shares, the fair value of the conversion feature
is not directly and separately measurable on the basis of
its terms and conditions. Thus, it is measured indirectly by
deducting the present value of the redemption amount (the
value of non-derivative debt component) from the fair value
of the Preferred Shares (as a whole). In case the deduction
results in a negative amount (i.e. the fair value of the entire
Preferred Shares is lower than the present value of the
redemption amount), the latter amount is not reduced by the
value of the conversion feature (nor is the conversion feature
separately recognized).

BB RIS E R B BRI ARIEE
FREOBERR - BERERSERIGETR R
Gt ERFETTERRERHE -
It EEBIeE RN ER DT ENRE
Bl & B IR E GEITERBAKK D N E
BREFE - WHRRERRAR A2
BERERNAFEENELDSEIERE -
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BRI -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Dividends

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020: Nil).

(f) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company and
proceeds received from the issue of the ordinary shares
of the Company. Under the Cayman Companies Act, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable
to the ordinary shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
would be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of the business.

Other reserves

Other reserves represent (i) the waiver of the amount
from a shareholder arising from the issue of the
Company’s ordinary shares to a shareholder as deemed
distribution to a shareholder; and (ii) the waiver of the
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries arising from research
and development activities as capital contribution to
the Group, pursuant to instructions from the then
ultimate holding company in July 2020 and August 2020
respectively.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of unexercised share options granted to
employees, directors and consultants of the Company
that has been recognized in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in
note 2(0)(ii).

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition
of Zhaoke Guangzhou from Zhaoke PHK and the
investment cost as originally contributed by Zhaoke
PHK.

24. BN #%E (1])

(e) BE

BETEFRMNEZE2021F12A318 1
F RS (20204 : ) ©

(f) #EHEREH

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

IR 438 E

B s B A R 7 A AR E A
ARETEBREEEAERIALZ
MHZEME - REFSEQRDE - AR
AMBROEERA DK T ARAE
BIARR - EEBERED RS Z
H#& » ARBABEANEEES
HBERIEET o

Hittf#E

HAib FEHRRIEE R REER AT
SE1&M 202057 A % 20208 A {E
HEVER - (NVHEEARRER— 5
PR SRR TT B A B U — R IR Y
HIE - AERBIEM —EBRRDIK ;
(i) #A 5 B B 25 0% B i e A<T [R) 5% B
BARMFIR - EREAEENT

CENE

EARBRBEERETARAE
8 BEEREREMARITENEK
BRBELAHOAFES - 2R
Bt 5E2(0) (i) 4 Bt LA R 15 AR B B &Y
IR 5T BRFER A D -

BOHEE

BHtREEL A EXEERE
IR EM AT BB 2 D FEEIE
MEXREENTHERERAZMH
HZEFE ©




24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Nature and purpose of reserves

Notes to the Financial Statements
ISR

24. 5K @4 (48)

(f) FHEMHERE (&)

(Continued)

(v) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations with functional currency other
than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 2(s).

(g) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows and projected
capital expenditures.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares, new debt financing or the
redemption of existing debt. The Group made no changes to
its capital management objectives, policies or processes during
the current and prior years.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

(v) ERf#E
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TR R M 5

25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks, for which the Group considered to have
insignificant credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group has assessed that during the year, other
receivables has not had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Thus, a 12-month expected credit
loss approach that results from possible default event within
12 months of the end of the reporting period is adopted
by the Group. The Group assesses the credit quality of the
counterparties by taking into account their financial position,
the past loss experience, existing market conditions as well as
forward - “forward-looking” looking information at the end of
the reporting period. Further quantitative disclosure in respect
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from other
receivables is set out in note 15.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
Company’s shareholders when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

- Notes to the Financial Statements

A %5 SR b

25. emEREEREMTIA

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of each reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay:

Within ~ More than
lyear 1yearbut
oron less than

demand
R—%FRZ

EEX  BIRmE
RMB'000

RMB'000

ARBTL  ARETR

DNE(E)

(b) HEEZEE (&)

TRIRAKEITE SR A ERREH
REOBMTEOHR - HREBEAHARBIRER
EnE(BREEASOFEFENFEM
R REAZENFE - RIRIRN B S
REVERITHRFTE) A R AR B A BEZA R K
B F HHETE

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

More than
2 years but

ARRERRETH
less than  More than Carrying
5 years 5 years Total amount
HBME
BHREF BBRF Azt RASE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARMTR  ARETRE  ARETx

As at December 31, 2021 #2021612A31H
Other payables and accruals EtENFEREER 59,153 59,153
Amounts due to related companies  [ENEBARIZA 13,684 13,684
Bank loans SRITER 10,289 10,289
Lease liabilities HERR 30,741 26,743
113,867 109,869

As at December 31, 2020 1#2020612A31H
Other payables and accruals At EEFEREER 38,731 - - 38,731 38,731
Amount due to a related company JEfT— RIS A Rl50E 186 - - 186 186
Bank loan RITER 10,000 - - 10,000 10,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,858 13,055 10,151 32,723 27,527
53,775 13,055 10,151 81,640 76,444

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing financial liabilities at variable
rate as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 is one of the bank
loans, and the cash flow interest risk arising from the change
of market interest rate on the balance of relatively short
maturity is not considered significant. The Group’s interest-
bearing financial liabilities at fixed interest rates at the end of
the reporting period are another bank loan and lease liabilities
that are measured at amortized cost, and the change of
market interest rate does not expose the Group to interest
rate risk. Overall, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is
not significant.

(c) FIERE

REEP2021F 22020512 A31 B A
FERFRGENEREBERAEP —FRT
B3R Mz 28 B ERE AR E TS F R
SHMELNRSRENXRBREE ST
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 * Notes to the Financial Statements

25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. tREKREERESRMTE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL NFE(E)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (d) Bz
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through AEEEENEERREERGSHER
different functional currency in different subsidiaries which AITEMINEEEY - ZEH B R R ELEN
give rise to cash and bank balances and intercompany RBETHFENINREEE N B EHE
balances that are denominated in a currency other than the WIR S RIRTTAEBRUAR DRI - EAE
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions LREBHEEEE/ARBRET
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily RMB
and US$.
(i) Exposure to currency risk (i) HEBEE¥EE
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the TRAMLAEBERREHRAC T
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from REESBBE(NEERBEMLE
recognized assets or liabilities denominated in a currency BBIRE B LAINE M ETHE) T E £/
other than the functional currency of the entity to which BERER - REREH - BEARRK
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts SREDAARBIIT  ERAFEB
of the exposure are shown in Renminbi, translated RIBNEARE RIAH o FIINE TR
using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences M RRME R ASE 25T im
resulting from the translation of the financial statements EENERITESERLEA -

of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation
currency is excluded.

Exposure to foreign currencies

SRR
2021 2020
20214 20204

uUss$ EUR US$ EUR

EYH B T BT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR®TT AREFIT ARBTT

Cash and cash equivalents  BE&NMBEEEY 12,692 643 6,078 -

Other payables and accruals  E e 7B ezt E B - (23,052) - (10,567)
Net exposures arising from EEREEREBEELN

recognized assets and [EB %

liabilities (22,409) 6,078 (10,567)
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A %5 SR b

25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. ¢ RiEEER SR T A
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL AEEE)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥Efz (&)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (ii) BRBEIN

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated losses)
and other components of consolidated equity that would
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant.

2021
20215

Increase/

(decrease)
in foreign (Decrease)/
exchanges increase on
rates loss after tax
MR = BB &EE

£H(FER)  (B) /4

RMB’000
AR¥T R
USs$ % 5% (476)
(5%) 476
EUR BT 5% 936

(5%) (936)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into RMB at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of each reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk at the end of each reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020.

TRETER AR OARERRS
TEHERT - WRESHRSE
eL el PN EPNS £
R DREST PY Y
(RREHER) R A AR
B BHRODELD -

2020
20204

Increase/

(decrease)
in foreign (Decrease)/
exchanges increase on
rates  loss after tax
HMVEE KRitEEE
EFCRRE) CR2),/ 41

RMB'000
AREFT

5% (228)
(5%) 228
5% 441
(5%) (441)

EREFNOMBERTIBZ2HREN
FAREREPREREXEE
SEEBUEZEMEREHEN
BRER SR kg SR E S ARE T
ERIENRRE -

ERBBREDIMERRNSHSE MR
SHREEEBINERBO SR TA
ERAINEEREFHBNTE ° %
DT TR 2020 5 48 [ 49 L AR i
fre
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25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. c@EBEERERMTA
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL DNFE(E)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurements (e) A FEFE

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorized into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager
performing valuations for the financial instruments, including
the conversion feature of convertible redeemable preferred
shares which are categorized into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The finance department of the Group works closely
with qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value measurement
is prepared by the team at each reporting period, and is
reviewed and approved by the management.
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DNFEER

TRENAEBEREEEEEAENDH
TARBERARNRFE - REBHBIR
ERERB 135 A FEFE IMRENRT
EZBRERNDE - ATEHEMFE
B 8 A T 2 BR A E BT P R O Bl A BUR Y
AESEEREEEEEMT

. E—RMAE : EAE—RBARE
(AMEREERE BN E B HHOR
AR ERTSRE)FENATE

. F_REE: AE_RB@ARE
(BVRREFF & % — R R ER A BLR
AEUR) - BMERBERTABRE
ABIERT B RFE - TR BER
ABURBNEEEUS T 5 BURM @A
iz

J FZRMAEE  UERTABREHA
BEFT BN AT E

AEEREE X BPBEEEENE -
BEYHERTA(BEMARFEERF=
AR AT SR BT [0 B ST A RO R O SE 1T
B » NEBE MR 7 ERFT RS BARSMNER G
EMEEEE - HESEN[ERNRE
B AR - ZEBNSREBREAEE
RFEFEEFOMNBERS - UHE
HEER ML o



25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurements (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R MI 5

25. emEREEREMTIA
NFEE)

(e) 2-FlETE(HF)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Financial liabilities: 2EBE:

LLEAbSEE

Conversion features

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is
to recognize transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as
at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Information about Level 3 fair value

DNEERE)

Fair value as at

LT BN AFE

Fair value
hierarchy
AP ERER

2020
20204
RMB’000
ARETT

December 31,
12A31H

2021
2021%F
RMB’000

AR®T T

Level 3
B

= 562,669

FR - BF—HREE_GERESE 0
BEEASEBEE=F - ARENHREE
RHEER 2 EHBRE BB HREIR -
RERER -

BFRAS=RAFEFENESR

measurements
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
fh{E B EATAHREABE EE
Conversion features Discounted cash flow Expected revenue 5%
IR BRI EMEE TaHA A
Pre-tax discount rate 1%
iR AAER &

All Preferred Shares were automatically converted into
260,596,000 ordinary shares upon the successful IPO of the
Company on April 29, 2021.

At December 31, 2020, the fair value of conversion features
was determined using the discounted cash flow model and
the significant unobservable input used in the fair value
measurement were expected revenue and pre-tax discount
rate. The fair value measurement was positively correlated
to the expected revenue. As at December 31, 2020, it is
estimated that with all other variables held constant, an
increase/decrease in the expected revenue by 5% would
have increased/decreased the Group’s loss after tax by
RMB94,018,000/RMB82,546,000.

A202144 H29 A AR BIRRIIHETT B R
NFAEER - MARERESEHERS
260,596,000 E @A -

R2020F12 A31H » EBBE-HAFE
TERBRBSRERNET - AF(E
EFANEANTEREAZEABEHK
HRBATARIR R - N EERERRES
ARIEEL - 20206128318 @ A
HiBHRIFIEMNBERT - Bk
/WA 5% EE S AL BN AR
1812 N AR #94,018,0007T, B AR
#82,546,0007T °
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25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. emEREEREMTIA
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL NFE(E)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(e) Fair value measurements (Continued) (e) XA ¥FE1E (&)
Information about Level 3 fair value EBEE=RAFEFTENER ()

measurements (Continued)

The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to pre-tax AFEFEERAMBEBREEKLRLE - B
discount rate. As at December 31, 2020, it is estimated that 2020 12 A31H ' T A HMBEH
with all other variables held constant, an increase/decrease in RETEONBRT @ HABBEEEA
pre-tax discount rate by 1% would have decreased/increased TR1%EHESAEENEERD
the Group’s loss by RMB155,149,000/RMB273,181,000. A R # 155,149,000 7T/ & 0 A B #
273,181,0007T °
26.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 26.FEHFRERS
During the years ended December 31, 2021, the Group acquired BZE2021F12A31HIEFE - "EBWEY
property, plant and equipment of RMB66,285,000 (2020: ¥ BWEKRREEARKE6,285,0007T (2020
RMB25,490,000). As at December 31, 2020, the Group had payables F: AR¥25,490,0007t) ° 2020412 A
for purchase of property, plant and equipment of RMB28,394,000 318 - ARBEEEME  KERZENEMNRK
(2020: RMB12,684,000), which were included in other payables and 18 & AR 28,394,000 (20204 : AR¥
accruals. 12,684,0007T) © B &t AH bR FRIE R B &
=18
In July 2020, the amount due from a shareholder of 2020578 @ AARHREE—EZREFEAR
RMB129,033,000 was waived by the Company as deemed #129,033,000 T 1EARIER—R IR D IR T LA
distribution to a shareholder with no cash flow impact. e EReRETE -
In August 2020, the amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of 1202068 A ' RRKIBAREEMNRRKHBA
RMB133,391,000 were waived by its fellow subsidiaries as capital RIFIB AR 133,391,000 CIEAR AL T E
contribution to the Group with no cash flow impact. BTN E  EREREVE -
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group received the HZE2020F12A31BIEFE  A&EBEEB
non-refundable up-front payment of US$10,000,000 (equivalents to AR 17 B8 1= (Bt 5E24(c) (i) ) BB AS AT AR 3B T8 4 5K
RMB68,101,000) by way of Share Repurchase (note 24(c)(i)) with 10,000,000 7t (#H & A A K ¥ 68,101,000
no cash flow impact. TL)  BEERETE -
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27.COMMITMENT

Commitments outstanding at December 31, 2021 not provided for in
the financial statements were as follows:

27.&iE

Notes to the Financial Statements

- BIREERERMTE

B F53RER AN 2021512 A31 B MR BEHOKRE

TTHEPENT -

As at December 31,

A12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Contracted for research and development BAAREFEZETA
expenses 117,019 130,098
Contracted for acquisition of machinery and TIE B MRERT A
equipment 72,846 18,134
Contracted for purchase of materials HEEMEETL 4,831 6,178
194,696 154,410
28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. ERHEH AR S
TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel (a) TEEZEENSFH

remuneration

AEETEEEEABHFM(BEE MM
I EARRNRIEERMFE10MHES T
REHEEFEWNT

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETTT

Salaries and other emoluments e kEM#e 19,775 4,819
Discretionary bonuses BIBEAL 5,727 1,093
Share-based payments LARR 5 A EERE BT 3R 74,950 3,922
Retirement scheme contributions RN B 726 49
101,178 9,883

FrEse R Al B TR I(RFEE7(b)) ©

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 7(b)).
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28.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28.E XA AR5 (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financing arrangements (b)) BEZH

Amounts owed by
the Group to a related party Related interest expense

FEEER—RBB L RE HEAFI SR
As at December 31, Year ended December 31,
W12A31H HZ12A31ALFE

2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 20204 2021%F 20205
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFTT ARMT T ARBTT

Lease liabilities due to Zhaoke FERTIERL B (BM) B IR

Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) ARMHEAE
Limited 1,452
Note: The outstanding balances arising from the leasing arrangements Mk : BERBIEZE(BM)BRARGTVHEER
with Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited are included HEFMEEN RS NERTAIHEAE]
in “Lease liabilities” (note 21). Further details of the lease (fi5E21) - BEZSHETHNE—F
arrangements are set out in note 12(b)(i). FBERMEL2(b)(i) °
On March 1, 2022, Zhaoke Guangzhou has entered into 20224311 - KEEMEILBIEEZ
renewed leasing arrangements in relation to the leased (BENM)BRARIGHEEMET LEEE
premises with Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited. HELH - THFEMN2022F3H18HA
The terms of the arrangements shall commence on March 1, 1% - 2025%F 1 B31 /& °

2022 and will expire on January 31, 2025.

(c) Other significant related party (c) BEMEABFH XS
transactions
The Group had following transactions with related parties: REBEEBEATANTRS :

Year ended December 31,

HBZE12A31HILLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Purchase of materials BEMH
Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical  E/N Ikl B8 LA R A &)
Limited (note (i)) (MIEE(I)) 61
Procurement of CRO services B ECRORK
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited — JKRIZE2(AIE)BR AT
(note (ii)) (BHEE i) 13,383
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. EXHEH AR Z ()
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(c) Other significant related party (c) Bt EXEH X5 (&)
transactions (Continued)
Notes: B &
0) This represents purchase of goods from a related company in (i) et MR R — RS A REEE R
respect of materials for research and development.
(i)  This represents service fee paid to a contract research (i)  fEELEAE M —FECRO(ARMEI AT X ff
organization ("CRO"), a related company, in relation to research HIRRTSE -
and development.
All the above transactions have been entered into in the T Ll SN AREB B B EGEHIRIE
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and either RIS RS BN B R = IR
on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable B R TETT ©
than those available to or from independent third parties.
(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules (d) BEEXZ L %R
relating to connected transactions
The related party transactions in respect of procurement of 8% B CROFRIS B R 75 32 S Ak _E 38 Al
CRO services constitute connected transactions or continuing FTHAZSMATHNER HNFEERE
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing X5 o FmARAIE T MASEFTEE RN E
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing HREFSeRED[BERESS | —5 -

Rules are provided in section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” of the Report of the Directors.
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29.COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 29. A F B E MM AR R T
FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31,

A12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T AREET T
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EKE A RHERE 14 85,383 10,299
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments Hfth fE U Gk 1B R FBA ROE 980 4,611
Amount due from a subsidiary FEU—FEIFR S R BN IE 1,146,754 641,734
Time deposits with original maturity JRE A A BB =18 A 8 e BifE R
over three months 8,157 481,163
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 1,584,141 56,267
2,740,032 1,183,775
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HAb RN RERETEA 5,251 7,076
5,251 7,076
Net current assets RBEERE 2,734,781 1,176,699
Total assets less current liabilities ZEELERRBER 2,820,164 1,186,998
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Convertible redeemable preferred BRIl EHEEET 24(d)
shares - 1,896,016
Net assets/ (liabilities) BEEFE(AEFH) 2,820,164 (709,018)
Capital and reserves EARRFE 24
Share capital & 24(b) —* —*
Reserves s 2,820,164 (709,018)
Total equity/(deficit) 1%/ (B4 e 2,820,164 (709,018)
£ The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. £ HEHeEORARKEL,0007T
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 202243 A23 A EE S HhE R IR

March 23, 2022.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi Mr. Dai Xiangrong
ZNREL MO EE
Director Director

EE BE
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30.POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and a new standard, which
are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2021 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the followings which may be relevant to the
Group:

BT R o

30.R&E£2021F12H831H1t
FECEMEBERERD
&3] - #e] ZRI R &E
e

HEAPBHREATIZRAY  EASTHMASERE
HREE2021F12A31 B IEFEMAERE L
ENAR ISR P RN ZIBEET R — BT
A8 - AlREERAEBEENEEBIENTSE «

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or

after
RUT B8 2%
MM E R HBRER
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
BB E YRS 3RS R AN R AEZE BT 2t 20224 1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
S ERELRIERT AN % « BiE KR - REEUE AR AT R 20221A1H
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
S ERIEI7RIERT NETE S A — BT TEAIR9H A 2022%1H1H
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
BRI REZERI20184F £ 20204F B H M) F [ i 202241 A1H
HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
BB HREERE L7 IR & A 2023%1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023
BEGTTERFE LR RE BN TGS LR ERBRAE 2RIET RS BRI #K F 2023%1H1H
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
BRI ESRIET AT HaTHE S 20234 1A1H

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single

transaction
BAGEUNFELI12RIEFIAEE X GAES BEHE B FHRELHE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of asset between an investor and

its associate or joint venture
BB BMEERIE105% REE ST ERFE 2857 &

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

ERIANRE L HABE N A2 A £

1 January 2023

2023F1AH1H
To be determined

RZFNEELEZTE FEE
AEBEEFEZEE BN ERERRENTAL
TE 2T BEmE  RRZREESH AT Y
FEMTIRREREATE -
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Definitions:

B=

“AGM”
[ RBFEARE]

“ANDA”

[(cHEEmss

“Articles of Association”

[HBREE=24RA]

“ASEAN”
[5REa)

“Audit Committee”

[ERREg]

“Board” or “Board of

Directors”

==

“Business Day”

[&%A)

“BVI”
[EBEZHES]

“CAGR”
[EARFHEEE]

“Capitalization Issue”

[BEALETT]

“CBO”

[EREBE]

“CED”
[CEDJ

“CDE”

[ZERmERIH L]

“CEO”
[TTERABE ]

the annual general meeting of the Company
NG E S B SN

abbreviated new drug application, an application for a generic drug to an approved drug in
China
LN BEER RS - NP B BB SR RIBER

the articles of association of the Company conditionally adopted on April 1, 2021 and
affective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
AATIN20216F4 A1 BB IEHRMITHA L A HIAERRASERAMEA - ETERHERT

the Association of Southeast Asian Nations
R BB e

the audit committee of the Board
EEEBRTHEZEZES

the board of directors of the Company
RARESE

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal banking business to the
public and which is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong
BFEBITRAERAABRFAME-—RRITEBNBETF - BWFEHS - EHEKBTEARERE

the British Virgin Islands
EBRELES

compound annual growth rate
BEAEFHERE

the subdivision of each share in the Company’s issued and unissued share capital with par
value of US$0.0001 each into 400 Shares of the corresponding class with US$0.00000025
each on April 1, 2021

AABBEITRABITRAPEREMEO0.0001 X THRMNAN2021F4 A 1B IFMAA400RFREE
0.00000025% T HIAE REFA R AR 17

the chief business officer of the Company

ADEEREBE

corneal epithelial defect

AR LR IRR

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (BIRZEMmEEETEREME 1), a division of the
NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and NDA
HREREEETRRERENTL BRELERN TENM - TEARNEARBBERTERFNEL

the chief executive officer of the Company
RRRITHAAE,




“CFO”
[BRMKE ]
“CG Code”

[EEATAI

“China” or “the PRC”

(e ]

wcIc”

[958

“CMO”
[BFE2E]

”ow

“Company”, “our Company”,

”ow

“the Company”, “we”, or
“Zhaoke Ophthalmology”
[ARF] -~ [FA ISk I RHRRY

“connected person(s)”
[FA@EAT

“connected transaction”
[BEERZ ]

“controlling shareholder”

[TERR AR

“Core Product(s)”
[z OEmR]

“CRO”

[CROJ

“CsA”
[BR7E3=A

\CSO”
[ERMEE]

“DED”
[EZARE |

“Director(s)”

[E%]

. . . . . . . . . . . .Deﬁnltlons . .

the chief financial officer of the Company

ARRIERMBE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
EHRRIE T EERE A EE R

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires otherwise, Hong Kong,
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

FEARKME - SIAFRT S REEMIELERBRNESAMIEN - TREES - PEURPIFRITEE &
China Insights Industry Consultancy Limited, a market research and consulting company and
an independent third party of the Company

WBTEFAERART - —EHSMREKRBARR - AEARANELE=FH

the chief medical officer of the Company
RARERRER

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited

JERRRBR AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
FARBIRE TR R R

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
TR B TR AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
FARBIRE TR R R

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for purposes of this
report, our Core Product refers to CsA ophthalmic gel and ZKY001
BB FMRAETNAZR TZANRE  BARSEM S - BMAROERIERHERARER R ZKY001

contract research organization, a company that provides support to pharmaceutical
companies by providing a range of professional research services on a contract basis
BHMEHIE - DOREARUSESERRRE - ARERTREIENAF

a selective immuno-suppressant that inhibits calcineurin, an activator of T cells

0S5 BB B (TANMR MY EUE ) BB L R I A

the chief science officer of the Company
EAVNSI=IEFRE )

dry eye disease
B ARIE

the director(s) of our Company, including all executive directors, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors
ARRES  BEXEBATES  IFRTEF BN TES




Definitions:

“DME”
[DME]

“EMA”
[EMA]

“EU”
[BREE )

“Executive Committee”
[MITEEE ]

“EDA”
[FDA]

“Global Offering”
[2IREE ]

\GMP”
[GMP]

“Group”, “our Group”, “the
Group”, “we”

RS AETEAG

“HK$”
&)

“HKFRS”
[ BRI SRl

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“Hong Kong Public Offering”,
“International Offering”

[BEANREE N BREE]

“IACTA”

[IACTA]

“IFRS”

[ BB 73R 52 Al

“IND”

[ S

“Investment Committee”
[REZE®

diabetic macular edema
HEPR R E DK

European Medicines Agency
BMERERER

the European Union
BBk BR

the executive committee of the Board
BB THRMITEES

the United States Food and Drug Administration
EERREREEEERR

the offer for subscription of the shares as described in the Prospectus
BRERAAN RO BEEL

good manufacturing practice
BERAEEESTERE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRFREMEAR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEERET

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BRI TERELER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EEBRRITRE

the offer for subscription of the Shares
&t FREE 24

IACTA Pharmaceuticals, Inc., an ophthalmic pharmaceutical company incorporated under the
laws of Delaware of the United States in 2016 and one of our licensing partners

IACTA Pharmaceuticals, Inc. » #2016 R IEEBIF ENMAZTMALABRREZELNTR - BEMINF
A% —

International Financial Reporting Standards
B B 5 R 22 R

investigational new drug, the application for which is the first step in the drug review process
by regulatory authorities to decide whether to permit clinical trials. Also known as clinical trial
application, or CTA, in China

MERRSREE  EAEEURRTERESAMETHRRAABRNEELBRNE - - EHBETTHE LR
KA ERE

the investment committee of the Board
EXeRTHREZES




“KOLs”

[KOL]

“Lee’s Pharm”
[ 2R |

“Lee’s Pharm Group”

[FERAREREE ]

“Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou”
[ZFRRZEm(EM) ]

“Lee’s Pharm Hefei”
[FRAREm(AME)]

“Lee’s Pharm International”
[ F R BERREIRR |

“Listing” or “IPO”

[ s ERAmREE]
“Listing Date”

[ LB

“Listing Rules”

[ EmsRa)]

“Main Board”

E2

"MOA”
[VEF#EH )

“Model Code”
[124E=FRI]

“NDA”

[ s

‘Definitions

2

key opinion leaders, who are professionals that influence their peers’ medical practice,
including but not limited to prescribing behavior
BT RE  HRENBREE(REETRAREFTA)AVENNEEATLT

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (2= [X X %% & #% Ik 5 BR 2 7] ), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 950)

FRAERZERERAT  —FRAERESTMKXIAEREERAT - EROPRERZFAER LW (RGOK
% : 950)

Lee’s Pharm and all of its subsidiaries
FRALER R EAREAR

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited (KRl &2 (E ) ER A &), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on March 3, 2011 and a subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm
KBIEZE(BEM)BRAT - M2011F3A3BEHRBERIOAREE AT AFRASEHAIMB QR

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Company Limited (JkREIZ22 (&) BRAF]), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on February 7, 1994 and a subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm
KBIEEZ (AR AR AR - R1994F2 7B EHRBERVNAREELR - AERALEBOME QR

Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the
BVI on August 1, 2001 and a subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm

Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited - —fi2001F8 A1 B A REE LA ST M HERA
Al RERAEmAIMTE QA

the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt OB 2 P AR T

April 29, 2021, being the date on which dealings in our Shares first commence on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange
20215F4H29R @ BB R ERERFLEENE S

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended or
supplemented from time to time
BERXFAE S FRAL - BT RHEFT ST

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the Stock Exchange
R ATBIENEA R S (TBERETS) - BB IGEMI 8 2 WiTEE

mechanism of action

TER

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
TR BIMTER P E E BT AE FEITESF R S MITESTR)

new drug application, an application through which the drug sponsor formally proposes that
the relevant regulatory authority approve a new drug for sales and marketing
PELTRE  FEMEERABBZPB LA RS EAEE MBI EHER FH




Definitions:

Ex . .

“Nevakar”
[Nevakar]

“NMPA”

[BREER]

“Nomination Committee”
[REZEE

“NTC”
[NTC]
“PanOptica”

[PanOptica]

“Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”

[BRARBERBRIEE]

“Pre-IPO Shares Option
Scheme”

[BRAREENBRIER S]]

“Prospectus”
[1BRRER ]

“R&D"
[78 ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FiEE e ]

“Reporting Period”
[R5

“Retained Lee’s Pharm Group

[REFRAZmEE]

“RMB"
AR

Nevakar, Inc., a pharmaceutical company incorporated under the laws of Delaware of the
United States in 2015 and one of our licensing partners
Nevakar, Inc. - 20155 RIBEXE R EMER MR LORENT - ARMOFAIFEHZ—

National Medical Products Administration, the institution that performs the functions of China
Food and Drug Administration instead according to the Institutional Reform Plan of the State
Council of the PRC

BEREMEEEER RETEEERABBUNESFR  RBERAMEMEBEEEREITRANEE

the nomination committee of the Board
EEQBRTHREZES

NTC S.r.l, a pharmaceutical company incorporated under the laws of Italy and one of our
licensing partners
NTC S.r.| - REBBEARFMEERFIMALOELELNT - ARMOFAIFEHEZ—

PanOptica, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company incorporated under the laws of Delaware of
the United States in 2009 and one of our licensing partners
PanOptica, Inc. - N2009F RIEEBFRENERTMALAEYRENT - BRMOFAITEFEZ—

the post-IPO share option scheme adopted by our Company on April 1, 2021, effective from
the Listing Date, as amended from time to time, the principal terms of which are set out in
“Appendix IV - Statutory and General Information — D. Share Option Schemes - 2. Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme” in the Prospectus

RRAFR2021F4 A1BERMI B EH B AR ERNE R RRAEERBARERT S - LTRHEST - HEEZHN
HRBRER MR —AF R—RER —D.EREAE - 2. B R AREERERET2 ]

the pre-IPO share option scheme adopted by our Company on November 17, 2020, the
principal terms of which are set out in "Appendix IV - Statutory and General Information - D.
Share Option Schemes - 1. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in the Prospectus
RRFRR2020F 11 A17 BRENE R ARBERBIRE S - EEZ2HRFENBERERMEL —EE R
—AER D BRAER B - 1 ER AR S AR ERT B

the prospectus issued by the Company dated April 16, 2021
AAFIN2021F4 A16 A FIEMBRER

research and development
o KB

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEZeRTHEMNEES

the year ended December 31, 2021
HZ=2021F12A3181LFE

Lee’s Pharm and its subsidiaries, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding our Group
FRAEBEEMBAT - REERE - TREREE

Renminbi
AR




) . . . .
) ) . . .
. . . . .

“Series A Preferred Shares”

[AZRTIESER

“Series B Preferred Shares”

[BRFIELR]

“SFO”

[ KK 5GP

“Share(s)”
[R5

”

“Share Repurchase

[ n B ]

“Share Subdivision”

[t 4 |

“Shareholder(s)”

[ ]

“South Korea”
[FE%2 ]

“Stock Exchange”

[

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[EERR]

“TOT BIOPHARM”

[ERAEEZEE |

“United States”, or “US”

[EE]

« + o+« < .« .« .« .« .« Definitions

. . . . . . . . . . . . .

2

the convertible series A preferred shares of our Company allotted and issued in the series A
financing, which were subsequently converted to ordinary Shares on the Listing Date
RRTFRASEEE R B3 REITH ATEIRARIE SRR - HER E B BRER AL AR

the convertible series B preferred shares of our Company allotted and issued in the series B
financing, which were subsequently converted to ordinary Shares on the Listing Date
RARINBERELE PECH RBITH ATERBRTIE LM - HERN L H R0 T Bk

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEGIESTIE(ER REEIEH]) - ETRHEET - MR FA A SR

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company of US$0.00000025 each
A FIIRAH FAREE0.000000255 T 1) E @Ak

a repurchase of 22,520 shares on October 2, 2020 by the Company from Lee’s
Pharmaceutical International, a Shareholder of the Company, as the settlement of the non-
refundable up-front payment of US$10,000,000 (equivalents to RMB68,101,000) pursuant to
a licensing agreement. The shares repurchases were cancelled on the same date
RARHR2020F10 B2 B MERRFRALEBBERER 22,5200 8817 @ EREFRIBRT A R T ARATR
{4710,000,000% T (FHE R ARE68,101,0007T) * 25 EIARGK ER R HFEH

the subdivision of each share in the Company’s issued and unissued share capital with par
value of US$0.0001 each into 400 Shares of the corresponding class with US$0.00000025
each on April 1, 2021, the details of which are set out in “History, Development and
Corporate Structure — Share Subdivision and Share Conversion” in the Prospectus
RAABBETRABITRAPERMMEO0.0001 X THRMNMN2021F4 A1 BIFMA L4000 EFREE
0.00000025%TRIAEERERIR G - HFEHNBRERIFEE « HRROZERE - ROFERRHER]

holder(s) of Shares
[ESRESZEPN

the Republic of Korea, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its jurisdiction
AHRE - HET BRI HERZEEENMEHE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited
BEEBMERHMBERAT - REERGREEMERATNEZEMBE AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
TR B TR AR

TOT BIOPHARM International Company Limited (2[5 AR A 7)), formerly known as
TOT BIOPHARM International Company Limited (BJREIR % #M%H AR AE]), a limited liability
company established under the laws of Hong Kong in 2009 and one of our licensing partners,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1875)

RRBEERHAR AT - AERRERESERMNERAR - R2009FRIBEFBEFIKIHERAR - AR
PREraI A B —  ERGREZAT B (RHMRSE - 1875)

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction
EHBRAERE - BEEL BibRZEREEENEME




Definitions:

“US dollars” , “U.S. dollars”,
“US$” or “USD”

e

“VEGF”

[VEGF]

“VEGFR2"

[VEGFR2]

“wAMD"”

[WAMD |

“Zhaoke Guangzhou”

[JRREM

“Zhaoke HK"”

[kBEE]

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EREEEEEET

vascular endothelial growth factor, a signal protein produced by cells that stimulates the
formation of blood vessels
MEARERREF - ARAEERENELXKN—BERELE

vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2, a type of VEGF that is a primary responder to
vascular endothelial growth factor signal, and thereby regulates endothelial migration and
proliferation

MEAEERAFZE2 - —BVEGF - REMNEANEREBFERNEEEEY - EMAHALBS RIL
Vsl

wet age-related macular degeneration
BIEEZFHIRE

Zhaoke (Guangzhou) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (JEKRI(EN)BRRIZY AR A T),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on June 16, 2016 and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

JERIGEM) IREHEY AR AR - R2016F6 A16HEFBKIMNEREAE AT - AERQANEELZEME

27

Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Limited (JKRHEB)BRREW AR AF), a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on July 24, 2017 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company

KB (EA)RBEMBERAR - RN2017F7A24BEEBFAMAIHBERAR - ARARHEZENEB AR
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